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A.  Call the Meeting to Order and Pledge Allegiance to the Flag.  

Roll Call:   

Invocation for our Military Troops, First Responders and National Leaders. 
 

B. Introductions, Commendations, Proclamations, and Presentations:  

B-1 Presentation: Annual Financial Report for FY 2014/15 

 

C. Consent Agenda: 

C-1   Approval of Warrant 

C-2   Approval of Minutes 

a. 2015 06 22 City Commission Meeting 

C-3.  Acceptance of the Annual Financial Report for FY 2013/14 and approval of the City  

  Manager’s Response to the Auditor’s comments. 

C-4   Approval of Annual Employee Recognition Program. 

 

D. Public Comments: 

Comments regarding items not on the Agenda.  Citizens are encouraged to speak; however, 

comments are limited to four (4) minutes. 

 

E. Ordinances:  (Legislative):  

E-1 Ordinance 2015-07: Rainey Voluntary Annexation E Twin Lakes Road, First Reading. 

 

F. Resolutions (Legislative): 

F-1 Resolution 2015-23: Modifying the traffic pattern on Canakaris Street for new Sheriff's 

Headquarters.  

F-2 Resolution 2015-24: Dollar General Easement Release. 

 

G. Old Business: None 

 

H. New Business: 

H-1 PZA Report. 

H-2 Request approval of TLC Diversified, Inc., change order as it relates to the ION Exchange 

Project.  

H-3 Request approval of the Community Agency Agreement with the Salvation Army. 
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I. Reports: 

 City Clerk: 

 City Attorney: 

 City Manager: 

 Mayor and City Commissioners: 
 

J. Call for Adjournment. 
 

This agenda is subject to change without notice.  Please see posted copy at Coquina City Hall, 

Flagler County Government Services Building and our website www.BunnellCity.us. 
 

NOTICE: If any person decides to appeal any decision made by the City Commission or any of its 

boards, with respect to any matter considered at any meeting of such boards or commission, he or she 

will need a record of the proceedings, and for this purpose he or she may need to ensure that a verbatim 

record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon with the 

appeal is based, 286.0105 Florida Statutes. 

Any person requiring a special accommodation at this meeting because of a disability or physical 

impairment should contact the City Clerk at (386) 437-7500 ext. 2307. 
 

THE CITY OF BUNNELL IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY SERVICE PROVIDER. 
 

Posted by City Clerk’s office on July 8, 2015. 
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A.  Call the Meeting to Order and Pledge Allegiance to the Flag.  Mayor Robinson called the meeting 

to order at 7:03 PM. 

Roll Call:   All Commissioners were present, except for Vice Mayor Rogers who was excused. 

Invocation for our Military Troops, First Responders and National Leaders.  Mayor Robinson 

led the invocation. 
 

B. Introductions, Commendations, Proclamations, and Presentations:  

B-1.  Commendation: Officer Shane Tully 

 Chief Foster presented a Medal of Merit to Officer Tully 

B-2.  Commendation: Police Chief Tom Foster 

 Mayor Robinson presented a Medal of Merit to Chief Foster 

B-3.  Certificate of Appreciation to J.W. and Judy Web 

 The Webs were not present at the meeting. 

 

C. Consent Agenda: 

C-1. Approval of Warrant 

C-2. Approval of Minutes 

a. 2015 06 08 Second Public CDBG Hearing  

b. 2015 06 08 Fair Housing Workshop 

c. 2015 06 08 City Commission Meeting 

C-3. Approval of the Police Department Law Enforcement Calendar Contract 

C-4. Request authorization to apply for a “City Catalyst Grant” 

 

Motion:  Approve Consent Agenda except Item C-4 

Motion By: Commissioner Baxley 

Seconded By: Commissioner Robinson 

Board Discussion: None 

Public Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

Motion:  Approve Item C-4 

Motion By: Commissioner Baxley 

Seconded By: Commissioner Robinson 

Board Discussion: Pulled by Commissioner Robinson, who stated the following:  “I feel this would be 

a great opportunity for the City, a chance to enhance our new City Hall, as well as recognize and honor 

our U.S. Veterans throughout our community and country.  Having said that, is it possible that any type 
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of grant funding can be located for the $12,000 needed to upgrade the drainage system on Hymon 

Circle?  This is an issue that is very important to the residents in this area of the city and I hope it is a 

problem we can solve in the future.  This project was not considered in suggestions for projects of 

monies left over from the CDBG grant and it’s not a consideration for the Catalyst Grant application 

either.  I do know that the City’s budget does not allow us to come up with $12,000 at this time to band 

aid the drainage problem, but I would appreciate the drainage problem not being swept under the rug or 

forgotten because we don’t have the money at this time.” City Manager Williams replied that the 

Catalyst grant was a very small grant, only $1500, which would not have been anywhere near enough to 

do anything on the drainage project.  That’s why they chose the project they did.  He said he hasn’t 

forgotten about the drainage project and will continue to look for grant money to make that happen. 

Public Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

D. Public Comments: 

Comments regarding items not on the Agenda.  Citizens are encouraged to speak; however, comments 

are limited to four (4) minutes. 

 

 Al Thorpe – The City has been getting grants for just about everything the past few years.  Let’s get a 

grant for our roads.  They’re terrible.  Also, my wife has traveled all over the world with me when I 

was in the Marine Corp.  She makes tea for me.  It’s always been good.  But lately, the tea has been 

separating.  I keep hearing the water will get better but I’ve seen nothing yet.  Stuff is floating in a 

glass of water.  Mr. Williams responded that the new water plant is being tested in July, will go into 

operation in August, and we’ll have a grand opening celebration in September.  Asked for residents to 

hold on a little longer as the water truly will be getting better very soon. 

 

E. Ordinances:  (Legislative): 

E-1. Ordinance 2015-06: Changing the Zoning Designation of  6.75 Acres of Property from an 

undesignated classification to City of Bunnell L-1, Light Industrial zoning district – Second Reading. 

 

Motion:  Adopt Ordinance 2015-06 on second reading. 

Motion By: Commissioner Tucker 

Seconded By: Commissioner Baxley 

Board Discussion: Attorney Vose read the short-title for the record. 

Public Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

F.  Resolutions (Legislative):  

 

F-1. Resolution 2015-20: Approving an Agreement with International City Management Association 

Retirement Corporation (ICMA-RC) to establish an Employee 401a Retirement Plan. 

Motion:  Adopt Resolution 2015-20 

Motion By: Commissioner Robinson 

Seconded By: Commissioner Tucker 

Board Discussion: Attorney Vose read the short-title for the record.  Mayor Robinson asked a question 

to clarify exactly what this plan was for.  Deputy City Clerk Davis explained that at the last meeting the 

commission approved a 457 plan that allows all employees to invest their money in a supplemental 

retirement plan, and that this 401a this evening is for the City to provide a retirement plan for those few 

employees that are not eligible for FRS. 
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Public Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

F-2. Resolution 2015-21: Rescinding Resolution 2013-01 Regarding Solid Waste Rates, Charges, Fees, 

and Fines; Establishing New Solid Waste Rates, Charges, Fees and Fines. 

Motion:  Adopt Resolution 2015-21 

Motion By: Commissioner Tucker 

Seconded By: Commissioner Robinson 

Board Discussion: Attorney Vose read the short-title for the record.  Solid Waste Director Mitrano 

explained that because of the Solid Waste Franchise Agreement with Palm Coast, rates related to that 

need to go into the Fee resolution.  Mr. Williams added there are three more items on this agenda that are 

all related to this. 

Public Discussion: Al Thorpe – Will rates increase for garbage pickup?  Mr. Williams responded that 

this only has to do with our garbage pickup for schools in Palm Coast and will not affect Bunnell 

citizen’s water bill and garbage pickup rates. 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

F-3. Resolution 2015-22: Authorizing the Mayor to Sign and Execute a General Indemnity Agreement 

for Solid Waste with SurTec Insurance and Execute a Franchise Agreement with the City of Palm Coast. 

Motion:  Adopt Resolution 2015-22 

Motion By: Commissioner Robinson 

Seconded By: Commissioner Baxley 

Board Discussion: Attorney Vose read the short-title for the record. 

Public Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

G. Old Business:  

 

G-1. Request approval of Sunstate Meter as a sole source supplier and a Purchase Order of $3,000. 

Motion:  Approval of Sunstate Meter as a sole source supplier and a Purchase Order of $3,000. 

Motion By: Commissioner Robinson 

Seconded By: Commissioner Tucker 

Board Discussion: Utilities Director Green explained the purpose of this item is to extend the amount of 

money on a purchase order that is already in effect.  Funds are available. 

Public Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

H. New Business: 

 

H-1. Request by a local Business Owner to discuss the status/plans for the “Pocket Park” property. 

Mr. John Siebel spoke on behalf of Heritage Crossroads.  He said the City picked this property up on a 

tax sale a few years ago, and we’ve been hoping to get some grants to put in a park but then grants dried 

up and now nothing is going on with the property.  He spoke of a grantor he found that is willing to 

partner with Heritage Crossroads on getting a grant to build a park.  He wants to put a committee together 

to pursue.  Everything would come to this board for approval.  He spoke of some ideas like placing a city 
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Clock, sign, or some other type of marker that would draw attention to the crossroads of Bunnell.  He 

also said he’s heard rumors that the City might sell the parcel. 

 

Mr. Williams asked for consensus to either sell the property or do something with it.  Mayor Robinson 

mentioned her appreciation of Heritage Crossroads and what they’ve done for this corner.  She added that 

the commission already voted not to sell the parcel. Mr. Williams added the next cycle of FRDAP grants 

are coming up soon and we can apply for up to $50K at that time.  Mr. Vose suggest a motion and vote.  

Commissioner Tucker made a point of order that this is listed as a discussion item on the agenda and 

suggested we bring it back to the next meeting if any action is to be taken.  Commissioner Baxley is very 

interested in something happening with the parcel.  He’s not for selling it and is not interested in putting 

benches in there because it’s too close to the roadway and not safe.  Commissioner Robinson thinks it’s a 

good idea.  When it comes back on our agenda, we need to know if we’re putting together a committee or 

if we’re approving work to be done on the park.  This will be an action item on the next meeting agenda. 

 

H-2. Request fee waiver for use of the EJ Park for the Flagler Flacons (Police Athletic League) Youth 

Sports.  

Motion:  Allow PAL to use the field until the Parks and Rec Committee meets on July 13th, waiving the 

fee until that time. 

Motion By: Commissioner Baxley 

Seconded By: Commissioner Robinson 

Board Discussion: Ms. Gurnee said this was brought to us by PAL.  Staff tells me this organization had 

a waiver like the Wolf Pack.  Mr. Williams: We just need temporary guidance until the Parks and 

Recreation committee can take a look at this at their July meeting.  Commissioner Robinson:  The 

application is not clear to be.  It says July 6th through September 4th.  Then September through December.   

Public Discussion: Gary Perkins, Vice President of Flagler Falcons.  Thank you for taking this under 

consideration.  We think your decision is fair. 

Charlie Washington – We do appreciate it.   

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

H-3. Request approval of the Flagler County Cooperative Bid for debris monitoring. 

Motion:  Approval of the Flagler County Cooperative Bid for debris monitoring. 

Motion By: Commissioner Robinson 

Seconded By: Commissioner Baxley 

Board Discussion: Mr. Mitrano gave an explanation of the item. 

Public Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

H-4. Request approval of the Contract Addendum with Tyler Technologies to implement online bill pay 

for utility payments on October 1, 2015. 

Motion:  Approval of the Contract Addendum with Tyler Technologies to implement online bill pay for 

utility payments on October 1, 2015 

Motion By: Commissioner Tucker 

Seconded By: Commissioner Baxley 

Board Discussion: IT Director Wines explained this will allow water customers to pay their bill online 

and this is the software that will allow that to happen.  Commissioner Baxley asked if this was budgeted.  

Mr. Wines explained this will come from the Utilities enterprise fund.  Mayor Robinson said she has 

heard from many citizens that wanted this.  Commissioner Tucker stated this is about the best way we 

can do this, since the Tax Collector couldn’t handle taking the online payments for us. 
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Public Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

H-5. Request approval of ETS as the ACH for the on-line bill pay for the City, and authorizing the Mayor 

to sign the documentation necessary to establish a merchant account. 

Motion:  Approval of ETS as the ACH for the on-line bill pay for the City, and authorizing the Mayor to 

sign the documentation necessary to establish a merchant account 

Motion By: Commissioner Robinson 

Seconded By: Commissioner Baxley 

Board Discussion: This item follows along with the last item and is the contract for us to allow the credit 

card payments for the online water bill payments.  Commissioner Tucker asked if the only bank we could 

find to do this was in New York.  Mr. Wines replied that Tyler has two companies they contract with to 

do this.  Our hands are tied on who they choose as a clearing house. 

Public Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

H-6. Request approval of purchase of License and Permit Bond for Solid Waste. 

Motion:  Approval of purchase of License and Permit Bond for Solid Waste 

Motion By: Commissioner Robinson 

Seconded By: Commissioner Tucker 

Board Discussion: Commissioner Tucker stated that the bond is not like insurance. It’s a guarantee that 

someone will pay.  The way it works is we pay this company $3,000 and if the company pays out money 

on our behalf (up to $300,000) we pay them back.  We are the indemnity.  This is a license and permit 

bond that will never ever come into play but we have to pay the $3,000 for it.  I feel a performance bond 

would have been more appropriate, because we are performing a task.  We pick up the schools 

recyclables so many days a week.  Not sure what this has to do with a permit.  It just doesn’t make since 

to me to buy the bond we are buying because it will never come into play.  If we were getting a 

performance bond, then the bonding company would get someone to perform, if we failed to perform.  

We’re going to pass this $3,000 bill on to the school board, so the taxpayers of Flagler County are going 

to pay for this $3,000 bond that no one needs.  We have to do it because of an Ordinance of the City of 

Palm Coast, but this is a waste of money.  Mr. Vose continued that he and staff have felt the same 

frustration voiced by Commissioner Tucker in trying to put this thing together with the City of Palm 

Coast.  Overall, the City has been helpful; they waived the franchise fee which was a substantial amount 

of money.  They waived the ordinance so we wouldn’t have to pay the franchise fee.  After multiple 

discussions with the City of Palm Coast, this bonding requirement is what came out of the process. In 

summary, the bond amount is much lower than where we started, and the School Board is paying it and is 

okay with it.  Commissioner Robinson had concern with a finance comment on the staff report.  Mr. 

Gurnee answered that until the resolution was adopted (earlier this evening) we couldn’t do a resolution 

that increased the revenue.  We will now bring a resolution to you at the next meeting to make a budget 

transfer. 

Public Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

H-7. Request approval of Solid Waste Franchise Agreement. 

Motion:  Approval of Solid Waste Franchise Agreement 

Motion By: Commissioner Robinson 

Seconded By: Commissioner Baxley 
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Board Discussion: Commissioner Tucker stated there is an item here on liquidated damages.  We could 

run up a big bill of we don’t adhere to these things.  We haven’t had to worry about that as our Solid 

Waste Director keeps our equipment in good shape. 

Public Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 

I. Reports: 

 City Clerk:  Nothing to report.  Next meeting is July 13, 2015. 

 City Attorney:  Nothing to report. 

 City Manager: 

 Thanked Palm Coast City Manager Landon, School Board Superintendent Oliva, 

all the attorneys, Stella and Perry for working together on getting this Solid Waste 

Franchise Agreement done.  It’s been a long tedious task. 

 Ion Exchange is moving along well.  A letter will be going out to citizens soon 

announcing a grand opening September 28th.  Water will go online much sooner 

than that though 

 The Chamber’s Bunnell “Business and Biscuits” will be Thursday, July 23rd, 8:00 

AM, at the State Street Diner 

 Commission Retreat will be the 2nd week of August 

 I will be out of town July 3rd through the 7th. 

 Still don’t have a date for a joint meeting with County on BFCU yet 

 Received a budget book Friday to review. 

 Financial Audit is just about done. 

 We received the FRDAP Grant for the passive park, as long as the Governor signs 

 Putting something together for Mayor’s 20-years of elected service. 

 

 Mayor and City Commissioners: 

 Commissioner Robinson:   Reiterated again her desire to find a grant to fix the 

drainage problem on her street, Hymon Circle 

 Commissioner Tucker:  Thanked staff for the great job they’re doing, including 

all the guys working outside in the 96 degree heat. 

 Mayor Robinson:  Read a letter from Governor Scott on decreasing crime and 

enlisting nominations for awards related to that feat.  

 

J. Call for Adjournment. 

 

Motion: Adjourn the meeting at 8:33 p.m. 

Motion By: Commissioner Baxley 

Seconded By: Commissioner Robinson 

Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 

 

 

___________________________  ___________________________ 

Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor   Sandra Bolser, CMC, City Clerk 

 

___________________________  ___________________________ 

                       Date                                                                    Date 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Commission, and City Manager, 
 City of Bunnell, Florida: 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Bunnell, Florida, 
(the City), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2014, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The City’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
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Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of September 30, 2014, and the respective 
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows, thereof and the respective budgetary 
comparison for the General and Community Redevelopment Agency funds for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be 
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s financial statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards as required by U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, 
Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is 
not a required part of the basic financial statements.  

The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of management and was derived from 
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 
information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 24, 2015, 
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
June 24, 2015 
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As management of the City of Bunnell, we offer readers of the City of Bunnell’s financial statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Bunnell for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2014. 

 
Financial Highlights 

• The assets of the City of Bunnell exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year 
by $15,081,463 (net position).   Of this amount, $1,749,517 may be used to meet the City’s 
ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

• As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Bunnell’s governmental funds reported 
combined ending fund balances of $741,537, a decrease of $419,373. The unassigned General 
Fund balance available for spending at the City’s discretion is $536,294. 

 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Bunnell’s basic financial 
statements. The City of Bunnell’s basic financial statements consist of three components: 1) government- 
wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report 
also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

 
Government-wide Financial Statements – The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the City of Bunnell’s finances, in a manner similar to a private- 
sector business. 

 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the 
difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may 
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the 
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise 
to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are 
reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. 

 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes, licenses and permits, and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from 
other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and 
charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government, 
public safety, public works, physical environment and community planning and development. The 
business-type activities of the City include water, sewer and solid waste services. 

 
Fund Financial Statements – A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control 
over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Bunnell, like 
other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: 
governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 

 
Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows 
and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of 
the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a City’s near-term financing requirements. 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing  
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so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. 
Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, 
and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental 
funds and governmental activities. 

 
The City of Bunnell maintains three major governmental funds. Information is presented separately in 
the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, 
and changes in fund balances for the general fund and the capital projects fund.  

 
The City of Bunnell adopts an annual appropriated budget for the general fund and the CRA fund. A 
budgetary comparison schedule has been provided for these funds to demonstrate compliance with this 
budget. 

 
Proprietary Funds – The City of Bunnell maintains two proprietary funds.  The enterprise funds are used 
to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial 
statements. The City of Bunnell uses an enterprise fund to account for its water & sewer and solid waste 
activities. 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only 
in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information of the water, sewer 
and solid waste activities, all of which are considered to be a major funds of the City of Bunnell. 

 
Fiduciary Funds – Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the City (e.g., pension beneficiaries). Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial 
statement because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The 
accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 

 
Other Information - In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also 
presents certain required supplementary information concerning the City of Bunnell’s schedule of 
contributions to the firefighters’ retirement system. 

 
Government-wide Financial Analysis – As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful 
indicator of a City’s financial position.   In the case of the City of Bunnell, assets exceed liabilities by 
$15,081,463 at the close of the most recent fiscal year. 

 
The largest portion of the City of Bunnell’s net position $10,829,313 (71.81%) reflects its investment 
in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, infrastructure, equipment); less any related debt used to acquire 
those assets that is still outstanding.  The City of Bunnell uses these capital assets to provide services to 
citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City of Bunnell’s 
investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to 
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used 
to liquidate these liabilities. 

 
A portion of the City’s net position, $ 2,502,633 (16.59%) represents resources that are subject to 
external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net assets, 
$1,749,517 (11.6%) may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and 
creditors. At the end of the current fiscal year, the City is able to report positive balances in all categories 
of net position, both for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-
type activities. 
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CITY OF BUNNELL'S NET POSITION 
September 30, 

Governmental Activities Business Activities Totals 
       

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 

Current and Other 
Assets $ 1,084,287  $ 1,428,727 $ 4,225,042 $ 2,640,308 $ 5,309,329  $ 4,069,035 

Capital Assets 4,368,405  3,954,536 11,869,001 12,057,901 16,237,406  16,012,437 

   Total Assets 5,452,692  5,383,263 16,094,043 14,698,209 21,546,735  20,081,472 

Long-term Liabilities  1,463,675  335,000 4,056,845 3,150,174 5,520,520  3,485,174 

Other Liabilities 343,050  289,817 601,702 663,277 944,752  953,094 

   Total Liabilities 1,806,725  624,817 4,658,547 3,813,451 6,465,272  4,438,268 

Net Investment in  

  Capital Assets 2,987,543  3,634,536 7,841,770 8,570,999 10,829,313  12,205,535 

Restricted 205,243  263,726 2,297,390 1,190,621 2,502,633  1,454,347 

Unrestricted 453,181  860,184 1,296,336 1,123,138 1,749,517  1,983,322 

   Total Net Position $ 3,645,967  $ 4,758,446 $ 11,435,496 $ 10,884,758 $ 15,081,463  $ 15,643,204 

             
 

CITY OF BUNNELL'S CHANGE IN NET POSITION 
For the Years Ended September 30, 

 
Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals 

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 
Revenues: 
Program Revenues: 
   Charges for Services $ 83,260 $ 258,093 $ 2,965,492 $ 2,639,705  $ 3,048,752 $ 2,897,798 
   Operating Grants & Contributions 65,512 27,319 12,664 78,176 27,319 
   Capital Grants & Contributions 133,707 15,555 801,535  149,262 801,535 
General Revenues: 
   Property Taxes 948,877 975,796 948,877 975,796 
   Franchise & UtilityTaxes 688,494 692,267 688,494 692,267 
   Intergovernmental Revenue 1,121,414 227,734 1,121,414 227,734 
   Interest Revenue (710) 6,193 1,377 6,892  667 13,085 
   Other 10,940 24,147 289,717 (29,417) 300,657 (5,270) 
Total Revenues 3,051,494 2,211,549 3,284,805 3,418,715  6,336,299 5,630,264 

Expenses: 
   General Government 896,209 970,306 896,209 970,306 
   Community Development 272,814 275,133 272,814 275,133 
   Public Safety 1,241,343 1,255,947 1,241,343 1,255,947 
   Public Works 1,506,366 743,962 1,506,366 743,962 
   Parks & Recreation 230,375 122,567 230,375 122,567 
   Water & Sewer 3,996 2,007,879 2,027,866  2,011,875 2,027,866 
    Solid Waste 12,870 726,188 631,854  739,058 631,854 
Total Expenses 4,163,973 3,367,915 2,734,067 2,659,720  6,898,040 6,027,635 
Increase (Decrease) in Net  
Position Before Transfers (1,112,479) (1,156,366) 550,738 758,995  (561,741) (397,371) 
Transfers                  -   83,378                -   (83,378)     
Increase (Decrease) in Net Position (1,112,479) (1,072,988) 550,738 675,617  (561,741) (397,371) 
Net Position Beginning  4,758,446 5,831,434 10,884,758 10,209,141  15,643,204 16,040,575 
Net Position Ending $ 3,645,967 $ 4,758,446 $ 11,435,496 $ 10,884,758  $ 15,081,463 $ 15,643,204 
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Governmental Activities – Governmental activities decreased the City of Bunnell’s net position by 
$1,112,479. The key element to this decrease was expenditures (excluding capital outlay which is not reported in 
governmental activities) in the general fund exceeding revenues by over $700,000, plus the addition of $349,914 
in depreciation expense. 
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• Business-type Activities – Business-type activities increased the City of Bunnell’s net position by 
$550,738. The key element to this increase were net operating gains along with investment gains in the 
Bunnell Flagler County Utility. 
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Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds – As noted earlier, the City of Bunnell uses fund accounting to 
ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds – The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-
term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the 
City of Bunnell’s financing requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful 
measure of a City’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. As of September 
30, 2014, fund balances were $741,537 a decrease of $419,373 in comparison with the prior year, 
primarily due to budgeted expenditures in excess of revenues in the general fund. Of this amount 
$536,294 constitutes unassigned General Fund balance, which is available for spending at the City’s 
discretion. $201,625 is to be spent on capital projects and $3,618 is for Community Redevelopment. 
 
The General Fund unassigned fund balance decreased by $360,890 during the current fiscal year. 
$150,000 was transferred from the capital projects fund.  In addition, the Water Sewer fund paid 
charges for services of $42,400 to the General fund and the Solid Waste fund paid $38,880 in charges 
for services to the General fund. 
 
The capital project fund has a fund balance of $201,625, which represents a decrease of $150,000 
which resulted from transfers to the general fund for capital projects. 

 
Proprietary Funds – The City of Bunnell’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found 
in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 

 
Unrestricted net position of the Water and Sewer fund at the end of the year amounted to $1,454,026. The 
total increase in net position was $598,934. The increase was due to increases in the customer rates for 
water and sewer services and investment returns from the Bunnell Flagler County Joint Utility. Unrestricted 
net position in the Solid Waste Fund was a deficit of $(157,690). 

 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

 

The budget was amended to reflect expenditures funded from State contracts that were not reflected in the 
original budget.  In addition, at the end of the fiscal year the budget was realigned to reflect anticipated 
expenditures. 
 
The comparison of the budget versus actual for the General Fund can be found on page 17. 

 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 

 
Capital Assets – The City of Bunnell’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business type 
activities as of September 30, 2014 amounts to $16,237,406 (net of accumulated depreciation). This 
investment in capital assets includes land, buildings and improvements other than buildings, equipment, 
infrastructure and construction in progress. The total change in the City of Bunnell’s investment in capital 
assets for the current fiscal year was a $413,869 increase in net capital assets for governmental 
activities and a $188,902 decrease in net capital assets for business-type activities. 

 
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 

 
• The acquisition and renovations of the new Municipal Complex for $789,361. 
• Improvements at the Carver Sports Complex for $32,941 
• Public works various paving projects totaling $7,500. 
• Fire Suppression system at the Coquina City Hall for $4,460. 
• Acquisition of the Pocket Park for $4,505. 
• The Water Plant Improvement project is a multiple year project that increased assets by $210,428 

in the fiscal year. 
• The addition of a utility services pick-up truck $21,394. 



City of Bunnell, Florida 
Management Discussion and Analysis  
For the Year Ended September 30, 2014 
 
 

- 9 - 

• Lift station projects for $36,715. 
• The addition of fire hydrants for $10,193. 
• The Water/Sewer departments purchased various capital equipment totaling $13,824. 
• The Solid Waste department purchased a camera for $8,470 and containers totaling $2,437. 

 
CITY OF BUNNELL'S CAPITAL ASSETS 

(Net of Depreciation) 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-
type 

Activities Total 
Land $ 205,002 $ 26,991 $ 231,993 
Construction in Progress 789,361 763,459 1,552,820 
Buildings and improvements 2,802,985 10,160,654 12,963,639 
Equipment 571,057 917,897 1,488,954 

Total $ 4,368,405 $ 11,869,001 $ 16,237,406 

Additional information on the City of Bunnell’s capital assets can be found in Note 6 in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

 
Long-Term Debt – At the end of the 2014 fiscal year, the City of Bunnell had total debt outstanding of 
$5,520,820. 
 

   CITY OF BUNNELL'S OUTSTANDING DEBT 
                                          Long and Short Term Obligations 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-
type 

Activities Total 

Notes & Bonds Payable 
 
$ 1,380,862 

  
$ 4,027,231 

  
$ 5,408,093 

Net OPEB 10,030 3,970 14,000 
Compensated Absences 73,083 25,644 98,727 

Total 
 
$ 1,463,975 

  
$ 4,056,845 

  
$ 5,520,820 

 
The City of Bunnell’s total debt increased by $1,667,299 during the current fiscal year primarily due to the 
acquisition of the Municipal Complex and Water Plant improvements. 

 
Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in Note 7 in the notes to the financial 
statements. 
 

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 
 

• The City’s taxable value of commercial and residential property decreased by 2% for the 2014 fiscal 
year. 

• The property values and assessments have been declining over the last several years, however the 
values are expected to increase by approximately 9% in fiscal year 2015.  The local economy has 
shown signs of stabilization and increasing activity. 
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• The Millage rate of 6.9506 was maintained for the fourth consecutive year.  
• Due to the significant declines to General fund balance over the last several years, the City’s 

financial condition is considered unfavorable.  This trend was recognized and reported to the 
Commission after the City engaged a new City Manager. Significant budget cuts were enacted by 
the City Commission during the last several months of fiscal year 2014 which served to decrease 
the budgeted fund balance decline.   

• The fiscal year 2015 budget was developed such that no additional decline in fund balance is 
planned.   

 
Requests for Information 

 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Bunnell’s finances for all 
those with an interest in the City’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this 
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the City of Bunnell, City 
Manager, P.O. Box 756, Bunnell, Florida 32110-0756. 



CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 401,071$        1,118,594$     1,519,665$      
Investments 332,059 65,733           397,792          
Receivables, net 72,796           466,542         539,338          
Internal balances 192,409         (192,409)        -                  
Due from other governments 72,508           162,228         234,736          
Due from Flagler County BFCU 13,444           81,472           94,916            
Bunnell Flagler County Utility Joint Venture -                 210,668         210,668          
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents -                 1,106,583      1,106,583        
Investments -                 1,205,631      1,205,631        

Capital assets:
Land 205,002         26,991           231,993          
Buildings and improvements 5,090,304      14,446,334    19,536,638      
Equipment 3,838,969      2,153,744      5,992,713        
Construction in progress 789,361         763,459         1,552,820        
Accumulated depreciation (5,555,231)     (5,521,527)     (11,076,758)     

Total assets 5,452,692$     16,094,043$   21,546,735$    

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 118,160$        322,349$        440,509$        
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 69,151           23,123           92,274            
Customer deposits 5,060             241,406         246,466          
Accrued rent 136,585         -                  136,585          
Unearned revenue 13,794           -                  13,794            
Accrued interest payable -                 14,824           14,824            
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year:
Bonds and notes payable 1,380,862      1,091,193      2,472,055        
Compensated absences 18,271           6,411             24,682            

Due in more than one year:
Bonds and notes payable -                 2,936,038      2,936,038        
Net OPEB Obligation 10,030           3,970             14,000            
Compensated absences 54,812           19,233           74,045            

Total liabilities 1,806,725$     4,658,547$     6,465,272$      

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 2,987,543$     7,841,770$     10,829,313$    
Restricted for:

Capital improvements 201,625         1,549,268      1,750,893        
Debt service -                 748,122         748,122          
Community redevelopment 3,618             -                  3,618              

Unrestricted 453,181         1,296,336      1,749,517        
Total net position 3,645,967$     11,435,496$   15,081,463$    

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Changes in Net Position
Operating Capital

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Governmental activities:
General government 896,209$           447$                 634$                 -$                   (895,128)$         -$                  (895,128)$         
Community development 272,814             46,054             -                   -                    (226,760)          -                   (226,760)          
Public safety 1,241,343          26,017             576                  5,000                 (1,209,750)       -                   (1,209,750)       
Public works 1,506,366          -                   64,302             92,052               (1,350,012)       -                   (1,350,012)       
Parks and recreation 230,375             10,742             -                   36,655               (182,978)          -                   (182,978)          
Community redevelopment 3,996                -                   -                   -                    (3,996)              -                   (3,996)              
Interest on long-term debt 12,870               -                   -                   -                    (12,870)            -                   (12,870)            

Total governmental activities 4,163,973          83,260               65,512               133,707              (3,881,494)         -                     (3,881,494)         

Business-type activities:
Water and sewer 2,007,879          2,292,296        12,664             15,555               -                   312,636           312,636           
Solid Waste 726,188             673,196           -                   -                    -                   (52,992)            (52,992)            

Total business-type activities 2,734,067          2,965,492          12,664               15,555                -                     259,644             259,644             

Total primary government 6,898,040$        3,048,752$       78,176$            149,262$           (3,881,494)       259,644           (3,621,850)       

General revenues:
Property taxes 948,877           -                   948,877           
Sales and use taxes 88,211             -                   88,211             
Franchise and utility taxes 242,530           -                   242,530           
Public service taxes 445,964           -                   445,964           
Fire insurance premium taxes 3,964               -                   3,964               
Other taxes 81,854             -                   81,854             

 State revenue sharing 58,118             -                   58,118             
 Other intergovernmental revenues 889,267           -                   889,267           

Investment earnings (loss) (710)                 1,377               667                  
Change in investment in Bunnell Flagler County Utility Joint Venture -                   279,226           279,226           
Miscellaneous revenues 10,940             10,491             21,431             

Transfers -                   -                   -                   
Total general revenues and transfers 2,769,015          291,094             3,060,109          

Change in net position (1,112,479)         550,738             (561,741)            
Net position - beginning 4,758,446          10,884,758        15,643,204        

 Net position - ending 3,645,967$       11,435,496$     15,081,463$     

Program Revenues

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

Net (Expense) Revenue and

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Community Total
Redevelopment Capital Governmental

General Agency Projects Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 400,895$      176$             -$              401,071$           
Investments 67,090        -              264,969       332,059             
Receivables, net 72,796        -              -               72,796              
Due from other governments 58,055        -              14,453         72,508              
Due from Flagler County BFCU 13,444        -              -               13,444              
Due from other funds 270,206      3,442           -               273,648             

Total assets 882,486$      3,618$          279,422$      1,165,526$         

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 124,202$      -$             -$              124,202$           
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 63,109 -              -               63,109              
Accrued rent 136,585 -              -               136,585             
Customer deposits 5,060          -              -               5,060                
Unearned revenue 13,794        -              -               13,794              
Due to other funds 3,442          -              77,797         81,239              

Total liabilities 346,192$      -$             77,797$        423,989$           

FUND BALANCES
Restricted for:

Community redvelopment -$             3,618$          -$              3,618$              
Capital improvements -              -              201,625       201,625             

Unassigned 536,294      -              -               536,294             
Total fund balances 536,294$      3,618$          201,625$      741,537$           

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
BALANCE SHEET

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Fund balances - total governmental funds 741,537$        

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds

Total governmental capital assets 9,923,636      
Less: accumulated depreciation (5,555,231)     4,368,405       

 
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable and notes payable, are not due and

payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. These
liabilities and other long-term liabilities consist of the following:

Bonds and notes payable (1,380,862)     
Net OPEB obligation (10,030)           
Compensated absences (73,083)            (1,463,975)      

Net position of governmental activities 3,645,967$     

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

Community Total
Redevelopment Capital Governmental

General Agency Projects Funds
Revenues  

Taxes 1,705,637$   -$             92,052$         1,797,689$    
Licenses and permits 85,868         -              -               85,868          
Intergovernmental 1,041,562    -              -               1,041,562      
Charges for services 104,644       -              -               104,644        
Fines and forfeitures 24,355         -              -               24,355          
Interest revenues (loss) (273)            -              (437)             (710)             
Miscellaneous 57,406         -              -               57,406          

Total revenues 3,019,199    -              91,615          3,110,814      

Expenditures
Current:

General Government 916,247       -              -               916,247        
Public Safety 1,126,565    -              -               1,126,565      
Community Development 259,598       -              -               259,598        
Public Works 1,270,182    -              -               1,270,182      
Parks and Recreation 161,783       -              -               161,783        
Community Redevelopment -              3,996           -               3,996            

Capital outlay 839,808       -              -               839,808        
Debt service

Principal -              -              -               -               
Interest and fiscal charges 12,870         -              -               12,870          

Total expenditures 4,587,053    3,996           -               4,591,049      
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 

expenditures (1,567,854)  (3,996)         91,615          (1,480,235)    

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 150,000       3,898           -               153,898        
Transfers out (3,898)         -              (150,000)     (153,898)      
Issuance of debt 1,060,862    -              1,060,862      

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,206,964    3,898           (150,000)     1,060,862      

Net change in fund balances (360,890)     (98)              (58,385)       (419,373)      

Fund balances, beginning of year 897,184       3,716           260,010       1,160,910      

Fund balances, end of year 536,294$      3,618$          201,625$      741,537$      

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (419,373)$      

Differences in amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of
activities, the cost of those assets is depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Capital outlay expenditures 839,808          
Depreciation expense (349,914)        

In the statement of activities, only the gain/loss on sale/disposal of capital assets is reported.
However, in governmental funds, the proceeds from the sale increases financial resources.
Thus, the change in net position differs from the change in fund balance by the cost of
the capital assets sold/disposed. (76,025)          

Bond and loan proceeds are reported as financing sources in the governmental funds. However,
the issuance of debt is reported as long-term debt payable in the statement of net position.
Repayment of bond and note principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but
the repayment of debt principal reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.
These amounts are as follows:

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt (1,060,862)      

Occupational license revenue is recorded as revenue as received in the governmental funds,
but is unearned in the statement of activities. 22,000            

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the governmental funds, expenditures
are not recognized for transactions that are not normally paid with expendable available
financial resources. In the statement of activities, however, which is presented on the accrual
basis, expenses and liabilities are reported regardless of when financial resources are available.
In addition, interest on long-term debt is not recognized under the modified accrual basis of
accounting until due, rather than as it accrues. These adjustments are as follows:

Change in net OPEB obligation (10,030)          
Change in compensated absences liability (58,083)          

Change in net position of governmental activities (1,112,479)$    

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

REVENUES  
Taxes 1,612,031$   1,612,031$   1,705,637$   93,606$        
Licenses and permits 108,500       108,500       85,868          (22,632)        
Intergovernmental 215,682       215,682       1,041,562    825,880        
Charges for services 134,920       134,920       104,644 (30,276)        
Fines and forfeitures 43,000         43,000         24,355          (18,645)        
Interest revenues -              -              (273)             (273)             
Miscellaneous 20,500         20,500         57,406 36,906          

Total revenues 2,134,633    2,134,633    3,019,199    884,566        

Expenditures
Current:

General Government:
Legislative 147,550       147,550       142,111       5,439            
Executive 145,030       145,030       144,978       52                 
Administration 379,786       386,286       379,086       7,200            
Legal 100,000       123,000       99,324          23,676          
Grants & special projects 141,341       136,872       132,404       4,468            
Centennial 22,768         18,768         18,344          424               

Public Safety:
Fire 125,427       122,927       113,352       9,575            
Police 1,047,750    1,042,750    1,013,213 29,537

Community development 257,092       290,092       259,598 30,494          
Public works 427,980       1,322,980    1,270,182 52,798          
Parks and recreation 159,436       164,136       161,783 2,353            
Capital outlay 1,403,800    1,278,230    839,808       438,422        
Debt Service:

Principal -              -              -               -               
Interest and fiscal charges -              12,870         12,870 -               

Total expenditures 4,357,960    5,191,491    4,587,053    604,438        
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 

expenditures (2,223,327)  (3,056,858)  (1,567,854)  1,489,004      

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 1,365,500    1,365,500    150,000       (1,215,500)    
Transfers out -              -              (3,898)          (3,898)          
Issuance of debt -              825,000 1,060,862 235,862        

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,365,500    2,190,500    1,206,964    (983,536)      

Net change in fund balances (857,827)     (866,358)     (360,890)     505,468        

Fund balances, beginning of year 897,184       897,184       897,184       -               

Fund balances, end of year 39,357$         30,826$         536,294$       505,468$       

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 17 -



CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

REVENUES  
Taxes -$             -$             -$              -$             
Miscellaneous -              -              -               -               

Total revenues -              -              -               -               

Expenditures
Current:

Community redevelopment -              4,000           3,996            4                  
Total expenditures -              4,000           3,996            4                  
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 

expenditures -              (4,000)         (3,996)          4                  

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in -              4,000           3,898            (102)             
Transfers out -              -              -               -               

Total other financing sources (uses) -              4,000           3,898            (102)             
-               

Net change in fund balances -              -              (98)               (98)               

Fund balances, beginning of year 3,716           3,716           3,716            -               

Fund balances, end of year 3,716$          3,716$          3,618$           (98)$             

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

Water and Solid
Sewer Waste Total

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1,080,146$    38,448$          1,118,594$     
Investments 65,733 -                 65,733           
Accounts receivable, net 367,135        99,407           466,542         
Due from other governments 162,228        -                 162,228         
Due from Flagler County BFCU 81,472 -                 81,472           
Investment in Bunnell Flagler County Utility Joint Venture 210,668        -                 210,668         
Due from other funds 156,454        -                 156,454         

Total current assets 2,123,836     137,855        2,261,691       

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash 1,088,517     18,066           1,106,583       
Restricted investments 1,205,631     -                 1,205,631       
Capital assets:

Land 26,991          -                 26,991           
Buildings and improvements 14,446,334   -                 14,446,334     
Equipment 1,507,371     646,373        2,153,744       
Construction in progress 763,459        -                 763,459         
Accumulated depreciation (5,216,060)    (305,467)       (5,521,527)      

Total noncurrent assets 13,822,243   358,972        14,181,215     

Total assets 15,946,079$  496,827$       16,442,906$   

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 288,803$       33,546$          322,349$       
Accrued payroll 18,757          4,366             23,123           
Deposits 223,327        18,079           241,406         
Due to other funds 117,429        231,434        348,863         
Compensated absences 4,538            1,873             6,411             
Payable from restricted assets:

Current maturities on long-term debt 970,683        120,510        1,091,193       
Accrued interest payable 14,824          -                 14,824           

Total current liabilities 1,638,361     409,808        2,048,169       

Noncurrent liabilities:
Notes payable 2,892,898     43,140           2,936,038       
Net OPEB obligation 3,343            627                3,970             
Compensated absences 13,613          5,620             19,233           

Total noncurrent liabilities 2,909,854     49,387           2,959,241       

Total liabilities 4,548,215$    459,195$       5,007,410$     
 
NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 7,664,514$    177,256$       7,841,770$     
Restricted for:

Capital improvements 1,549,268     -                 1,549,268       
Debt service 730,056        18,066           748,122         

Unrestricted 1,454,026     (157,690)       1,296,336       
Total net position 11,397,864$  37,632$          11,435,496$   

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Water and Solid
Sewer Waste Total

Operating revenues
Charges for services 2,292,296$     673,196$        2,965,492$     

Total operating revenues 2,292,296      673,196         2,965,492       

Operating expenses
Personal services 879,815         256,175         1,135,990       
Contractual services 149,094         224,183         373,277          
Repairs and maintenance 31,830           39,757           71,587            
Supplies 160,787         69,379           230,166          
Utilities 106,109         4,619             110,728          
Other expenses 143,042         32,084           175,126          
Depreciation 400,374         91,991           492,365          

Total operating expenses 1,871,051      718,188         2,589,239       

Operating income (loss) 421,245           (44,992)           376,253           

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Interest earnings 1,377             -                 1,377              
Change in investment in Bunnell Flagler County Utility 279,226         -                 279,226          
Operating grants 12,664           -                 12,664            
Other income (expense) 5,695             4,796             10,491            
Interest and amortization expense (136,828)        (8,000)            (144,828)         

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 162,134           (3,204)             158,930           

Income (loss) before capital contributions and transfers 583,379         (48,196)          535,183          

Capital contributions 15,555           -                 15,555            

Change in net position 598,934           (48,196)           550,738           

Net position, beginning of year 10,798,930      85,828            10,884,758      

Net position, end of year 11,397,864$    37,632$          11,435,496$    

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

Water and Solid 
Sewer Waste Total

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from customers 2,164,942$    696,287$       2,861,229$     
Cash paid to employees (868,889)       (252,055)       (1,120,944)      
Cash paid to suppliers (339,249)       (370,022)       (709,271)         
Other receipts 18,359          4,796            23,155            

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 975,163        79,006          1,054,169       

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Interfund loans 1,574            92,127          93,701            

Net cash provided by (used in)
noncapital financing activities 1,574            92,127          93,701            

Cash flows from capital and related 
    financing activities

Impact fees and capital contributions 15,555          -                15,555            
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (292,556)       (1,763)           (294,319)         
Principal payments of long-term debt (177,416)       (117,485)       (294,901)         
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 835,230        -                835,230          
Interest paid (140,384)       (6,434)           (146,818)         

Net cash provided by (used in) capital
and related financing activities 240,429        (125,682)       114,747          

 
Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 947               -                947                 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 947               -                947                 

 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and 

cash equivalents 1,218,113     45,451          1,263,564       

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 950,550          11,063            961,613          

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 2,168,663$     56,514$          2,225,177$     

Reconciliation of operating income to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) 421,245$       (44,992)$        376,253$        
Adjustments to reconcile net operating income

to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Depreciation 400,374        91,991          492,365          
Other income (expense) 18,359          4,796            23,155            
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 6,352            20,661          27,013            
Due from other governments (162,228)       -                (162,228)         
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 251,613        -                251,613          
Deposits 28,522          2,430            30,952            
Compensated absences 7,583            3,493            11,076            
Net OPEB obligation 3,343            627               3,970              

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 975,163$       79,006$         1,054,169$     

Cash and cash equivalents classsified as:
Unrestricted 1,080,146$    38,448$         1,118,594$     
Restricted 1,088,517     18,066          1,106,583       

Total cash and cash equivalents 2,168,663$    56,514$         2,225,177$     

Non-cash investing, capital, and 
financing activities:
Increase in Investment in Bunnell Flagler County Utility 279,226$       -$               279,226$        

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

Firefighters'
Pension
Trust
Fund

 
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents with trustee 1,103$            

Receivables
Employer contributions receivable 6,125              

Total receivables 6,125              

Investments, at fair value
Mutual funds 506,167          
Other assets 14,673            

Total investments 520,840          

Total assets 528,068          

NET POSITION
Held in trust for pension benefits 528,068$        

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

Firefighters'
Pension
Trust
Fund

 
Additions

Contributions:
Employer 10,006$          
Plan members 1,176              
State - insurance premium taxes 3,964              

Total contributions 15,146            

Investment earnings:
Interest and dividends 7,000              
Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments 31,978            

Total investment earnings 38,978            
Less: investment expense (9,976)             

          Net investment income (loss) 29,002            

Total additions 44,148            

Deductions
Benefit payments 13,229            
Administrative expenses 997                

Total deductions 14,226            

Change in net position 29,922            

Net position held in trust for pension benefits, beginning of year 498,146          

Net position held in trust for pension benefits, end of year 528,068$        

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 

- 24 - 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

The financial statements of the City of Bunnell, Florida (the City), have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental 
units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted body for promulgating 
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The following is a summary of the City’s 
significant accounting policies: 

(a) Reporting entityThe City of Bunnell, Florida, as created by the laws of Florida, Ch. 
28955(1953), adopted the City Charter by Ordinance No. 2002-01 on January 29, 2002. The charter 
was approved by referendum by the voters and became effective on March 5, 2002. The City 
Charter vests all the legislative powers of the City with a city commission consisting of five 
members. The city manager is appointed by the Commission and is the Chief Administrative Officer 
of the City.  

The accompanying financial statements present the financial position, results of operations, and cash 
flows of the applicable funds governed by the City Commission of the City of Bunnell, Florida, the 
reporting entity of government for which the City Commission is considered to be financially 
accountable. In evaluating the City as a reporting entity, management has addressed all potential 
component units that may or may not fall within the City’s oversight and control, and thus, be 
included in the City’s financial statements.  

(b) Blended component unitsBlended component units, although legally separate entities, are 
in substance part of the City’s operations, and as a result, considered to be financially accountable. 
The following component unit is reported in the City’s Annual Financial Report. In June 2007, the 
City passed an ordinance creating a dependent special district, the Bunnell Community 
Redevelopment Agency (Agency). The purpose of the Agency is to provide rehabilitation, 
conservation or redevelopment of such areas as are necessary in the interest of public health, safety 
or welfare of the residents of the City. The Agency is blended into the City’s primary government 
although retaining separate legal identity. Separate financial statements are not prepared for this 
component unit. 

Based upon the application of the criteria set forth in GASB Statement No. 61, “The Financial 
Reporting Entity,” there are no discretely presented potential component units or related 
organizations of the City. 

(c) Government-wide and fund financial statementsThe basic financial statements include 
both government-wide (based on the City as a whole) and fund financial statements. Both the 
government-wide and fund financial statements (within the basic financial statements) categorize 
primary activities as either governmental or business type. In the government-wide statement of net 
position, both the governmental and business-type activities columns are presented on a 
consolidated basis and are reflected, on a full accrual, economic resource basis, which incorporates 
long term assets and receivables as well as long term debt and obligations. 

The government-wide statement of activities reflects both the gross and net costs per functional 
category (public safety, public works, etc.), which are otherwise being supported by general 
government revenues (property, sales taxes, certain intergovernmental revenues, etc.). The statement 
of activities reduces gross expenses (including depreciation) by the related program revenues, 
operating and capital grants. The program revenues must be directly associated with the function or 
a business-type activity. The operating grants include operating-specific and discretionary (either 
operating or capital) grants while the capital grants column reflects capital-specific grants. 



CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

The net cost (by function or business-type activity) is normally covered by general revenue 
(property, sales or gas taxes, intergovernmental revenues, interest income, etc.). This government-
wide focus is more on the sustainability of the City as an entity and the change in aggregate 
financial position resulting from the activities of the fiscal period. The fund financial statements 
emphasize the major funds in either the governmental or business-type categories. Non-major funds 
(by category) are summarized into a single column. 

The governmental funds’ major fund statements in the fund financial statements are presented on a 
current financial resource and modified accrual basis of accounting. This is the manner in which 
these funds are normally budgeted. This presentation is deemed most appropriate to demonstrate 
legal compliance and demonstrate how the City’s actual experience conforms to the budgeted fiscal 
plan. Since the governmental fund statements are presented on a different measurement focus and 
basis of accounting than the government-wide statements’ governmental column, a reconciliation is 
presented on the page following the Governmental Funds – Balance Sheet and the Governmental 
Funds - Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances, which briefly 
explains the adjustment necessary to transform the fund based financial statements into the 
governmental column of the government-wide presentation.  

The City’s fiduciary fund is presented in the fund financial statements by type (pension). Since, by 
definition, these assets are being held for the benefit of a third party (other local governments, 
private parties, pension participants, etc.) and cannot be used to address activities or obligations of 
the government, these funds are not incorporated into the government-wide statements. 

As a general rule the effect of interfund City activities has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payments in lieu of taxes. Elimination 
of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenue reported for the various 
functions concerned. 

(d) Measurement focus and basis of accounting—The government-wide financial statements 
are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, 
as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when 
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related 
cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants 
and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the 
provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon 
as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. 
For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 
days of the end of the current fiscal period. 

For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 
days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures 
related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 

Taxes, intergovernmental revenue, licenses and permits, charges for services, and interest associated 
with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been 
recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to be 
measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

(e) Financial statement presentationThe financial transactions of the City are recorded in 
individual funds. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts 
that comprises its assets, liabilities, reserves, fund equity, revenues and expenditures/expenses. The 
various funds are reported by generic classification within the financial statements. 

GASB Statement 34 sets forth minimum criteria (percentage of the assets, liabilities, revenues or 
expenditures/expenses of either fund category or the governmental and enterprise combined) for the 
determination of major funds. The non-major funds are combined in a column in the fund financial 
statements and detailed in the combining section. 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

The General Fund accounts for several of the City’s primary services (police, fire, public 
works, community development, parks and recreation, etc.) and is the general operating fund 
of the City. It is used to account for all financial resources except those required to be 
accounted for in another fund.  

The Community Redevelopment Agency Funds accounts for the activities of the Bunnell 
Community Redevelopment Agency. 

The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the financial resources to be used for equipment 
replacement or the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities and improvement 
projects (other than those financed by proprietary funds). 

The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 

The Water and Sewer Fund accounts for the activities of the City’s water distribution system, 
sewage treatment plant, sewage pumping stations and collection systems. 

The Solid Waste Fund accounts for the activities of the City’s solid waste collection and 
disposal. 

Additionally, the City reports the following fiduciary fund: 

The Pension Trust Fund accounts for the activities of the firefighters’ retirement system. 

(f) Budgets and budgetary accountingAnnual budgets for all governmental and proprietary 
funds were adopted in compliance with Florida law. The basis on which the budgets are prepared is 
consistent with the basis of accounting utilized by the various fund types. The governmental funds' 
budgets are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. The proprietary funds' budgets are 
prepared on a full accrual basis of accounting. The City uses the following procedures in 
establishing the budgetary data reflected in the accompanying financial statements: 

i. Sixty days prior to October 1, the City Manager submits to the City Commission a 
proposed operating budget for the fiscal year commencing on October 1. The operating 
budget includes proposed expenditures and means of financing them. 

ii. Budget workshops are scheduled by the City Manager as needed. 

iii. The general summary of the budget and notice of public hearing is published in the local 
newspaper. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

iv. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments. 

v. Prior to October 1, the budgets are legally enacted through passage of a resolution. 

vi. The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between divisions and 
departments; however, any revisions that alter the total appropriations of any fund must 
be approved by the City Commission. 

vii. The level of classification detail at which expenditures may not legally exceed 
appropriations is the fund level. 

viii. Appropriations lapse at the close of the fiscal year to the extent they have not been 
expended. Appropriations for capital expenditures lapse five years henceforth. 

ix. Budget for the governmental funds are adopted on a basis consistent with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The governmental funds have legally adopted 
annual budgets contained within a separate document. 

x. The City Commission, by resolution, may make supplemental appropriations in excess of 
those originally estimated for the year, up to the amount of available revenues. 

(g) Use of estimatesManagement uses estimates and assumptions in preparing financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Those estimates and 
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities, and the reported revenue and expenses. Actual results could vary from the estimates 
assumed in preparing the financial statements. 

(h) Deposits and investmentsCash consists of amounts held in demand deposits. Cash 
equivalents consist of short term investments having a maturity date of less than three months from 
the date acquired. Investments are reported at fair value.  

(i) Receivables and payablesActivity between funds that are representative of 
lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either 
“due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other 
funds” (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding balances between 
funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.” Any residual balances outstanding between the 
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial 
statements as “internal balances.” 

All trade and property tax receivables are reported net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts, 
which is based upon management's analysis of historical trends. Utility operating sales are generally 
recognized on the basis of cycle billings rendered monthly. Unbilled accounts receivable are accrued 
by the City at year-end to recognize the sales revenues earned through the end of the fiscal year. 

(j) Capital assetsCapital assets include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets. 
The terms general capital assets and general infrastructure assets relate only to the assets associated 
with governmental activities, whereas the terms capital assets and infrastructure assets relate to all 
such assets belonging to the City. 

Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial individual cost of $1,000 or more and 
an estimated useful life of more than two years. Such assets are recorded at historical cost, if 
purchased or constructed. Contributed assets are recorded at fair market value as of the date 
received. Additions, improvements and other capital outlays that significantly extend the useful life 
of an asset are only capitalized if they meet the dollar threshold above for capitalization. 
Maintenance and repairs of capital assets are charged to operating expenses. Donated assets are 
recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

Depreciation is reported for the primary government using the straight-line method calculated on a 
service-life basis to amortize the cost of the asset over their estimated economic useful lives, which 
are as follows: 

Assets Years 

Buildings 30 years 
Infrastructure (improvements other than buildings) 5 – 25 years 
Equipment 3 – 10 years 

(k) Compensated absencesCity policy permits employees to accumulate a limited amount of 
earned, but unused personal, vacation, and sick leave. These benefits are payable to employees upon 
separation from service. All leave pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and 
proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in accordance with 
the GASB Codification. 

(l) Long-term obligationsIn the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund 
financial statements, long-term debt obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable 
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position.  
Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the 
effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or 
discount. Bond issuance costs are expensed when paid. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, 
as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is reported 
as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses.  
Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt 
service expenditures. 

(m) Fund equityIn the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance 
classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to 
honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in those funds can be spent. Those 
classifications are as follows: 

Nonspendable - The nonspendable fund balance classification includes amounts that cannot be 
spent because they are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to 
be maintained intact. The “not in spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to 
be converted to cash such as inventories and prepaid amounts. It also includes the long-term 
amount of loans and notes receivable, as well as property acquired for resale unless the use of the 
proceeds from the collection of those receivables or from the sale of those properties is restricted, 
committed, or assigned. 

Restricted - Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources 
are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, 
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation (i.e. when the government assesses, levies, 
charges, or otherwise mandates payment of resources (from external resource providers) and 
includes a legally enforceable requirement that those resources be used only for the specific 
purposes stipulated in the legislation. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

Committed - Fund balance amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to 
constraints imposed by ordinance of the City Commission are reported as committed fund 
balance. Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the City removes 
or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action it employed to previously commit 
those amounts. 

Assigned - Fund balance amounts that are constrained by the government's intent to be used for 
specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed, are reported as assigned fund balance, 
except for stabilization arrangements. Assignments can be made by the City Commission. 

Unassigned - Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund. This 
classification represents fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has not 
been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. 

For spendable resources, is the City’s policy to use its resources in the following order as needed to 
fund expenses: restricted, committed, assigned, unrestricted. 

(n) Net position flow assumptionSometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose 
from both restricted and unrestricted resources. In order to determine amounts reported as restricted 
and unrestricted net position, it is the City’s policy to consider restricted net position to have been 
used before unrestricted net position is applied. 

(o) Implementation of new accounting standardsAt September 30, 2014 and for the year then 
ended, the City has implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 
No. 65, Items Previously Reported As Assets and Liabilities, which had not material effect on the 
City’s financial statements. The City has also implemented GASB Statement No. 67, Financial 
Reporting for Pension Plans. See Note (9) for the effect of GASB 67 on pension disclosures. 

(2) Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statement: 

(a) Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the 
government-wide statement of net positionFollowing the governmental fund balance sheet is a 
reconciliation between fund balance – total governmental funds and net position – governmental 
activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net position. A detailed explanation of 
these differences is provided in this reconciliation. 

(b) Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities 
Following the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances, there is a reconciliation between net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds 
and changes in net position of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement 
of activities. A detailed explanation of these differences is provided in this reconciliation. 
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(3) Property Tax Calendar: 

Under Florida law, the assessment of all properties and collection of all county, municipal and school 
board property taxes are consolidated in the offices of the County Property Appraiser and County Tax 
Collector. State laws regulating tax assessment are designed to ensure a consistent property valuation 
method statewide and permit municipalities to levy property taxes at a rate of up to 10 mills. The millage 
rate assessed by the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014, was 6.9506 per $1,000. 

All property is assessed according to its fair market value on January 1 of each year. Each assessment roll 
is submitted to the Executive Director of the State Department of Revenue for review to determine if the 
rolls meet all of the appropriate requirements of State statutes. 

The current year taxes for the fiscal year, beginning October 1, are billed in the month of November and 
are due no later than March 31. On April 1, all unpaid amounts become delinquent and are subject to 
interest and penalties. 

Discounts are allowed for early payment at the rate of 4% in the month of November, 3% in the month of 
December, 2% in the month of January, 1% in the month of February, and without discount in March. 

The City recognizes property tax revenues as received. Delinquent tax receivables are inconsequential to 
the financial statements and have not been recorded. Delinquent taxes on real property bear interest of 
18% per year.  On or prior to June 1 following the tax year, certificates are sold for all delinquent taxes on 
real property. After sale, tax certificates bear interest of 18% per year or any lower rate bid by the buyer. 
Application for a tax deed on any unredeemed tax certificates may be made by the certificate holder after 
a period of two years. The City tax calendar is as follows: 

Valuation Date: January 1, 2013
Levy Date: November 1, 2013
Due Date: March 31, 2014
Lien Date: June 1, 2014

(4) Deposits and Investments: 

The City, for accounting and investment purposes, maintains a pooled interest bearing banking account 
and a pooled investment account for substantially all City funds. This gives the City the ability to invest 
large amounts of idle cash for short periods of time and to maximize earning potential. The cash and 
investments shown on the balance sheets and statements of net position represent the amount owned by 
each fund. 

State statutes authorize the City to invest excess funds in time deposits, obligations of, or obligations the 
principal and interest of which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States Government, 
commercial paper, corporate bonds, repurchase agreements and/or the State Board of Administration 
(SBA) Local-Government Surplus Trust Fund Investment Pool or other investment vehicles authorized by 
local ordinance.  

As of September 30, 2014, all City deposits were covered by private bank acquired insurance, Securities 
Investor Protection Corporation (SIPC) insurance, private broker/dealer acquired insurance, Federal 
Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance, or the State of Florida collateral pool established 
under the Florida Security for Public Deposits Act (the Act). The Act established guidelines for 
qualification and participation by banks and savings associations, procedures for administration of the 
collateral requirements and characteristics of eligible collateral. Under the Act, the qualified depository 
must pledge at least 50% of the average daily balance for each month of all public deposits in excess of 
any applicable deposit insurance. Additional collateral, up to 125% may be required if deemed necessary.  
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(4) Deposits and Investments: (Continued) 

Obligations pledged to secure deposits must be delivered to the State Treasurer, or with the approval of 
the State Treasurer to a bank, savings association, or trust company provided a power of attorney is 
delivered to the Treasurer. Under the Act, the City of Bunnell is authorized to deposit funds only in 
Qualified Public Depositories. 

The City is a member of Florida PRIME, the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund Investment 
Pool (the Pool), that is administered by the State Board of Administration of Florida (SBA). This pool is a 
“2a-7 like” pool, which has the characteristics of a money market fund. Therefore, the fair value of 
investments held at the State Board of Administration Pool is the same as the fair value of the pooled 
shares. The Regulatory Oversight of the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust fund is governed by Ch. 
19-7 of the Florida Administrative Code, which identifies the Rules for the State Board of Administration. 
These rules provide guidance and establish the general procedure for the administration of the Local 
Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund is not a registrant 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC); however, the Board has adopted operating 
procedure consistent with the requirements for a 2a-7 fund. The investment pool had a weighted average 
of 39 days to maturity and was rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s as of September 30, 2014. 

As of September 30, 2014, the City’s governmental and business-type investment portfolio is composed 
of the following investments: 

 

Credit 
Quality 
Rating Maturities (in Years) 

Investment Type (S&P) Fair Value Less Than 1 1-5 Over 5

Cash and cash equivalents NR $ 2,626,248 $ 2,626,248 $ - $ -
SBA funds AAAm 1,603,423 1,603,423 -     -      

Total Portfolio  $ 4,229,671 $ 4,229,671 $    $      

Interest Rate Risk: The City’s investment policy limits interest rate risk by attempting to match 
investment maturities with known cash needs and anticipated cash flow requirements. The investment of 
current operating funds will have maturities of no longer than 3 years. Investments of bond reserves, 
construction funds, and other non-operating funds (“core funds”) shall have a term appropriate to the need 
for funds and in accordance with debt covenants, but should not exceed ten years. From time to time the 
above parameters may require modification in order to meet specific construction draw schedules or other 
predetermined operating or capital needs, or to satisfy debt obligations, but in no event shall exceed ten 
years. 

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that a debt issuer or other counter-party to an investment will not fulfill 
its obligations. The City’s portfolio is held entire with public depositories is invested in SBA funds, as 
described above. 

Concentration of Credit Risk: The City has adopted no formal investment policy and follows the 
investment policies set forth in Florida Statutes, Chapter 218. 

Custodial Credit Risk: All demand deposits are held with qualified public depositories, as defined above. 
In the case of investments, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the City will 
not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an 
outside party. As of September 30, 2014, the City’s investment of $1,603,423 in SBA funds are backed 
by the full faith and credit of the State of Florida, or explicitly guaranteed by the State of Florida.  
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(4) Deposits and Investments: (Continued) 

The Firefighters’ Retirement Trust Fund has adopted an investment policy which authorizes the pension 
manager to invest in equities, fixed income investments, money market funds, and pooled funds.  

The following chart shows the Firefighters’ Pension fund cash and investment accounts by investment 
portfolios and their respective maturities (in years): 

 Fair Value 

Maturities 
(in years) 

Less Than 1 

Credit 
Rating 

Range (S&P) 

Cash  $ 1,103 $ 1,103 NR 
Mutual Funds – Fixed Income 175,212 175,212 NR 
Mutual Funds – Equity 330,955 330,955 NR 
Pooled Funds 14,673 14,673 NR 

Total Portfolio $  521,943 $  521,943  

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of investments. Generally, the longer the time to maturity, the greater the exposure to interest rate 
risk. The established performance objectives of the Pension Plan require investment maturities to provide 
sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they become due. At September 30, 2014, all investments were 
held in cash or other assets that could be liquidated at any time. 

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that a debt issuer or other counter-party to an investment will not fulfill 
its obligations. The Pension Plan utilizes portfolio diversification in order to limit investments to the 
highest rated securities as rated by nationally recognized rating agencies. All investments are rated within 
the investment policy guidelines at September 30, 2014. 

Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of 
an investment in a single issuer. The Firefighters’ Pension trust fund policy does not allow more than five 
(5) percent of its assets in the common stock, capital stock, or convertible securities of any one issuing 
company, nor more than three (3) percent of its assets in fixed income bonds to be with a single 
corporation. At September 30, 2014, the investment portfolios met these limitations. 

Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that the City may not recover cash and investments 
held by another party in the event of financial failure. Custodial credit risk is limited since investments are 
held in independent custodial safekeeping accounts or mutual funds. 

Foreign Currency Risk: Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely 
affect the fair value of an investment. At September 30, 2014, the investment portfolios had no foreign 
investments. 

A reconciliation of cash and investments as shown in the accompanying financial statements follows: 

Fair Value/Carrying Value
Governmental and Business-type Investment Portfolio $ 4,229,671 
Pension Investment Portfolio 521,943 

Total $ 4,751,614 
 
Government-Wide Statement of Net Position:

Equity in pooled cash  $ 1,519,665 
Investments 332,059 
Restricted equity in pooled cash 1,106,583 
Restricted investments 1,271,364 

Statement of Plan Net Position:  
Cash and cash equivalents with trustee 1,103 
Investments 520,840 

Total $ 4,751,614 



CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 

- 33 - 

(5) Accounts Receivable: 

The City’s receivables consist of the following at September 30, 2014: 

 
Gross 

Receivable 

Allowance for 
Doubtful 
Accounts 

Net 
Receivable 

Governmental Activities:  
General Fund  

Accounts receivable $ 72,796 $ - $ 72,796
Totals – Governmental Type Activities 72,796 - 72,796 

  
Business-Type Activities  

Water and Sewer Fund  
Accounts receivable 612,135 (245,000) 367,135

Solid Waste Fund  
Accounts receivable 154,407 (55,000) 99,407

Totals – Business-Type Activities 766,542 (300,000) 466,542 
Totals $ 839,338 $ (300,000) $ 539,338

 

(6) Capital Assets: 

Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014, is as follows: 

 
Beginning 
Balance Increases Decreases 

Ending 
Balance 

Governmental activities:  
Capital assets, not being depreciated   

Land $ 200,498 $ 4,504 $ -     $ 205,002
Construction in progress 76,025 789,361 (76,025) 789,361

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 276,523 793,865 (76,025) 994,363 
Capital assets, being depreciated   

Buildings 5,045,404 44,900 -     5,090,304
Equipment 3,837,926 1,043 -     3,838,969

Total capital assets, being depreciated 8,883,330 45,943 -     8,929,273
Less: accumulated depreciation (5,205,317) (349,914) -      (5,555,231)
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 3,678,013 (303,971) -     3,374,042

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 3,954,536 $ 489,894 $ (76,025) $ 4,368,405 

Business-type activities:  
Capital assets, not being depreciated      

Land $ 26,991 $ -    $ -     $ 26,991
Construction in progress 562,613 247,145 (46,299) 763,459

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 589,604 247,145 (46,299) 790,450 

Capital assets, being depreciated      
Buildings and improvements 14,400,035 46,299 -     14,446,334
Equipment 2,097,426 56,318 -     2,153,744

Total capital assets, being depreciated 16,497,461 102,617 -     16,600,078 
Less: accumulated depreciation (5,029,162) (492,365) -      (5,521,527)
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 11,468,299 (389,748) -     11,078,551 

Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 12,057,903 $ (142,603) $ (46,299) $ 11,869,001 
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(6) Capital Assets: (Continued) 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs as follows: 

Governmental activities:  
General governmental $ 21,622
Community development 7,102
Public safety 94,907
Parks and recreation 157,691
Public works 68,592

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 349,914

 
Business-type activities: 

Water and sewer $ 400,374
Solid waste 91,991

Total depreciation expense - business-type activities $ 492,365

(7) Long-Term Debt: 

A summary of the long-term liability transactions for the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 
2014, is as follows: 

 
Beginning 
Balance Additions Deletions 

Ending 
Balance 

Due Within 
One Year 

Governmental activities:   
Notes and bonds payable $ 320,000 $ 1,060,862 $ -    $ 1,380,862 $ 1,380,862
Net OPEB obligation -    10,030 -    10,030 -    
Compensated absences 32,051 92,450 (51,418) 73,083 18,271

Governmental activities –  
Total long-term liabilities $ 352,051 $ 1,163,342 $ (51,418) $ 1,463,975 $ 1,399,133 

Business-type activities:   
Long-term debt:  

Notes and bonds payable $ 2,754,567 $ 711,664 $ (192,606) $ 3,273,625 $ 1,039,595
Notes payable 732,335 71,554 (50,283) 753,606 51,598
  Total long-term debt, net 3,486,902 783,218 (242,889) 4,027,231 1,091,193
Net OPEB obligation -    3,970 -    3,970 -    
Compensated absences 14,568 34,653 (23,577) 25,644 6,411

Business-type activities –  
Total long-term liabilities $ 3,501,470 $ 821,841 $ (266,466) $ 4,056,845 $ 1,097,604 
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(7)  Long-Term Debt: (Continued) 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the City’s revenue bonds and notes are as follows: 

Year Ending 
September 30, 

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities  

Principal Interest Principal Interest Total

2015 $ 1,380,862 $ 37,130 $ 1,091,193 $ 129,211 $ 2,638,396
2016 -     -    179,169 112,319 291,488
2017 -     -    144,861 105,570 250,431
2018 -     -    149,155 99,998 249,153
2019 -     -    153,590 94,249 247,839

2020-2024 -     -    946,413 378,304 1,324,717
2025-2029 -     -    816,299 215,129 1,031,428
2030-2034 -     -    489,707 64,600 554,307
2035-2039 -     -    56,844 3,836 60,680

Total $ 1,380,862 $ 37,130 $ 4,027,231 $ 1,203,216 $ 6,648,439

Notes and bonds payable in the City’s governmental activities at September 30, 2014, are comprised of 
the following obligations: 

Promissory note in the original amount of $320,000, payable to M&M 
Development of Flagler County on December 30, 2013 including interest 
at 0%, office unites pledged as security. $ 320,000 

Line of credit with bank, $3,000,000 for various capital projects. Secured by 
new City Hall complex. Payments due including interest at 3.35% and final 
maturity on October 31, 2015. 1,060,862 

Total long-term debt, governmental activities $ 1,380,862

Notes payable in the City’s business-type activities at September 30, 2014, are comprised of the following 
obligations: 

Water and Sewer Bonds, in the original amount of $1,988,300, dated 
October 6, 1992; due serially to September 1, 2032 with interest at 5 % 
payable annually. Repayment of year-end loan balance is secured by a 
pledge of Water and Sewer Utility Revenues. $ 1,378,000 

Water and Sewer Bonds, in the original amount of $1,080,000, dated March 
10, 1997; due serially to September 1, 2036 with interest at 4.5% payable 
annually. Repayment of year-end loan balance is secured by a pledge of 
Water and Sewer Utility Revenues. 625,264 

State Revolving Fund note payable, dated July 1, 2005, due in semiannual 
payments of $35,363, including interest at 2.6% through December 15, 
2025. Repayment of loan balance is secured by a pledge of Water & Sewer 
Utility revenues.  682,052 

 Note payable to Florida Department of Transportation, in the original 
amount of $529,694, unsecured and noninterest bearing.  Flagler County 
made a $264,647 payment in 2010, remaining payments will begin October 
15, 2020 with ten annual payments of $26,505. 265,047 

Line of credit with bank, $3,000,000 for various capital projects.  The line is 
unsecured and bears interest at 3.35% with a final maturity date of October 
31, 2015. 130,000 

Interim line of credit from bank for Federal Revolving Fund loan, dated June 
26, 2014, with interest-only payments due at 2.04% quarterly beginning 
July 1, 2014, and final maturity of full principal balance due  June 26, 
2017. Amounts secured by future revenues and capital improvements 
funded by the loan. 711,664 
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(7)  Long-Term Debt: (Continued) 

State Revolving Fund note payable, dated November 19, 2012, due in 
semiannual payments of $4,777 once the full amount has been drawn, 
including interest at 2.12% through June 15, 2035. Repayment of loan 
balance is secured by a pledge of Water & Sewer Utility revenues. 71,554 

Note payable to bank, dated March 15, 2011, original principal amount of 
$557,000, payable in quarterly installments of $31,371, including interest 
at 3.35% beginning July 1, 2011. Repayment of the loan balance is secured 
by a pledge of net revenues from solid waste operations. 163,650 

Total long-term debt, business-type activities 
 

$ 4,027,231

(8) Interfund Loans, Advances, Fees and Transfers: 

The outstanding balances between funds are short-term loans to cover short-term cash flow needs and 
expected to be repaid in full over the course of the next fiscal year. Individual fund interfund receivables 
and payables for the primary government at September 30, 2014, are comprised of the following: 

 
Due From 

Other Funds 
Due to Other 

Funds 

Governmental Activities:  
General Fund:  

Bunnell CRA Fund $ -     $ 3,442
Capital Projects Fund 77,797 -    
Water and Sewer Fund 117,429 -    
Solid Waste Fund 74,980 -    

Bunnell CRA Fund:  
General Fund 3,442 -    

Capital Projects Fund:  
General Fund -     77,797

 273,648 81,239
Business-Type Activities:  

Water and Sewer Fund:  
General Fund -     117,429
Solid Waste Fund 156,454 -    

Solid Waste Fund:  
General Fund -     74,980
Water and Sewer Fund -     156,454

 156,454 348,863

Total – All Funds $ 430,102 $ 430,102

For the year ended September 30, 2014, interfund transfers consisted of the following: 

 Transfer From Transfer To

Governmental Activities  
General Fund:  
Capital Projects Fund $ 150,000 $ -     
Bunnell CRA Fund -      3,898

Bunnell CRA Fund:  
General Fund 3,898 -     

Capital Projects Fund:  
General Fund -      150,000

Totals – All Funds $ 153,898 $ 153,898 

The transfer from the General Fund to the Bunnell CRA Fund represents payments to cover the cost of 
operations for the CRA. The transfer from the Capital Projects Fund to the General Fund represents 
funding of capital expenditures. 
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(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: 

A. Plan Descriptions: 

Florida Retirement System 

As of June 1, 2014, the City began participating in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), a multiple-
employer, cost sharing defined public employee retirement system which covers all of the City’s full-time 
employees. The System is a noncontributory retirement plan, administered by the State of Florida, 
Department of Administration, Division of Retirement to provide retirement and survivor benefits to 
participating public employees. Chapter 121, Florida Statutes, establishes the authority for participant 
eligibility, contribution requirements, vesting eligibility and benefit provisions.  

The Pension Plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements, 10-year 
historical trend information, and other required supplementary information. That report may be obtained 
by calling (850) 907-6500 or by writing to: 

State of Florida Department of Administration 
Division of Retirement 
P.O. Box 9000 
Tallahassee, FL 32315-9000 

The Pension Plan provides vesting of benefits after six years of creditable service. Regular members are 
eligible for normal retirement after six years of service and attaining age 62, or 30 years of service 
regardless of age. Early retirement may be taken any time after completing six years of service, however, 
there is a 5% benefit reduction for each year prior to normal retirement. Regular members who joined the 
Pension Plan on or after July 1, 2011, are subject to vesting of benefits after eight years of creditable 
service and eligible for normal retirement after eight years of service and attaining age 65, or 33 years of 
service regardless of age. 

The City participates in certain classes of FRS membership. Each class has descriptions and contribution 
rates in effect at September 30, 2014, as follows (contribution rates are in agreement with the actuarially 
determined rates): 

FRS Membership Plan & Class 

Employee 
Contribution 

Rate 

Employer 
Contribution 

Rate 

Total 
Contribution 

Rate 

Regular Class 3.00% 6.95% 9.95%
Special Risk 3.00% 19.06% 22.06%
Senior Management 3.00% 18.31% 21.31%
Elected Officials 3.00% 33.03% 36.03%
Elected Officials Not Eligible for FRS 0.00% 24.56% 24.56%

Actual contributions made for City employees participating in FRS, including those allocated to the 
Bunnell Flagler County Utility, for the each of last three fiscal years ended September 30 were as follows: 

 2014 2013 2012 

Payroll – Covered Employees $   2,349,609 $    2,277,060 $    1,937,635
City Contributions 233,529 265,519 148,249
Employee Contributions 69,549 68,190 58,427
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

City of Bunnell, Florida Firefighters’ Retirement System 

The City maintains one single-employer defined benefit pension plan for eligible firefighters, the City of 
Bunnell Florida Firefighters’ Retirement System Trust Fund (the Plan), which is administered by the 
Firefighters’ Retirement Board (the Board) and covers all eligible firefighters. The Board is comprised of 
2 members of the City Commission, 2 participants of the Plan, and a fifth member as elected by the other 
four members and appointed by the City Commission. 

The Plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits to plan participants and beneficiaries. Cost of 
living adjustments are provided to retirees and beneficiaries at the discretion of the City Commission. 
Benefits vest after ten years of full-time employment. The Retirement Board has contracted with an 
actuary to provide an actuarial valuation of each plan as of October 1 of each year. Current membership 
in the Plan was composed of the following at October 1, 2014: 

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 2 
Active participants 20 

Total current membership 22 

Employees attaining the age of 52 and the completion of 10 years of credited service or attaining the age 
of 52 and the completion of 10 years of credited service and active employees becoming disabled are 
entitled to annual benefits of 3% of their average final compensation for each year of credited service. 
Normal retirement benefits are payable for life and cease upon death with a guaranteed benefit period of 
120 months. In the line of duty disability benefits are equal to at least 42% of average final compensation. 
Non-service incurred disability benefits are only payable to participants with 10 or more years of credited 
service and are equal to minimum benefit of 25% of average final compensation. 

The financial statements of the Plan are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Plan member 
contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. The government’s 
contributions are recognized when due and a formal commitment to provide the contributions has been 
made. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the 
plan. All plan investments are reported at fair value. Separate financial statements have not been prepared 
for the Plan. 

B. Funding Policy and Annual Pension Cost: 

Defined benefit retirement plan—The participant contribution rates for the Plan are established by and 
may be amended by the City Commission. The City’s annual required contribution for the current year 
was determined as part of the October 1, 2013 actuarial valuations. The City is required under the Florida 
Protection of Public Employee Retirement Benefits Act to contribute a payment which represents annual 
normal cost plus amortization of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability over various periods as 
prescribed by law. The City’s contributions (and if applicable, any liquidations of a net pension 
obligation) to the Plan are funded by the General Fund. 

The State of Florida also makes contributions to the Firefighters’ Retirement Plans in accordance with 
Chapter 175 of the Florida Statutes as amended by the State Legislature. This contribution by the State of 
Florida is first recognized as revenue in the General Fund before being transferred to the Pension Fund. 
The City’s actual annual contribution for the plan is determined by subtracting estimated employee 
contributions and actual State of Florida contributions from the total annual required contribution as 
determined by the actuary.  

Costs incurred by each of the plans for administration of the plans, which includes legal and actuarial 
fees, trustee fees and investment advisory fees, are borne by the respective retirement plans and are 
included in the actuarial analysis of the required funding amounts. 
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

The annual pension cost for the current year and related information for the plan was as follows: 

Actuarial Valuation Date October 1, 2012 

Actuarial Cost Method
Aggregate, level 

dollar
Amortization Method N/A
Remaining Amortization Period N/A
Asset Valuation Method 4-year smoothed 
Actuarial Assumptions:
 Inflation N/A 
 Investment Rate of Return with Inflation 8.00% 
 Projected Salary Increases with Inflation 0.00% 
 Cost of Living Adjustments 0.00% 

The City’s annual pension cost and net pension obligation for the plan for the current year were: 

    

Firefighters’ 
Retirement 

System 
Trust Fund 

    
Annual Required Contribution $       12,935  
Interest on Net Pension Obligation (NPO) -      
Adjustment to Annual Required Contribution 1,035 
Annual Pension Cost 13,970 
City & State Contributions Made (13,970) 
Increase (Decrease) in NPO -     
Net Pension Obligation (Asset)
 (beginning of year) -     
Net Pension Obligation (Asset)
 (end of year) $              -     

C. Three-Year Trend Information: 

Plan 
Fiscal Year Ended 

September 30, 

Annual 
Pension Cost 

(APC) 

Percentage of 
APC 

Contributed 

Net Pension 
Obligation 

(Asset) 

2014 $ 13,970 100% $ 0 
2013 12,935 100% 0 
2012 13,272 100% 0 

It should be noted that the percent of Annual Pension Cost contributed is based upon actuarial 
calculations regarding the City’s and State’s contribution. The City’s contribution is dependent upon the 
estimated state contributions that are not known and received at the end of the fiscal year. The City has 
typically used the general fund to liquidate net pension obligations. 

Additional trend information related to the retirement plan is presented in the required supplementary 
information, as listed in the table of contents. The information is presented to enable the reader to assess 
the progress made by the City retirement plans in accumulating sufficient assets to pay retirement benefits 
as they become due. 

No actuarial accrued liability has been calculated for the Plan as the Plan utilizes the aggregate actuarial 
cost method.  
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

D. Net Pension Liability 

The components of the net pension liability of the Plan at September 30, 2014, were as follows: 

Total pension liability $ 573,676 
Plan fiduciary net position (528,068) 

Net pension liability $ 45,608 

Plan fiduciary net position as percentage of total 
pension liability 92.05% 

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2014 with a 
measurement date of September 30, 2014, using the following actuarial assumptions to all measurement 
periods. 

Inflation 3.00% 
Salary increases 0.00% 
Investment rate of return 8.00% 

 
Mortality rates for the Plan were based on the RP-2000 Combined Healthy – Sex Distinct Table. Based 
on a study of over 650 public safety funds, this table reflects a 10% margin for future mortality 
improvements. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
pension plan investment expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges 
are combined to produce the long term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates 
of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of 
arithmetic real rates of return for each major class included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation as 
of September 30, 2014, are summarized in the following table: 

Domestic equity 7.50%
International equity 8.50%
Broad Market Fixed Income 2.50%

Discount rate: 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for the pension plan was 8.00%. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed the plan member contributions will 
be made at the current contribution rate and that City contributions will be made at rates equal to the 
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those 
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected 
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability. 
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate: 

The following presents the net pension liability of the City calculated using the discount rate of 8.00%, as 
well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% 
lower (7.00%) or 1% higher (9.00%) than the current rate: 

City’s Net Pension Liability 
1% Decrease

7.00% 

Current 
Discount Rate 

8.00% 
1% Increase 

9.00% 

Firefighters’ Retirement System Trust Fund 131,711 45,608  (22,572)
 
 

For the year ended September 30, 2014, the annual-money weighted rate of return on Plan investments, 
net of pension plan investment expense was as follows: 

Annual money-weighted rate of return 6.66% 
 

The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, 
adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 

(10) Joint Venture: 

The City entered into an interlocal agreement with Flagler County, Florida (the County) on February 6, 
2013, to purchase and operate a potable water and sanitary wastewater utility system, (the Utility System) 
with the understanding that ownership and operation of the Utility System would be handled on a joint 
basis between the two parties. This joint venture, known as the Bunnell Flagler County Utility (the 
BFCU), purchased the assets of the existing water treatment plant on September 16, 2013 and received 
wastewater assets through a donation at the closing.  

The City and County have equally shared legal responsibility for all aspects of the Utility, to include but 
not limited to: meeting all financial, regulatory, environmental and liability requirements; providing water 
sewer and reuse service within the designated service area; and operating all other aspects of the Utility 
System, regardless of whichever party is authorized to act. 

The results of operations and cash flows are accounted for in total within the financial statement of the 
joint venture. The City’s interest in equity is reported in the City’s Water and Sewer Fund. As of 
September 30, 2014, the City’s investment gain in the joint venture was $210,668. Complete audited 
financial statements for the joint venture may be obtained from the County at: 

Flagler County Clerk of Court and Comptroller 
1769 East Moody Boulevard – Building #1,  
Bunnell FL 32110 
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(10) Joint Venture: (Continued) 

Summary financial statements of the BFCU as of and for the year ended September 30, 2014, were as 
follows: 

Statement of Net Position
September 30, 2014
 
Assets $       7,914,138 
Liabilities 7,492,802 
Net Position:  
   Net investment in capital assets 490,183 
   Unrestricted  (68,847) 
Total Net Position $          421,336 
  
  
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended September 30, 2014 
 

 

Revenues $       1,994,748 
Expenses (1,284,260) 
Operating income (loss) 710,488 
Nonoperating revenue (expenses), net (152,026) 
Change in net position 558,452 
Net position, September 30, 2013 (137,116) 
Net position, September 30, 2014 $          421,336 

As of and for the year ended September 30, 2014, the City’s portion of activity and net position in the 
BFCU was as follows: 

Investment in Joint Venture, September 30, 2013 $         (68,558) 
  Plus: City’s share of net loss for year 279,226 
City Investment in Joint Venture, September 30, 2014 $          210,668 

 

(11) Risk Management: 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the City carries commercial insurance. Settled 
claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. There were no 
significant reductions in coverage from the prior year. 

The City is engaged in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of its municipal affairs. In the opinion 
of the City’s legal counsel, no legal proceedings are pending which would have a material adverse effect 
on the financial position or results of operations of the City. 
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(12) Subsequent Events: 

Subsequent to year-end, the City has taken advantage of various opportunities to refinance debt at more 
favorable interest rates. A summary of these transactions follows. 

On May 21, 2015, the City Commission approved the issuance of the Water & Sewer Refunding Revenue 
Note, Series 2015, to refund the Series 1993 and Series 1997 Water & Sewer Revenue Bonds. 

In January 2015, the note payable to M&M Development (M&M) in the amount of $320,000 was 
forgiven in return for the related condominium units owned by the City in accordance with the terms of 
the original agreement with M&M. 

On May 20, 2015, the interim financing line of credit was paid off by the issuance of the Series 2015 
USDA Water & Sewer Revenue Bonds. 

On February 23, 2015, portions totaling $825,000 of the governmental activities capital improvement 
note payable were paid off with proceeds from the issuance of the Series 2015 Capital Improvement 
Revenue Note. 

(13) Recent Accounting Pronouncements: 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) has issued several pronouncements that have 
effective dates that may impact future financial statements. Listed below are pronouncements with 
required implementation dates effective for subsequent fiscal years that have not yet been implemented. 
Management has not currently determined what, if any, impact implementation of the following will have 
on the City’s financial statements: 

(a) GASB issued Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, in June 
2012, which replaces the requirements of GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions 
by State and Local Governmental Employers, and GASB 50, as they relate to governments 
that provide pensions through pension plans administered as trusts or similar arrangements that 
meet certain criteria. GASB 68 requires governments providing defined benefit pensions to 
recognize their long-term obligation for pension benefits as a liability for the first time, and to 
more comprehensively and comparably measure the annual costs of pension benefits. GASB 
68 also enhances accountability and transparency through revised and new note disclosures 
and required supplementary information. The provisions in GASB 68 are effective for fiscal 
years beginning after June 15, 2014, and will result in the net pension liability in Note (9) 
being recorded on the City’s statement of net position. 

(b) GASB issued Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals of Government 
Operations, in January 2013. GASB 69 is intended to improve accounting and financial 
reporting for U.S state and local governments combinations and disposals of government 
operations. Government combinations include mergers, acquisitions, and transfers of 
operations. A disposal of government operations can occur through a transfer to another 
government or sale. The requirements of GASB 69 are effective for periods beginning after 
December 15, 2013, and should be applied on a prospective basis. 

(c) GASB issued Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the 
Measurement Date, in November 2013. GASB 71 seeks to improve accounting and financial 
reporting by addressing an issue in GASB 68 concerning transaction provisions related to 
certain pension contributions made to defined benefit pension plans prior to implementation of 
GASB 68 by employers and nonemployer contributing entities. The provisions in GASB 68 
are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2014. 
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 CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 

 
 

Firefighters’ Retirement System Trust Fund 
 
Not required per paragraph 124 of GASB Statement No. 25, for plans utilizing the aggregate actuarial 
cost method. 

 
 

Other Post Employment Benefit Plan
Unfunded or Unfunded or

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial  (Assets in (Assets in Excess of)
Valuation Value of Accrued Liability Excess of) Funded Covered  AAL as a Percentage

Date Assets (AAL)--Entry Age AAL Ratio Payroll of Covered Payroll
  (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)

10/1/2014 $          - $        33,000 $      33,000 0.00% Not available N/A
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULES OF CONTRIBUTIONS FROM EMPLOYER AND 
OTHER CONTRIBUTING ENTITIES 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 
 

 
Firefighters’ Retirement System Trust Fund

Year Ended 
September 30 

Annual Required 
Contribution 

City
Contribution

State 
Contribution 

Percentage
Contribution

   
2005 $              10,076 $                   - $        10,076 100
2006 22,039 - 22,039 100
2007 19,437 - 19,437 100
2008 24,023 - 24,023 100
2009 17,539 - 17,539 100
2010 14,506 - 14,506 100
2011 12,857 - 12,857 100
2012 12,289 2,485 9,804 100
2013 15,131 3,839 11,292 100
2014 12,935 1,808 11,127 100

 
 

Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan
Year Ended 

September 30 
Annual Required 

Contribution
City

Contribution
Percentage 

Contribution 
  

2014 $                  14,000 $                -      0  
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULES OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 

 

 

Firefighters’ 
Retirement 

System 
Trust Fund 

Total Pension Liability  
Service cost $ 2,077 
Interest 42,984 
Employee contributions (13,229) 
Net change in total pension liability 31,832 
Total pension liability – beginning 541,844 

Total pension liability – ending (a) $ 573,676 

Total Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions – employer $ 10,006 
Contributions – state 3,964 

Contributions – employee 1,176 
Net investment income 32,838 
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee 

contributions  (13,229) 
Administrative expense (997) 
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 33,758 
Plan fiduciary net position – beginning 494,310 

Plan fiduciary net position – ending (b) $ 528,068 

Net pension liability – ending (a) - (b) $ 45,608 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total 
pension liability 92.05% 

Covered employee payroll $ 23,510 
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered 

employee payroll 193.99% 
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS 
FIREFIGHTERS’ RETIREMENT TRUST FUND 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 

 

Fiscal Year 

Actuarially 
Determined 

Contribution 
(ADC) 

Contributions 
in Relation to 

ADC 

Contribution 
Deficiency 
(Excess) 

Covered 
Payroll 

Contributions 
as Percentage 
of Employee 

Payroll 

    
2014 $ 13,970 $ 13,970 $ -    $ 23,510 59.42%

 

Notes to Schedule: 
 
Valuation Date: 10/01/2012
 
Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of October 1, one year prior to the end of the fiscal year 
in which contributions are reported. 
 
Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates: 
 
Funding Method: Current: Aggregate Method (Level Dollar)
Amortization Method Level Dollar
Remaining Amortization Period: 15 Years (as of 10/01/2012).
Asset Valuation Method: 
 

Each year, the prior actuarial value of assets is brought forward utilizing the 
historical geometric 4-year average market value returns, net of fees. It is 
possible that over time this technique will produce an insignificant bias above 
or below market value. 

Inflation: 3.0% per year.
Salary Increases: 0% per year. 
Interest Rate: 8.0% per year, compounded annually, net of investment-related expenses.
Payroll Growth: None. 
Ongoing Membership: In future years, there will be 10 Firefighters each year who meet the call 

requirements and receive credited service. 
Retirement Age: Age 52 and 10 years of service. Also, any member who has reached normal 

retirement is assumed to continue employment for one additional year. 
Early Retirement: Commencing at eligibility for Early Retirement, members are assumed to retire 

with an immediate benefit at the rate of 5% per year. 
Termination Rates: See table below.
Disability Rates See table below. It is assumed that 75% of disablements and active member 

deaths are service-related. 
Mortality: RP-2000 Table (without projection) – Sex Distinct. Disable lives are set 

forward 5 years. Based on a study of over 650 public safety funds, this table 
reflects a 10% margin for future mortality improvements. 

Other Information: Termination and Disability Rate Table.

 

 
 

Age 
% Terminating
During the Year 

% Becoming Disabled
During the Year 

 20 6.00% 0.03% 
 30 5.00% 0.04% 
 40 2.60% 0.07% 
 50 0.80% 0.18% 
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULES OF INVESTMENT RETURNS 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 

 

 

Firefighters’ 
Retirement 

System 
Trust Fund 

  
Annual Money-Weighted Rate of Return

Net of Investment Expense 6.66% 

 



Federal Agency / Pass-Through Entity / CFDA Contract /
Federal Program Number Grant Number Expenditures

FEDERAL AWARDS

U.S. Department of Labor
Indirect Programs:

Passed-through CareerSource Flagler Volusia:
WIA Adult Program 17.258 774-045 13,298$        

Total U.S. Department of Labor 13,298         

U.S. Department of Environmental Protection
Indirect Programs:

Passed-through Florida Department of Environmental Protection
Drinking Water State Revolving Funds 66.468 DW180540 71,555         

Total U.S. Department of Labor 71,555         

U.S. Department of Justice
Indirect Programs:

Passed-through Flagler County Sheriff's Office:
Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program 16.607 n/a 332              

Total U.S. Department of Justice 332              

U.S. Department of Agriculture
Direct:

Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural Communities 10.760 7691000513-101 711,664       
Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural Communities 10.760 n/a -              

Total Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural Communities 711,664       
Indirect Programs:

Passed-through Florida Cooperative Forestry Assistance:
Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant 10.664 n/a 5,000           

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 716,664       

Total Federal Awards 801,849$      

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

The accompanying notes to the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF 

FEDERAL AWARDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 

1. Basis of Presentation: 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards and state financial assistance includes the 
federal and state grant activity of the City of Bunnell, Florida (the City), and is presented on the modified 
accrual basis of accounting. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the 
requirements of OMB Circular A-133. Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule may differ 
from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic financial statements. 

2. Subrecipients: 

The City provided no federal awards to subrecipients during the year ended September 30, 2014. 
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 

A. Summary of Auditors’ Results:  

Financial Statements: 

 Type of audit report issued on the basic financial statements: Unmodified. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting: 

 Significant deficiencies related to internal control over financial reporting were disclosed by 
the audit of the basic financial statements, none of which was considered a material 
weakness. 

 No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements were disclosed during 
the audit. 

Federal Programs: 

Internal Control over Major Programs: 

 There were no material weaknesses related to internal control over compliance for major 
projects identified by the audit. 

 Type of report issued on compliance for each major program: Unmodified. 

 Major program identification: 

- CFDA Number 10.760 – Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural Communities 

 Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs was $300,000. 

 The City did not qualify as a low-risk auditee. 

B. Financial Statement Findings: 

2014-001 Recording of Solid Waste Fees and Utility Taxes 

Criteria: Charges for services revenues should be recognized in a consistent and equitable manner 
in the respective funds where revenues are earned, and interfund activity should be reconciled on a 
regular basis. 

Condition: The City’s process for recording operating revenues in the Water and Sewer and Solid 
Waste funds, and related public service tax revenue in the General fund is inconsistent. Solid waste 
revenues and general fund utility taxes are initially recorded at the gross amount billed, and all other 
activity is recorded in the Water and Sewer fund. Cash collections and adjustments must 
subsequently be allocated between the various funds via journal entry, rather than each being 
recorded independently in the same manner. Additionally, a significant journal entry was required to 
correct approximately $114,000 of net utility revenues (water and sewer, solid waste, and utility 
taxes) recorded in the improper funds. 

Cause: The City’s process for processing and recording utility revenues between the three funds is 
cumbersome and inconsistent, and the above discrepancies were not identified on a timely basis. 

Effect: If not reconciled appropriately, revenues and related activity could potentially be 
misallocated between the Water and Sewer, Solid Waste, and General fund. 
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Recommendation: Under the current processes, we recommend the revenue and bad debt activity 
between the three funds with revenue streams on utility bills be reconciled no less than monthly. In 
the long-term, to improve overall efficiency and effectiveness of the utility billing revenue cycle, we 
recommend the City establish a system whereby all utility revenue activity is tracked directly in the 
Water and Sewer, Solid Waste, and General fund. 

2014-002 Journal Entry Controls 

Criteria: An effective internal control structure over significant accounting transactions, such as 
journal entries, requires the review and/or authorization of transactions by an individual other than 
the preparer.   

Condition: Under the City’s current journal entry process, the Finance Director is responsible for 
initiating and posting general journal entries in the accounting system, and no formal procedures are 
in place related to the review and approval of journal entries. 

Cause: The City’s finance department has limited staffing levels and no policy has previously been 
established. 

Effect: Improper journal entries, whether due to error or fraud, could be entered into the system and 
go undetected for a substantial period of time.  

Recommendation: We recommend the City develop and implement a formal policy over journal 
entries to address the risk of a single user posting a journal entry without a review being performed 
by someone other than the preparer. We also recommend a retrospective review be performed of all 
journal entries on a monthly or other recurring basis by comparing a report of all entries entered into 
the system to documented entries to ensure all entries are properly documented and approved. 

2014-003 Review of Bad Debt and Uncollectible Accounts 

Criteria: Generally accepted accounting principles require accounts receivable, net of the allowance 
for doubtful accounts, to be recorded at the net amount management reasonably expects to collect of 
the total outstanding amount. 

Condition: Significant journal entries in the amounts of approximately $55,000 and $14,000 were 
required to record additional amounts in the allowance for doubtful accounts in the Water and Sewer 
and Solid Waste funds, respectively.  

Cause: As part of our testing over accounts receivable and the allowance for doubtful accounts, we 
noted a substantial increase in the net receivable balances. After inquiring of management, it was 
noted a detailed analysis of the allowance account had not been performed, and a substantial 
portions of the receivables were for old accounts with uncertain collectability. These accounts were 
not fully covered by the allowance for doubtful accounts already recorded, and journal entries, as 
outlined above, were required to adjust the allowance to a higher level. 

Effect: The absence of a sufficient analysis and adjustment to the allowance could result in a 
material misstatement of net accounts receivable. 

Recommendation: We recommend management perform a detailed analysis of all receivables in all 
funds at least annually to ensure all allowances for uncollectible amounts are adjusted as necessary 
to cover any accounts not expected to be collected. 

C. Federal Programs Findings and Questioned Costs: 

None. 

D. Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings:  

2013-001 Coding of Grants: Corrective action taken. 

2013-002 Bank Reconciliation Errors: Corrective action taken. 

E. Corrective Action Plan:  

See Management’s Response to Findings starting on page 62. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL 
PROGRAM AND REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Commission, and City Manager, 
 City of Bunnell, Florida: 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the City of Bunnell, Florida’s (the City) compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133 Compliance 
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City’s major federal programs for 
the year ended September 30, 2014. The City’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of 
auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  

Management’s Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants applicable to its major federal programs. 

Auditors’ Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City’s major federal programs 
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of 
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local 
Governments, and Non-profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal 
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City’s compliance 
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances.  

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance. 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the requirements referred to above that 
could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended 
September 30, 2014. 
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the City’s internal control over compliance with the types of 
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program as a basis for 
designing auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over 
compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
OMC Circular A-133. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
June 24, 2015 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT 
AUDITING STANDARDS  

To the Honorable Mayor, City Commission, and City Manager, 
 City of Bunnell, Florida: 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Bunnell, Florida, (the City) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2014, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and 
have issued our report thereon dated June 24, 2015.  

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City's internal control over financial reporting 
(internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the 
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during 
our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider 
to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. We did 
identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs as findings 2014-001, 2014-002, and 2014-003, that we consider to be significant 
deficiencies. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

We noted certain matters that we reported to the City Commission and management of the City in a 
separate letter dated June 24, 2015. 

City of Bunnell, Florida’s Response to Findings 

The City’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described starting on page 62. The City’s 
response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, 
accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
June 24, 2015 



 

 
- 57 - 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ MANAGEMENT LETTER REQUIRED 
BY CHAPTER 10.550, RULES OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Commission, and City Manager, 
 City of Bunnell, Florida: 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the basic financial statements of City of Bunnell, Florida (the City), as of and for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2014, and have issued our report thereon dated June 24, 2015. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local 
Governments, and Non-profit Organizations, and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor General.  

Other Reports and Schedule 

We have issued our Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards; Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major 
Federal Program and  Report on Internal Control over Compliance in Accordance with OMB Circular A-
133; Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs; and Independent Accountants’ Examination Report on 
an examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, Section 601, regarding 
compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General. Disclosures 
in those reports and schedule, which are dated June 24, 2015, should be considered in conjunction with 
this management letter. 

Prior Audit Findings 

Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not corrective 
actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial 
audit report. No findings or recommendations remain uncorrected from the second preceding fiscal year. 
The following summarizes the status of prior year findings and recommendations: 

Comments 2013-001 through 2013-002– See Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs. 

Official Title and Legal Authority 

Section 10.554 (1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal 
authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed in this 
management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The legal authority for the 
primary government of the reporting entity is disclosed in Note 1 of the basic financial statements. 
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Financial Condition 

Section 10.554(1)(i)5.a., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we report the results of our 
determination as to whether or not the City has met one or more of the conditions described in Section 
218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and identification of the specific conditions met. In connection with our 
audit, we determined that the City did not meet any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), 
Florida Statutes.  

Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.c. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied financial 
condition assessment procedures. It is management’s responsibility to monitor the City’s financial 
condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on representations made by 
management and the review of financial information provided by same. In connection with these 
procedures, we noted the following: 

2014-004 Unfavorable Financial Condition Rating and Fund  Balance Policy – As part of 
applying financial condition assessment procedures, we noted the City’s overall rating – which can 
be identified as favorable, inconclusive, or unfavorable – to be unfavorable. This rating was 
primarily a result of a substantial negative trend in fund balance in the City’s general fund, where 
we noted a substantial decrease in recent years, from approximately $1.7 million at September 30, 
2012, to approximately $536,000 at September 30, 2014. Negative trends were also observed in the 
general fund with regard to working capital, and in the total net position of governmental activities. 
We also noted no policy to be in place related to minimum fund balances. To help provide a 
baseline level in the budgetary process and in an effort to resolve the unfavorable financial 
condition rating, we recommend the City establish a formal fund balance policy which identifies a 
minimum fund balance to be carried in the general fund. This is frequently expressed as a 
percentage of annual recurring revenues or expenditures. 

Annual Financial Report 

Section 10.554(1)(i)5.b., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we report the results of our 
determination as to whether the annual financial report for the City for the fiscal year ended September 
30, 2014, filed with the Florida Department of Financial Services pursuant to Section 218.32(1)(a), 
Florida Statutes, is in agreement with the annual financial audit report for the fiscal year ended September 
30, 2014. In connection with our audit, we determined that these two reports were in agreement. 

Other Matters 

Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the management letter 
any recommendations to improve financial management. In connection with our audit, we noted the 
following recommendations: 

2014-005 Pooled Cash Accounting – During our analysis of the City’s bank accounts, we noted 
the City maintains a significant number of separate physical bank accounts for different funds 
and/or purposes in lieu of a single-account, pooled cash concept. To improve the overall efficiency 
and effectiveness of cash controls and processes, we recommend the City consider utilizing pooled 
cash accounting for items not required to be held in separate accounts. 

2014-006 Payroll Segregation of Duties – Within the City’s payroll system, the Finance Director, 
Finance Assistant, and Human Resources (HR) Officer each have access rights to enter new 
employee information and post changes to employee information. Additionally, new information is 
entered into the system by the HR Officer without a second review. To segregate the HR and 
payroll functions and minimize the risk of unauthorized changes or errors in payroll data and pay 
rates, we recommend system records for all new employees be reviewed by a second individual. 
We also recommend the HR Officer be assigned the sole responsibility of entering pay rates and 
modifications into the system. 

2014-007 Journal Entry Documentation – We noted the majority of the journal entries recorded 
during the year did not have documentation to support the nature and reasonableness of the 
respective entry. While a corrective procedure was put into place shortly after year-end whereby all 
entries have supporting documentation attached in the accounting system, we recommend the City 
review and update its policies and procedures to require supporting documentation be established 
and maintained for all journal entries. 
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2014-008 Tracking of Consumable Inventory – The City has no formal system in place related to 
the recording and tracking of consumable inventory. For the City’s fuel and any other consumable 
inventory, we recommend a tracking process be designed and implemented to ensure inventory is 
properly tracked to minimize the risk of misappropriation and ensure financial records 
appropriately report the balance of inventory on hand. 

2014-009 Capital Asset Inventory – The City has not performed a detailed capital asset inventory 
in a number of years. To ensure all capital assets are properly recorded and tracked, and all assets 
disposed of have been properly removed from the City’s financial records, we recommend the City 
perform a capital asset inventory and establish a formal policy for such procedures to be performed 
on a periodic basis in the future. 

2014-010 Fuel Tax Returns – During our audit, we noted the City has historically not filed fuel tax 
returns with the state. Fuel tax returns can be filed to receive monies back for gas taxes paid on fuel 
which the City did not use on roads, but rather for heavy equipment, etc. As this results in no 
additional cost and could result in certain monies being refunded to the City on a regular basis, we 
recommend the City institute a process to ensure fuel tax returns are prepared and submitted to the 
state on a regular basis. 

2014-011 Utility Billing Adjustments – Current procedures require all credit memos and utility 
bill adjustments be approved by a supervisor. During our audit, we noted these procedures and 
controls have not been consistently followed. To minimize the risk of unauthorized and/or 
erroneous adjustments posting to customer accounts, we recommend all adjustments to utility 
accounts be approved by a supervisor or another individual independent of the preparer prior to 
issuance. 

2014-012 Customer Invoicing – We noted certain solid waste customers have occasionally been 
manually invoiced for one-time services, and these one-time transactions have not been recorded 
until paid, resulting in tracking and timing issues, as well as an increased risk of misappropriation. 
We recommend this process be updated to only use automated, system-generated invoices, and, 
should it remain necessary to occasionally create a manual invoice, for formal procedures to be 
established related to the creation, approval, and tracking of such invoices. 

2014-013 Recording of Net Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Liability – Prior to the 
current year, we noted the City did not perform an actuarial valuation and/or record a liability for 
other post-employment benefits (OPEB) on the City’s financial statements, as is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). While this was identified by the current 
finance director and an actuary was engaged in the current year to calculate the liability, we 
recommend the City and finance personnel continue to stay abreast of future developments in 
accounting standards to ensure the City is compliant with required changes in accounting and 
financial reporting. 

2014-014 User Access Rights – We recommend a review of user access rights within the 
accounting system be performed, and unnecessary and/or excessive access rights be limited and 
correlate with each individual’s responsibilities. During our audit, we noted that the Finance 
Director, Finance Assistant, and IT Director had unlimited rights and access to the system, 
including the ability to create new users and change system access levels of existing users. To 
establish stronger overall controls and limit the potential for unauthorized changes, we recommend 
full access be given to only one key user and access for other users be limited areas needed to 
perform their job responsibilities. 

2014-015 Tracking of Electronic Funds Transfers – During our audit, we noted the City makes 
some payments via electronic funds transfer (EFT) in place of physical checks, primarily as a 
means of increased efficiency. Currently, all such transfers are recorded in the general ledger as 
journal entries, and no specific tracking mechanism is in place for EFT transactions. Due to the 
high-risk nature of such transactions and to establish an improved tracking mechanism and audit 
trail, we recommend all EFT transfers be recorded in the accounting system as an accounts payable 
check for which a separate numbering sequence can be established. 

Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, 
that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which warrants the attention of 
those charged with governance. In connection with our audit, we did not have any such findings. 
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Purpose of this Letter 

Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor 
General, Federal and State granting agencies, the City Commission, management, and others within the 
City and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
June 24, 2015 
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ EXAMINATION REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Commission, and City Manager, 
  City of Bunnell, Florida 

We have examined the City of Bunnell, Florida’s (the City) compliance with Section 218.415, Florida 
Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies, for the year ended September 30, 2014. Management is 
responsible for the City’s compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the City’s compliance based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a test basis, evidence 
about the City’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the City’s compliance with 
specified requirements. 

In our opinion, the City of Bunnell, Florida complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned 
requirements for the year ended September 30, 2014. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
June 24, 2015 



     
 

The City of Bunnell is an Equal Opportunity Service Provider. 
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CATHERINE D. ROBINSON 
MAYOR 

 
JOHN ROGERS 
VICE-MAYOR 

 
LAWRENCE WILLIAMS 

CITY MANAGER  
 

 
Crossroads of Flagler County

COMMISSIONERS:
 

ELBERT TUCKER 
 

BILL BAXLEY 
 

BONITA ROBINSON 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSE TO FINDINGS 

 
June 24, 2015 
 
 
2014-001 Recording of Solid Waste Fees and Utility Taxes 
 
The City will implement changes to the revenue recorded by the Utility Billing system such that revenues 
are recorded in the proper fund.  In addition monthly reconciliations will be performed. 
 
2014-002 Journal Entry Controls 
 
The City will develop a formal journal entry processing policy that includes a review by someone other 
than the preparer.  Also the City will perform a retrospective review of previous journal entries. 
 
2014-003 Review of Bad Debt and Uncollectible Accounts 
 
The City will perform a comprehensive review of all accounts receivable and prepare a write off of 
uncollectible accounts.  In addition the City will establish a policy to routinely review aged accounts to 
determine the reasonable amount that is expected to be collected. 
 
2014-004 Unfavorable Financial Condition Rating and Fund Balance Policy 
 
The City will establish a formal fund balance policy.  Steps have already been taken in the fiscal year 
2015 budget to improve the City’s financial condition.  Significant budget cuts were enacted. 
Management is closely monitoring financial activity to affect positive change to the City’s fund balance 
reserves. 
 
2014-005 Pooled Cash Accounting 
 
The City has already started working toward establishing a pooled cash methodology for cash assets.  
 
2014-006 Payroll Segregation of Duties 
 
The City will undertake a comprehensive review of security access to the financial system to ensure 
segregation of duties such that one person cannot enter a new employee and generate payroll activities. In 
addition the City will establish additional segregation of duties between the HR and Payroll functions. 
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2014-007 Journal Entry Documentation 
 
As noted the City has already taken steps to ensure documentation for journal entries are attached on-line 
to the respective entry. The requirement to include adequate documentation will be included in the journal 
entry processing policy being developed for comment 2014-002. 
 
2014-008 Tracking of Consumable Inventory 
 
The City will implement a system to track consumable inventories. 
 
2014-009 Fixed Asset Inventory 
 
The City will perform a fixed asset inventory and develop a formal policy to routinely perform the fixed 
asset inventory. 
 
2014-010 Fuel Tax Return 
 
The City will begin filing fuel tax returns. 
 
2014-011 Utility Billing Adjustments 
 
The City will develop a formal policy for utility billing adjustments that includes a review independent of 
the preparer.  In addition a routine report of adjustments made will be reviewed by the City Manager. 
 
2014-012 Customer Invoicing 
 
All future solid waste invoices will be issued through the Utility Billing System. 
 
2014-013 Recording of Net Other Post-Employment benefits (OPEB) Liability 
 
The City will provide Executive and Financial Management with training opportunities to ensure future 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and other requirements are identified for 
implementation by the City. 
 
2014-014 User Access Rights 
 
The City will complete a comprehensive review of all financial system user security rights and limit full 
system access to the IT Director.  Additional restrictions and limitations will be place on users based on 
their job functions and a review of the best practices for internal control. 
 
2014-015 Tracking of Electronic Funds Transfers 
 
The City will implement processing Electronic Funds Transfers payments through the Accounts Payable 
system. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Larry Williams 
City Manager 
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City of Bunnell, Florida 

Agenda Item No. C-4. 
 

Document Date:   7/2/2014 Amount: $  

Department: City Manager - Larry Williams Account #:  

Subject: Seeking approval for an Employee Recognition Program to begin October 1, 2016 

Attachments: 
Please number items as 

they will appear on the 

agenda. 

Employee Recognition Plan 

Agenda Section: C. Consent Agenda 

Summary/Highlights:   Introducing an Employee Recognition Program based on years of service. 

Background: Recognize the need to have a program that would recognize employees who have had 

sustainability with the City. 

  

Finance Department Review/Recommendation:  Recommend approval.  Each recognized employee’s 

department would fund awards. 

 

 
 

Approver Name: Approval Status: Date: 

 

Stella Gurnee, Finance Director  Approved 7/1/2015 

Sandra Bolser, CMC, City Clerk Approved for the 2015 07 13 Agenda 7/1/2015 
 

Staff Recommendation:   Approve Employee Recognition Plan Program 

 

 

City Attorney Review: N/A 

 

 



EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION 

5, 10, 15, 20  YEARS ETC. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  IN RECOGNITION OF EMPLOYEE SUSTAINABILITY AND 

EMPLOYEE ACHIEVEMENT THERE SHALL BE AN ANNUAL EMPLOYEE LUNCHEON 

CATERED BY A LOCAL BUNNELL BUSINESS. EMPLOYEE’S WHO HAVE ACHIEVED 

A 5 YEAR PLATEAU IN THEIR TENURE WITH THE CITY SHALL BE INVITED AS WELL 

AS THE MAYOR, COMMISSIONERS, THE CITY MANAGER AND THE EMPLOYEE’S 

SUPERVISOR.  

 EMPLOYEE SHALL BE PRESENTED WITH EITHER A MONETARY BONUS OR A GIFT 

CARD TO WAL-MART, TARGET, PUBLIX ETC. (MAYBE ASK THE EMPLOYEE 

WHICH THEY WOULD PREFER) TO BE DETERMINED BY THE CITY MANAGER. 

 

5 YEARS: $25.00 

10 YEARS: $ 50.00 

15 YEARS: $ 75.00 

20YEARS: $ 100.00 

25 YEARS: $125.00 

30 YEARS: $150.00 

35 YEARS: $175.00 

40 YEARS: $200.00 

CAP OFF BONUS AT $200.00 

 

ALL MONIES FOR THE LUNCHEON AND BONUSES WILL COME FROM THE 

INDIVIDUAL DEPARTMENTAL BUDGET OF THE EMPLOYEE. 



G r i f f  A n d e r s o n :  1 5  y e a r s   $ 7 5 . 0 0  

M i c k  C u t h b e r t s o n :  1 0  y e a r s  $ 5 0 . 0 0  

A r m a n d o  D e O l i v e i r a :  8  y e a r s  $ 2 5 . 0 0  

B i l l  G r e e n :  6  y e a r s $ 2 5 . 0 0  

C h r i s t i n e  H a n c o c k :  6  y e a r s  $ 2 5 . 0 0  

K e n  H a r r i s :  8  y e a r s  $ 2 5 . 0 0  

D a r r e l l  J o n e s :  5  y e a r s  $ 2 5 . 0 0  

R o n n i e  J o n e s :  5  y e a r s  $ 2 5 . 0 0  

L a u r a  K a y l o r :  9  y e a r s  $ 2 5 . 0 0  

P e r r y  M i t r a n o :  5  y e a r s  $ 2 5 . 0 0  

M a t t  M o r t i m e r :  1 0  y e a r s  $ 5 0 . 0 0  

C h e t  T u r n e r : 2 0  y e a r s  $ 1 0 0 . 0 0  

C h r i s  W o l f l e  7  y e a r s  $ 2 5 . 0 0  

 

T o t a l  i n  G i f t  c a r d s  f o r  f i r s t  r e c o g n i t i o n  y e a r :  $ 5 0 0 . 0 0  
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City of Bunnell, Florida 

Agenda Item No. E-1 
 

Document Date:   6/17/2015 Amount:  

Department: Community Development Department Account #:  

Subject: Ordinance 2015-07 Voluntarily Annexing ±5.0 Acres of Property located in 

Unincorporated Flagler County.  – First Reading 

Attachments: 
Please number items as 

they will appear on the 

agenda. 

1. Proposed Ordinance. 

2. Location Map. 

Agenda Section: E. Ordinance 

Summary/Highlights:  

This is a request to voluntarily annex ±5.0 acres of property located in Unincorporated Flagler County. 
 

Background:  

The applicants, David and Cindy Rainey, are the owners of approximately 5 acres of property which 

are currently located in Unincorporated Flagler County.  The property is located south of East Twin 

Lakes Road and west of US 1 South. 

 

The property currently has the Flagler County land use designation of Residential Low Density Rural 

Estate and the Flagler County zoning designation of R-1, Rural Residential District. 

 

The property is contiguous to the City along the eastern property line.   

 

At this time, the property is vacant.   

 

The applicant can further explain the nature this request. 
  

 

Approver Name: Approval Status: Date: 

 

Sandra Bolser, CMC, City Clerk Approved for the 2015 07 13 Agenda 7/2/2015 
 

Staff Recommendation:    

Approval of Ordinance 2015-07 Voluntarily Annexing ±5.0 Acres of Property located in 

Unincorporated Flagler County.  – First Reading 
 

City Attorney Review: Reviewed and approved. 
 

 



 

Ordinance 2015-07 

City of Bunnell, FL 

1 

ORDINANCE 2015-07 

      
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA, ANNEXING 

BY VOLUNTARY PETITION CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY OWNED BY 

DAVID AND CINDY RAINEY (GENERALLY TAX PARCEL 

IDENTIFICATION NUMBER 21-13-31-0650-000D0-0051) LOCATED 

CONTIGUOUS TO THE CITY OF BUNNELL IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

THE VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION PROVISIONS OF SECTION 171.044, 

FLORIDA STATUTES, AND OTHER CONTROLLING LAW; 

REDEFINING THE BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY OF BUNNELL TO 

INCLUDE SAID PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR FINDINGS; 

PROVIDING FOR CONDITIONS; DIRECTING THE CITY CLERK TO 

RECORD THE ORDINANCE WITH THE CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT 

COURT, WITH THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE OF FLAGLER 

COUNTY AND WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF STATE; PROVIDING 

FOR LEGAL DESCRIPTION AND A MAP; REPEALING ALL 

ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR NON-CODIFICATION AND THE 

TAKING OF ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIONS AND PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

 

Whereas, David and Cindy Rainey are hereby determined to be the fee simple title owners of the 

real property described below; and  

 

Whereas, David and Cindy Rainey petitioned, pursuant to Section 171.044, Florida Statutes, for 

voluntary annexation of said property into the municipal limits of the City of Bunnell which 

property totals approximately 5 acres in size and is addressed as 80 East Twin Lakes Road;  and 

 

Whereas, David and Cindy Rainey are the fee simple title owners of the property being 

described by Tax Identification Parcel Number as follows: 

 Tax Identification Parcel Number                   Owner 

 21-13-31-0650-000D0-0051   David and Cindy Rainey 

 

; and 

  

Whereas, City staff, on June 18, 2015, have reviewed and recommended approval of the 

annexation of said properties to the City Commission of the City of Bunnell and has 

accomplished all actions required under the Code of Ordinances of the City of Bunnell and State 

law; and 

 

Whereas, the City Commission, upon the recommendation of City staff and the City Attorney, 

has determined that all of the property which is proposed to be annexed into the City of Bunnell 

is within an unincorporated area of Flagler County, is reasonably compact and contiguous to the 

corporate areas of the City of Bunnell, Florida and it is further determined that the annexation of 

said property will not result in the creation of any enclave, and it is further determined that the 
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property otherwise fully complies with the requirements of State law; and 

 

Whereas, the City Commission of the City of Bunnell, Florida has taken all actions in 

accordance with the requirements and procedures mandated by State law; and 

 

Whereas, the City Commission of the City of Bunnell, Florida hereby determines that it is to the 

advantage of the City of Bunnell and in the best interests of the citizens of the City of Bunnell to 

annex the afore described property; and 

 

Whereas, the provisions of Section 166.031(3), Florida Statutes, provide that a municipality 

may, by ordinance and without referendum, redefine its boundaries to include only those lands 

previously annexed and shall file said redefinition with the Florida Department of State; and 

 

Whereas, the provisions of Section 171.091, Florida Statutes, provide as follows: 

Recording.—Any change in the municipal boundaries through annexation or 

contraction shall revise the charter boundary article and shall be filed as a revision 

of the charter with the Department of State within 30 days. A copy of such 

revision must be submitted to the Office of Economic and Demographic Research 

along with a statement specifying the population census effect and the affected 

land area. 

 

; and 

 

Whereas, the metes and bounds legal description and the map attached hereto Exhibits “A” and 

“B” shows, describes, and depicts the property which is hereby annexed into the City of Bunnell. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Legislative and Administrative Findings/Annexation of Properties. 

(a) The recitals set forth above in the “whereas clauses” are hereby adopted as legislative 

findings of the City Commission of the City of Bunnell.  

(b) The property that is the subject of this Ordinance consists of the following parcels of land 

assigned the Tax Identification Parcel Numbers set forth above and being specifically described 

in Exhibits “A” and “B”, said properties being situated in Flagler County, Florida, and said 

properties are hereby annexed into and are hereby made a part of the City of Bunnell, Florida 

pursuant to the voluntary annexation provisions of Section 171.044, Florida Statutes, and other 

controlling law.   

   

Section 2. Effect of Annexation.  

Upon this Ordinance becoming effective, the property owners of the said property shall be 

entitled to all the rights and privileges and immunities as are from time-to-time granted to 

property owners of the City of Bunnell, Florida as further provided in Chapter 171, Florida 

Statutes, and shall further be subject to the responsibilities of ownership as may from time-to-

time be determined by the governing authority of the City of Bunnell, Florida and the provisions 

of said Chapter 171, Florida Statutes. 
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Section 3. Administrative Actions.  
(a) Within seven (7) days of the adoption of this Ordinance, the City Clerk shall file a copy of 

said Ordinance with the Clerk of the Court (Land Records/Recording), with the Chief 

Administrative Officer of Flagler County (the County Manager), with the Florida Department of 

State, and with such other agencies and entities as may be required by law or otherwise desirable. 

(b) The City Manager, or designees within City management staff, shall ensure that the property 

annexed by this Ordinance is incorporated into the City of Bunnell Comprehensive Plan, the 

Official Zoning Map of the City of Bunnell in an expeditious manner and the map of the City 

Limits of the City of Bunnell. 

(c) The City Manager, or designees, are hereby authorized and directed to legally describe and 

map the existing City Limits of the City of Bunnell and to take any and all appropriate actions or 

propose actions to the City Commission as may be authorized in accordance with controlling 

law. 

 

Section 4. Conflicts.  

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 

Section 5. Severability.   

If any section, sentence, phrase, word, or portion of this Ordinance is determined to be invalid, 

unlawful or unconstitutional, said determination shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section, sentence, phrase, word, or portion of this Ordinance 

not otherwise to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional.  

 

Section 6. Codification.   

The provisions of this Ordinance shall not be codified, but the annexed property shall be 

incorporated and included in all appropriate maps of the City Limits of the City of Bunnell by 

the City Manager, or designee(s), and the City Manager, or designee(s), is/are hereby directed to 

take any and all appropriate actions relative to the land use planning documents of the City 

pertaining to the property annexed pursuant to this Ordinance. 

 

Section 7. Effective Date. 

This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon passage and adoption.   

 
First Reading: 13th day of July 2015. 
 
Second and Final Reading: adopted on this __________ day of _____________________ 2015. 
 
 
 
CITY COMMISSION, City of Bunnell, Florida. 

 

     

     By:  ___________________________Date____________  

           Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor 
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Approved for form and content by: 

 

 

      _________________________Date  __________ 

      Wade Vose, City Attorney      

         

      Attest: 

       

       

      ________________________Date ____________ 

      Sandra Bolser, City Clerk 

 

 

Seal: 
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Exhibit “A” 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

THE WEST ½ OF TRACT 5, BLOCK “D”, BUNNELL DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S 

SUBDIVISION OF SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 13 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, A 

SUBDIVISION AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 1, PAGE 1, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS 

OF FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

 

PARCEL CONTAINS 5.0 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

 

SUBJECT TO AND RESERVING TO GRANTOR, HIS HEIRS SUCCESSORS AND 

ASSIGNS AN EASEMENT FOR INGRESS, EGRESS, DRAINAGE AND UTILITIES (FPL) 

OVER AND UPON THE WESTERLY 25 FEET OF THE AFOREDESCRIBED TRACT 5, 

BLOCK “D”. 

 

TOGETHER WITH AND SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT 50 FEET IN WIDTH, BEING 25 

FEET EACH SIDE OF THE CENTER LINE OF SECTION 21, ALSO BEING THE SOUTH 

LINE OF TRACTS 8, 9, 10 AND 12, BLOCK “A” AND ALSO BEING THE NORTH LINE 

OF TRACTS 5, 4, 3 AND 2, BLOCK “D”, OF THE AFOREMENTIONED BUNNELL 

DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S SUBDIVISION OF SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 13 SOUTH, 

RANGE 31 EAST ALONG TWIN LAKES ROAD FOR INGRESS, EGRESS, DRAINAGE 

AND UTILITIES (FPL). SAID EASEMENT ALSO BEING RESERVED TO THE GRANTOR, 

HIS HEIRS, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. 

 

TOGETHER WITH AND SUBJECT TO THOSE EASEMENTS AS RECORDED IN SAID 

SUBDIVISION BEING 15 FEET EACH SIDE ALONG THE SECTION LINES AND HALF 

SECTION LINES OF THE BUNNELL DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S SUBDIVISION OF 

SECTION 21, AND TOGETHER WITH THAT EASEMENT AS PREPARED BY EFRID 

SURVEYING GROUP FROM COUNTY ROAD 200 SOUTHWARD ALONG COUNTY 

ROAD 207 TO AND BEYOND THE SOUTH LINE OF TRACT 12, BLOCK “B”, BUNNELL 

DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S SUBDIVISION. 

 

A 100 FOOT EASEMENT FOR INGRESS, EGRESS AND UTILITIES AND BEING A PART 

OF BUNNELL DEVELOPMENT COMPANY SUBDIVISION AS RECORDED IN MAP 

BOOK 1, PAGE 1 AND A PART OF THE MAP OF FAVORETTA SUBDIVISION AS 

RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 1, PAGE 5, ALL IN SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 13 SOUTH, 

RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY 

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE NORTHEAST ¼ OF SAID 

SECTION 21 ALSO BEING THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF BLOCK “A” OF BUNNELL 

DEVELOPMENT COMPANY SUBDIVISION OF SAID SECTION 21; THENCE RUN S 

89°31’44” E, 326.42 FEET ALONG SAID NORTH LINE OF BLOCK “A” AND ALONG 

SAID NORTH LINE OF THE AFORESAID NORTHEAST ¼ OF SECTION 21 TO THE 

CENTER LINE OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED SAID 100 FOOT EASEMENT AND 
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THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S 21°44’00” W ALONG SAID CENTER LINE, 

673.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF A CURVE, CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST AND 

HAVING A RADIUS OF 536.00 FEET; THENCE RUN SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID 

CURVE THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 22°42’20” A ARC DISTANCE OF 212.41 

FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENT OF SAID CURVE; THENCE RUN S 00°58’20” E, 

1550.05 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVE, CONCAVE TO THE NORTHWEST AND 

HAVING A RADIUS OF 244.10 FEET; THENCE RUN SOUTHWEST ALONG SAID 

CURVE THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 91°22’02” A ARC DISTANCE OF 389.26 

FEET TO THE POINT OF TANGENT OF SAID CURVE; THENCE N 89°36’18” W, 315 

FEET TO THE POINT OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST AND HAVING A 

RADIUS OF 630.00 FEET; THENCE RUN SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE 

THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 66°16’11” A ARC DISTANCE OF 728.67 FEET TO 

THE POINT OF REVERSE CURVE CONCAVE TO THE NORTHWEST AND HAVING A 

RADIUS OF 402.58 FEET; THENCE RUN SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE 

THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 57°48’05” A ARC DISTANCE OF 406.13 FEET TO 

THE TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE AND THE TERMINATION OF SAID 100 FOOT 

CENTERLINE EASEMENT.  
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EXHIBIT “B” 
 

LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 



 

The City of Bunnell is an Equal Opportunity Service Provider. 
 

Post Office Box 756· Bunnell, Florida 32110-0756· 386-437-7500· Fax 386-437-7503 

www.bunnellcity.us 

 
COB Administration Form 25, 3/27/2012 

CATHERINE D. ROBINSON 

MAYOR 

 

JOHN ROGERS 

VICE-MAYOR 

 

LAWRENCE WILLIAMS 

CITY MANAGER  

  
Crossroads of Flagler County 

 

June 25, 2015 

COMMISSIONERS: 

 
ELBERT TUCKER 

 

BILL BAXLEY 

 
BONITA ROBINSON 

 

Flagler County Board of Commissioners 

Attention: Craig Coffey, County Administrator 

1769 East Moody Boulevard 

Building 2, Suite 302 

Bunnell, Florida 32110 

 

Subject:  Notice of Public Hearing for City of Bunnell Ordinance 2015-07 Voluntary Annexation 

 

Dear Mr. Coffey: 

 

In accordance with Florida Statute legal procedures, enclosed is a copy of the Notice of Public 

Hearing for City of Bunnell Ordinance No. 2015-07, Voluntary Annexation of Rainey property 

located on East Twin Lakes Road.  Please provide to the Flagler County Board of County 

Commissioners. 

 

Regards,  

 

 

 

Dan Davis, MMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

Attachment 

 

 

Acknowledgement of Receipt by Flagler County 

Date:    _______________________________ 

Name:   _______________________________ 

Signature: _______________________________ 

 
   

 

http://www.bunnellcity.us/
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City of Bunnell, Florida 

Agenda Item No. F-1. 
 

Document Date:   6/30/2015 Amount: N/A 

Department: Community Development Department Account #: N/A 

Subject: Resolution 2015-23 modifying the traffic pattern on Canakaris Street for new 

Sheriff's Headquarters 

Attachments: 
Please number items as 

they will appear on the 

agenda. 

1. Resolution 

2. Map showing proposed changes. 

3. Letter from Mark Ferraz 

Agenda Section: H. New Business 

Summary/Highlights:  

This is a request to re route two sections of Canakaris Street for the new Sheriff Headquarters. 
 

Background:  

Flagler County has requested changes to the traffic pattern on Canakaris Street to accommodate the 

anticipated traffic flow for the new Sherriff’s Headquarters. It is also designed to enhance security 

of the site. 

The proposed changes are as follows: 

1. Closing to traffic a 13 foot section of Canakaris Street just east of Hospital Drive. (Shown in 

red on the attached map.) 

2. Making a section of Canakaris Street just west of Hospital Drive one way to South Chapel. 

(Shown on map) 

All costs associated with this initiative will be borne by the County. 

No adjacent property owner’s access to their property will be impacted. 

Initially city staff understood Flagler County wanted the city to vacate the area listed in item 

number 1 above, so it was presented to the Planning, Zoning and Appeals Board as an Ordinance at 

its June 2015 meeting. The Planning Zoning and Appeals Board recommended denial of that 

Ordinance. 

Since then, in discussions with County staff, it was determined there was no desire to vacate that 

portion of Canakaris Street, but the County is still requesting these re routes. An Ordinance is no 

longer required since no city right of way is proposed to be vacated. 
 

 

Approver Name: Approval Status: Date: 

 

Sandra Bolser, CMC, City Clerk Approved for the 2015 07 13 Agenda 6/30/2015 
 

Staff Recommendation:    

Approval of Resolution 2015-23 Modifying the traffic pattern on Canakaris Street for new Sheriff's 

Headquarters. 

City Attorney Review: Reviewed and approved by the attorney. 
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RESOLUTION 2015-23 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA, MODIFYING THE 

TRAFFIC PATTERN ON CANAKARIS STREET; CLOSING 

TO TRAFFIC A 13-FOOT SECTION OF CANAKARIS 

STREET JUST EAST OF HOSPITAL DRIVE; 

DESIGNATING AS ONE-WAY A SECTION OF 

CANAKARIS STREET JUST WEST OF HOSPITAL DRIVE 

TO SOUTH CHAPEL STREET; PROVIDING FOR 

CONFLICTS, PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 

PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, Ch. 166, F.S., the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act, grants to 

municipalities broad home rule powers; and 

WHEREAS, under this broad grant of powers, the City of Bunnell has the power and 

authority to regulate the traffic patterns upon its roads; and 

WHEREAS, Flagler County has requested changes to the traffic pattern on Canakaris 

Street to accommodate the anticipated traffic flow for the new Flagler County Sheriff’s Office 

headquarters; and 

WHEREAS, Flagler County and the Flagler County Sheriff’s Office have indicated that 

such requested changes are also designed to enhance the security of the site of the new Sheriff’s 

Office headquarters; and 

WHEREAS, Flagler County has agreed to bear all costs associated with implementing 

the requested changes to the traffic pattern on Canakaris Street as part of their development and 

construction of the new Sheriff’s Office headquarters; and 

WHEREAS, no adjacent property owner’s legal access to his or her property will be 

impacted by the changes to traffic pattern requested by Flagler County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS:   
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SECTION 1.  CLOSURE TO TRAFFIC OF PORTION OF CANAKARIS 

STREET.  The 13-foot section of Canakaris Street just east of Hospital Drive, as denoted by the 

red-colored portion of the sketch attached hereto as Exhibit “A,” is hereby closed to traffic.  

SECTION 2.  DESIGNATION OF PORTION OF CANAKARIS STREET AS 

ONE-WAY.  That portion of Canakaris Street, running from just west of Hospital Drive to 

South Chapel Drive, is hereby declared to be one-way, with traffic running from east to west. 

SECTION 3.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section or portion of a section of this 

Resolution proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or 

impair the validity, force, or effect of any other section or part of this Resolution. 

SECTION 4.  CONFLICTS.  All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with any 

of the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed. 

SECTION 5.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 

adoption by the City Commission. 

DULY ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Bunnell, Florida, on the 13th 

day of July 2015. 

 

       __________________________________ 

       Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Sandra Bolser, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form and legality for use 

and reliance by the City of Bunnell, Florida  

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Wade C. Vose, City Attorney 



ftiblier
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City of Bunnell, Florida 

Agenda Item No. F-2 
 

Document Date:   6/30/2015 Amount: N/A 

Department: Community Development Department Account #: N/A 

Subject: Resolution 2015-24 Dollar General Easement Release 

Attachments: 
Please number items as 

they will appear on the 

agenda. 

1. Resolution 

2. Exhibit A Map  

3. Exhibit B Release Document 

4. First page of Daytona North Plat 

5. Letter from FPL 

6. Letter from Brighthouse 

7. Letter from ATT 

Agenda Section: H. New Business 

Summary/Highlights:  

This is a request to vacate two easements so Dollar General can build a new store on CR305. 
 

Background:  

Dollar General purchased 3 lots for their new store. Each lot has a “blanket” utility easement on all 

four sides of each lot. In order to build the store, the easements between the lots need to be eliminated. 

The easements running along CR305 will remain, as well as the easements running along the back of 

the properties. 

So if in the future an easement is needed for a utility, there will still be several available. 
 

 

Approver Name: Approval Status: Date: 

 

Sandra Bolser, CMC. City Clerk Approved for the 2015 07 13 Agenda 7/1/2015 
 

Staff Recommendation:    

Approval of Resolution 2015-24 Dollar General Easement Release. 

City Attorney Review: Reviewed and approved by the attorney. 
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RESOLUTION 2015-24 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 

BUNNELL, FLORIDA, RELEASING AND TERMINATING EASEMENTS 

LYING WITHIN LOTS 36, 37 AND 38, BLOCK 128, CITY OF BUNNELL, 

MAP BOOK 10, PAGE 15, PUBLIC RECORDS OF FLAGLER COUNTY 

COUNTY, FLORIDA; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, PROVIDING 

FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Bunnell ("City") previously retained various easements lying 

within Lots 36, 37 and 38, Block 128, Daytona North, City of Bunnell, Map Book 10, Pages 1-

15 (“Plat”), Public Records of Flagler County, Florida, a sketch of said easements being attached 

as Exhibit" A"; and 

 

WHEREAS, the owner of such lots has requested that the easements interior to the set of 

lots be released and terminated to facilitate development of the lots; and 

 

WHEREAS, the owners of such lots has received from Florida Power & Light 

Company, AT&T, and Brighthouse Networks, written confirmation that none of those utilities 

has any objection to the release and termination of such easements, and has provided written 

evidence of such confirmation to the City. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS:   

SECTION 1. RELEASE AND TERMINATION OF EASEMENTS. The City hereby 

terminates and releases the following described easements, to wit: 

Ten (10) foot blanket easements (5 feet on each side of boundary lines) along and parallel 

with the boundary lines shared between Lot 36 and 37 and along and parallel the 

boundary lines shared between Lot 37 and 38, which easements were previously granted 

on the Plat. 

 

SECTION 2. AUTHORIZATION TO EXECUTE. The Mayor is hereby designated 

and authorized to execute such documents as are necessary to effectuate the above-referenced 

release and termination of the easements on behalf of the City of Bunnell, Florida, including but 

not limited to the Release and Termination of Easements attached hereto as Exhibit “B”. 

SECTION 3.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section or portion of a section of this 

Resolution proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or 

impair the validity, force, or effect of any other section or part of this Resolution. 
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SECTION 4.  CONFLICTS.  All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with any 

of the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed. 

SECTION 5.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 

adoption by the City Commission. 

DULY ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Bunnell, Florida, on the 

13th day of July 2015. 

 

       __________________________________ 

       Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Sandra Bolser, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form and legality for use 

and reliance by the City of Bunnell, Florida  

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Wade C. Vose, City Attorney 
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Prepared by & return to: 

Rushton, Stakely, Johnston & Garrett, P.A. 

Attn: J. Ladd Davis 

184 Commerce Street 

Montgomery, AL 36104 

File No. 7681-0090 

 

 

RELEASE AND TERMINATION OF EASEMENTS 

 

 

 THIS RELEASE AND TERMINATION OF EASEMENTS is made this ____ 

day of ______________, 2015 by City of Bunnell, a municipal corporation organized 

and existing under the laws of the State of Florida (“City”). 

 

 

RECITALS 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Bunnell ("City") previously retained various easements 

lying within Lots 36, 37 and 38, Block 128, Daytona North, City of Bunnell, Map Book 

10, Pages 1-15 (“Plat”), Public Records of Flagler County, Florida, a sketch of said 

easements being attached as Exhibit" A". 

 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, the City hereby terminates and releases the following 

described easements, to-wit: 

 

1.  Ten (10) foot blanket easements (5 feet on each side of boundary lines) along 

and parallel with the boundary lines shared between Lot 36 and 37 and along 

and parallel the boundary lines shared between Lot 37 and 38, which 

easements were previously granted on the Plat. 

 

 

 

[EXECUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 
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 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Release and Termination is executed as of the day 

and year first written above. 

 

Signed, sealed and witnessed in  

the presence of:    CITY OF BUNNELL 

 

_______________________________     By:___________________________________ 

Printed Name:____________________         Print Name: Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor 

 

_______________________________ 

Printed Name:____________________ 

 

 

      ATTEST: 

 

           By:___________________________________ 

      Print Name: Sandra Bolser, City Clerk 

 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF FLAGLER 

 

I hereby certify that on this day, before me, an officer duly authorized to 

administer oaths and take acknowledgments, personally appeared Catherine D. Robinson 

as Mayor and Sandra Bolser as City Clerk of the City of Bunnell, a municipal corporation 

organized under the laws of the State of Florida, known to me to be the person described 

in and who executed the foregoing instrument, who acknowledged before me that he/she 

executed the same, that I relied upon the following form(s) of identification of the above-

named person: driver's license; and that an oath (was)(was not) taken. 

 

Witness my hand and official seal in the County and State last aforesaid this 13th      

day of July, 2015. 

 

 

      __________________________________                                                                        

      NOTARY PUBLIC 

My Commission Number/Expires:  Printed Name: Dan Davis                                                

1-26-2017 
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

[see attached sketch of easements terminated and released] 
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No. ll05l 

A REl'l.AT OF PORTIOllS IF. SECTIOIS 16, V, lB, 1!!, 20 AllD 21, TOlllSlllP. l2 SOOTH, ltAMiE 29 EAST, 
MD A POl!TIOl Ii= SECT.IOI .iio, TOWllSHIP l2 SOOTH, RANGE 28 EAST, AS SIN Oii TIE Pl.AT OF ST. JIHIS 
DEVEl.DPl9T aWMY'S SUBDIV!Slcill A1CD A sumilVISIOll OF PORTllJIS OF SECTIOllS 13 MD 211, TCMISlllP 

l2 SOllt:H, · ~ 28 !AST. -F!ASlil COUNTY, FUJRDli\, 

~llESClllPTUll 

TNE FOLLOWillG l.Miis 11!1 T-SHIP l2 Sount, RAll&E 28 WT. Fu.SUP 

CoUllTY, FLOltlDl; THAT PART LJ.sT OF ROAD IN THE EasT l/2 Of £.ur 
iJ2 OF SECTIOll 13, A!1D THAT PART wT OF ROAD Ill THE Wr l/2 OF 

fiootTH 3/4 OF THE JiolrTH £.ur V4 Of S£cr1DN 24, ALL COl!PIUSlllG 210 

ALL OF Bl.octt •A•, SECTION 40, St • .lo+tlls DEvELOPtlillT CllMPMv, A 

SUllHVISllili OF THE CLARK~ AS RECORDED Ill PLAT !IQoK l, PAGE 7, 
PilBLIC RECOllDS·OF FLA&LER ~UllTY, FLORIDA. 

TRACTS l, 2, I;, 5, 7, 8, AND THil.T PART OF TRACT 3 lioRTH OF ROAD, 
~K ·n· SE..~IDN 40, OF SAID Sr. JOHNS DEVELOPMEllT Cof!oiAllY SuB-. 
DIVISION .. 

THf FoL.i.ow110G ·LAllDS 1• TOWllS"'1P l2 SaUTH, RAlleE 29 EAST, SuBD1v1s1011 
OF Sr. Jo.:..s ll£¥ELOPP'IENT '°""""y i.s RECOR!l£D IN PLAT liOoK l. PMOE .,, 

PuaLJc RECOR:)S OF FLA6LER CoU11TI. FL01t111A 

SECTIOll 16 - Bulca l, 3. 5, 6, 7. I, 9, 10, l2. a 111. l5 - l6 
llu>cit 2 - TUCT l 
Buice If - TRACTS l - 2 
PL.octt ll- TUCTS l MD2 

TKE EASTnLv 50 FEET OF Bl.Dea L 8, 9, 16 IS ~. SAID PMCEL 

USED 111 STATE fiDAD 305 lb&HT-oF-liAY. . 

sW1DN 17 ..: bltS L 2, 3, 5. 6. 8. 9. 10, ll, l2. 13, llf, 15 AllJ l6 
llLoc:tt " - lluT l/2 OF TRACT' l - ALL OF TltACTS 2 AND 3 
!i..oat 7-TttACTs2A!ID3 

SEcn1111 l8 - JL.ocu L 2~ 3. If, S, 7. 8, 9, 10, lL 12. B~ 14 
l6 
luxr.: 6 - TllACTS 2 - 3 
lUcr.: 15 - Tl!!iCR 1-·2 

S£cr1DN 19 - llulcu L 2, 3, If,. 5, 9, lO MD 15 
lulCK 6 - Tucrs 1 - 2 
Jk.ocr.: 7 - TRACTS 2 - 3 
11.ocr.: 8-TllACTS 2- 3 
ILccr.: ll - TMCTS l Alll 3 
TMCT 2 EXC£PT THE fOLLOWlllG PAllCELS: 

fxr:EPT IOlf I 1 - ltt£ Sotmf J/5 DF TIE SouTlt 
l/2 aF THE llEST l/2 Of SAID TMtT 2 
fxr:EPTIO. I 2 - THe Sotmt j/S DF TMU PART 

OF SUD TRACT 2 LYUIG Ill 6criaaumrT Im 3 
OF SA ID Bux:1t 11 

!i.DcK l2 - TllACTS 2 MD3 
IL«r.: ll - TRACTS l)um 3 
!uicr.: 111- TRACTs lAND3 
Bux:ac lfi - TRACTS 1 - 2 

SE!:T10N 20 - 1lulc1CS .:i.. 2, If, 6, 8, 9, 10, ll, 13 - l• 
lk.ocr.: 3 - TRACTS l MD 3 
llulcr.: 5 - TUCTS l MD 3 
Bu!c11: 7 - Tui:n l _, 3 
BUacr.: l2 - Tr.ACTS 2-3 
I!tocr.: l5 - TIUICTS 2 AD 3 
~16-TllACl' 1 

SECTION 21 • Bux:a L 2, 3, II, 7, 8, ll. 13 MD Iii 
Jlu>a 5 - TRACTS 2 A11D 3 
l!Locr.: 6 - TltACTS 2 MID 3 AND TllE EAsT 112 OF TUCT I 
BLoi:K 10 - THE iluT l/2 OF TRACTS 2 AND 3 
Bux:K ll - TRACTS l AND 2 
Bl..<ICK JS - THE WEST Ji2 OF TRACTS 1 AND 2 

THE UST£1!1. Y 50 FEET DF Bl.CCK l AND 8 IS EXCEl'TED, 
SAID 'AllCEL USfl) IN STATE lioAD 305 RIGllT-OF-W.Y, 

lllRTGAGEES DED I CATI Cll 

T11E ~GA&EES COllSEllTS AllD A&REU TO THE .,.LATTING. OF THE 

LANDS ~ED Ill THIS PLAT AND TD THE DEDICATIDll ,._.HEREOll, 

A11D FURTHER, SH0UL» IT .IECOl'E NECESSARY TO FOllECLOSE THE P1DllT6'i&f 

COVERlllG TllE SAii> HOPE«TT THAT ALL PIECES Allll l'AllCEL~ DEDICATE>, 

OR OFFERED FOR DEDICATJOll, TO TttE l'llBLIC WILL JIE EXCUIDED -

~· ~n; ;-•un• _,, "?;;: ?I:fo 
I W!THESS ~!~;:.., ;, ~ 

STATE Of FLORIDA 

COllm' OF FLA6LER 

~GEE~ 

I 11£~Y CERTIFY THAT ON THIS DAY, JIEFORE HE, PERSONAL.LY Al'PEARED 

R. 11. DEEN AND HELEN nm. His w1FE, - TO HE To JIE THE· l'EllSOllS 

DESCRIBED IN, AND WHO EXEMED THE FOREGOING DEDICATIDN AND AC­

LEDGEll BEF.ORE HE THAT THEY EXECll'rED THE SAP'IE, 

WIT11ESS 11Y HAND AND OFFICIAL S£AL IN TllE CoUNTY AllD STATE !WED 

a ,l LI-· 
lty. Co11111ss10N ExPIRES NoTAR·Y f'uai.IC 

CERTIFICATE Of CLERK 

1 HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I W.¥£ EXAP'llllED THE FOREGOIM(; l'U.T -

Flllll TllAT IT COl!l'UES 111 FORM WITH AU. OF THE REQUIREl'IEllTS OF •ffe '";ORIDA STATUES, AND W.S FluD FOii RECoRD DN~3 
.. ..JJ:=~ .... ~is;~~ZfM!!?~#:___J ... P iloo1t.L£_ l'AGES__,i_,_tHRll_&,.t_ 

aµL·Lt?;,L 
CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT CoUl!r 111-NID 

FOR FLAGLER Coutrrv' FullUDA· 

cERTIFICATE .OF APPROVAL BY BOARD OF COUlfTY COl'l'USSJOIERS 

lHIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT Oii J E • 1 ny . 3' THE FOR~GOJNG 
PLAT WAS APPROVE!l BY THE JloAl!I> OF ColJITY ea..t1 SSIDNERS OF fl.AGLER 

hi.c.D "/1M ~7~ 0.11t o,,: ;:J;~"-~/YIJ l't~7f n 
NOTE: H"T" 3:0.,S P.1"1. ~_/.~, ~ 

5' Bl.A~l(£T EASEMENTS ARE WEREIY ,ROVIDED ALOllG THE FROllT, 51DE 

AICD REAR OF ALL LOTS s-. (10' OVERALL WITH AND ADJACEllT LOT,) 

D- DEMOTES PERMAllENT REFEREllCE -U!IEllTS 

•-DEHDTU PE~MANElfT CDNTNOL l'OINTS 

9- DENOTES SECTION CORNEfl OR QUARTER. CORNER SllEET l Of 15 

sbolser
Highlight

sbolser
Highlight



J 
1 

--- c;ocoNl.IT 

DAYTONA 

.. 'ii: 1~ "\ 
,:::37 1~- ~- l:l"° 
II) <I ... ~ 

NORTH 

~ ! 31 
~ 1:: 
~ JJZ ~ .11!!1 

------------- --_-.-. -:7731¥~_ ,-- _-,. 

MAP aoDll _.!SJ._ M6E...L__ 

~ 5CAl.£ f"s ZOO'- N' . 
/L 

0 IOO 2()0 !JOO 4(XJ &:ID e-- .... ·!!"""""! 
.5C . .U.(" 

~ 

" 

!SHEET. :Z CF 15 



:::c 
J­
o:: 
0 
2 

z 
,oo.;> ',I 7 

, nr:>"S' 7 :~I ~ 

~ 
. ~. ~. ~-

I. 

: i ~ 
~ 



f 
l? 
'! 

i 
i 
;} 

.j 

,Jt,4P BOO/Lff2-PAGE-1.:-

DAYTONA NORTH 

Niot7 

·~ J1!E -* ~- - - _,,,-~,-· NM::,:::·' - !!I .... , -~=-'l1=--""'--~ 
11'.n,,~ :=·~~ ,~,..~ J :n= :,;;-~: ~~r~ jl :»]'-1&i'T': ! ;·~' :.~. ,..~ ~ '. ~;"=I . . ~;.,~~ •=;- ~ 1.-=.1 · 1 · '""o\j% n:o~·~\ 

j ~ _J' ~ z c .3 I ' , • , • , ·I , ' : , • , \ ' , • , ' , • ' • , • , . , ' . i •M~"' b ' , J , . • • • • , . • t••Nm-,- ' , • ' • , • , 'i~ --· ... >1 , 

l 
~ ~I ~ ~ ~ 1 ::i ~ : : ! ~ ; ~ \I ~ z ~ ~ ~: N811" !1"4'f"E ... ~ /O ~ ~ 1· ~ ! HM" .,~.,-E ~~ l 

C?O"YI '"'
5

oo' 1~~oo' i».00
1 
1~~00' '*:1.r.JO' "~.oo' 

1

. 1J::soo·,.1,,::soo; v1;::soo't.1_o:soo I ;J::sOD !<$:JOO' 1.-.::soo' 1J::soo·c '< • "'"'"=·"' ., . N'\ ,. • .1•s.oo· ~ • "" ~ '."". t:JoJ ~ • " 1~00' 1: ... ~·:. •:JO~,- • 30000• • • ,oooo· • ,10000' ' \) .10000' • , , :.ooa:r ~ • i:i "''"'"' I:. ,10POO' • ~ • b ,·~ 1 ~. 'I. ~ rJ/ I !fl> '~ 
' % 

4 

~ ! Zr> ~ ' ~ .5 ~ JZ ~ . ~ .5 ~ ! ..J2 ~ J ~ ~ ~ 32 ~ ~ ~ 19 ~ ~ 'I~ (i ~ II ~ ~ : ~ 1~ ~ ~ J ~ ~ ~ H ~ I :! ~ • ~ ~ ~··I • ~ ' ~ • ~ ~ ' ~ • ~ ~ '" • 17 • /{i. • /5 • '"' • l:J ~ \'! • ~ ~ • ~ II • 10 • ~ • 6 ~/~ ..., i ~ l ::;;~~; . PNJ.,,-.w. . ,v4tf nrE • . "'),:~'"'ff 1 · NN".M n"E ~ Z(? '% ~ ~ ~ /Z ~ .~ j i,;r~ '1 ~ j ~ ! • ~ • • .~r •. • ., • .$1 • 1 • ~flt\ "-.- • ' • • •: l -=- ~ -=- • ,,.,;.. . ' --- l =".:" l ,0=-I '. .;rn , ___ • ,,,.,.t ~ 
~ l Z4125" l · ~l ,~- , ; :.oo.oo· , 11#soo· • • • • ,;;:/;., sOO_O(J_'~, 1.-500· • .i· 1,.<>00' C 2;, e,3•, 

~ • ,. . , , • '" . i, , ~r I "" . ', , • "" • ~ , ~1< g ~ • % • " • ~ ' • . . ~ . ! . I I • r . . : . ; ! ' . ' , . , . • , • . ' 8 ~ • ~ ; , • , • , , , g ~ ,., ___ ~ ' 

i V:"'.. ': l : . ': . I : \ l. ': , r' ~ ' ·: . r~,,., . ;-- ~ - ~-i~~:'" . ---: NM~>'~. f '-r~ ~-,~ :"' ,H_~c:v 
r ~47.5'1" Z,4 • '.' : • Z~ ' I ~ ~ r·~l!> -1 '. ' ·: ' , t i~J4 • J5 ' J4 <> • " N ~ ~ h ':" '.o ' 0 :t J 

I 
. . . ~ h ~ I ~ H ~ i ~ t7 f' .., ~ io ~ ~ :: i 7 i 

• ~~ 10 ! Z7 "' .,. 11;1 "I j .'1!7 -t .; • "" <1 Z7 .; :Joo.oo· 1.-.::s.1x>' , , _, , 1.-.5.oo' •M""' ' :_:'"::5::""::·:'.::::':' :::::::::m"1!!:::::'::•5:':""":::'::'::::z4::"::'"';:':::::'.-
h -·~--·~ • ~:e:.oo."'7' ~ .>00.00· ~, ~~..,. ~ JOO.IN?' ~, ~:e,.,...oo• ~ soo.oo· ~ ••"'·::,:,~ ~/~- ~~~....--_,_ ... _· _ _...,....,..,,,.,....-~~-' "' l oi· I . ... 1-'S-IXJ 1~s.e>1:>' M.5.oo'. /lf.P./Z' 11M'.1s·o,·£ asu":/ ~ Jo!l 7/J',,,. 1~00· • .1 · .f•::JOtr z::so.!l2·· I 

zz • ·~. ~ // • Z"' • ~ • ~ " L Zll> • ~ II • zt; • t. ;; ' ~ J ~ ' 'c ~o s ~ ' \ 
.. I ~· • . r.:,.. .; ~ r :.t: ~ , - I) ' " ~ Ii !'= " ft>4 "' " 1:1 !;) :; ,... • ~ ~ • ~~ • N_g • ' ~ g • • J • ~ ~ ~ ~ ~'55·»'1'.l"'E~ , ~ I ~ Z .3 4 ~ t:54.1~' t; • l;; 

ZI ~ /'I! • z.:s f' IZ j~ Z:!I • 1z , Z!5 , !"> ~ NNJ"~r"7"£ ·" - :; ~ ~ I ~ ~ Al«' ~·n'F "'~ i ~ 
" JO • • . • 1 I~ ~ 1" 5 .00' :C./SS.DOYM'~· /£>/,/iB' ~ JOf 7.!' ~ J 1~00· ~ • • '""OD' ~ .... 

' uso'l' , 1· • • • I Ii~ • I • • : ~ I ~ ~ ~ . i! ~ T . zs:~, '$1 ~ 

l 
, z1;1 • • ,,, • .z4 • • 13 • " z4 1!l z4 , ~ =it % " ~ "' ~ . ti ~ ~c · ~ ~ 

11 • • • ~I i I~ • • • • ~ 4 • 7' , ~ • ~ 6 ~ ~ • " ios..C?' ~ ~ /1 10 'l ~ ~ 0 
· ~ :IQ~ 

U4 zt;, • \! l j~• ~ ... % ~ ~ .~ ~ ' ~ ~· 7 ; l· !:! 
11 • 14 , z.s , 14 ., Q Z!I ~, 14 23 , '°"'od ~s.oo' .N.5.0<:" /'"·~' • ~:..; Wl • ~. ;.,,,oa· • • 1fr.f.0&1' o;; 2 .. 1.'9'1' " ~ 

~.~ Q, • 

1 

• e " .p • e • • --zdA,-~~cJ'-'.=r-- NOT.NPllRT~THIJl'lAT • ~!:5 JP':J1o;~:::. ~ ... _,.~ )WflvW Z,"i:J•~ 
~ Z::~J /& , r 15 • ZZ , ~ 15 tl ZZ ~, 15 , ZZ t ~-"-0<?' ::>.O<J. ~.5.00' :'"·-'~ ~ $ ~ • /t;::JOO' 'J l#~OO. ~ U•;:O?' ~l 
~111·.n~~·t_ • • Nt!IJ:J.,.,~-~ I . A/.111.,'ff ,~·i: . j .Nu".n' ,.,,, • ~ J • <e r .. .,, " ~ i " ~ :- .Jt>I. u·~ ' ~ c ~ 4 g g ;: ,~'3 ~i'M';,"'i,\ ,. i " i'~ ~ %1 " i!"i ~ ~ « i.~ ~-~-,,~~ ~: :: • •. ,-,_-, ~.It;!);~"' 

N 

~ 
~· 

~:,.;-= rooAV ~ 4:£7 

I

t .. ~. "'I" : "'I°"' .. , ~1~ ... "'·~·. · -&S,t7(1' ,~-~ !'I' • .1!1 -~ .... 

. 

. uz.47·"''.300.00' .~ .~."°"'"""'' NII>""''~~ ,ao.tlO' ~ II(».,,.,."' ... MXJ.oo: ~ NJQoo' ~ . . ""00.~=n.· ·• H-. c:. .Joo.OI''. 

1

•:il1()<:>• .H• /l#::JOO . .-;. "'. 

uz.47· ,,..s"°'l"""oo' 11000· • • 1r.>o.oo 1SO.aot1 · I I • naoo 1saoo • daoo· ~, I?,_~ ~ 1s1£0ii' ., • • . c:. ~· . :: ' . ·I I . ' . ~ . . . ~ ~" ~ .. 270.7"' -1::. 
•. • ' •• <:, Ci ;.. • ~ .._ ;,.. • • " -;,, ":.. ~ ~~ ~ ~ ;; ~ 7 .... .. • • • • 

· ~ 14 'G 15 !::: • '"' ~ • ~ 17 ~ 11J -& ,., "' zo O> • "n : tlJ IS I/' ": ro ~ 

1

. ~ 17 ~ aJ ."! ,,. " re ~ ~ IJ ~ b 
7 .~ ~ ~ 6 ~ .... e,4 »' ~ .., t/ :: 10 ~ • ~ IJ .. ~ -~ ~ ~ ~~ ~ ~ ~ ~ *;.; ' !: :; I ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~. E ,. ") ~ ~· ") ") ~ ~44·:·,,~ ; ~ ~ ~ ~ i ~ 7 ~ ' L' 

Z1/1!1' /t;#ftJ' 16#'1tJ' ~aoo' , • 15ood MO.Do' • I t· • ~· .-so.ao'. • * r.so.oo' 17!1.M' /#';,."' H!J."' 15.1-' . . ,.. ~ z~no1' ~ oo' . :JOO' Z'?!} , ... --~- .I -~- I.I -~- l11MAT£NU~;;:~JN;£T~~ir~,.~ ~.;.;;:.;.:--,.··.;;::" - , ,,M --~·-· _. ~75./11 
. II! ' ;;;;'fl?< . ~ 

SHEET ~ VIS 



!!: 

~ 
~ 

J 

119.3'' lmor I • I • 

5 • 

~I IS~, 
~' 

DAYTONA 

6 •I., •110'iII•I12•I13 •I ff 

® 
71 ·' 28 • 

·0 1 RJ~ -~~--~~--

7 • 8 •I ' • 

e N O'·t6'.l24 1W 

·1 ~I -I ~ -,, ~ 20 ~ '21 ~ 22 ~- 23 ~ 
~ .. .. :li :; 

~-~ -,-~COCQN_!L_I l3b• 111 EvAl2,.... 
-~-

! 1 MATCJ.I LINE .SEE 5HEEI" 7/ I· 
•• 11 · I 

~ 
~ 

""( 

Cl ... 
::> 
~ 
i::: 
~-

MAP 600I!: _JQ_PAt;E ~ 

N // SCALE: 1• • 2'00' 

NORTH 
~(___~~~~~~~~ 

4# fi()(J 

FCET 

'J •1 /0 •I JI •I IZ •I 1.5 •I /4 

@ 
24 .:I u, 28 • 

-i' 

•I 5 w ~' 7 



l 

l 
i 
j 

MAP l!>DOK_ff?_~~ 

N 

D AYT 0 NA. N 0-RTH 

~ 

.·.·. . I I . ! l "I. .1 ! t . ~ . . :. I!,. "L ..... 
_JI f l.i l . 1_

1
1 . . .~11 · ,. 11 /Vr-MATC~ LINE SE!~Sl/EEH · t r 1 <Ii' 

--- I -~- .. -1,, B:~:fl-V/6'F~®:,:' 1_ 300~1~~~1. '3~01' 1 24991!>' • ·~;; .. 01·-1170.00' Boo.oo• ~117700'!"' -:· ~ 111!>.oo' l'W:~i." "' !JOOOO' l ! ~.:;~,'l~111200001!"3 ,~::W I - I:>oo0:.
3

~j:· 212~·., . ~. 5 
l ... 22112 ... f:; 300.0J ~ ~ . ~, 'g I ~ ~ . ~ I I: ~· ~ ~ ~ .... .... j .~ ~ ~ ~I ~ ~ : . ~,:· 2 ~ ·1 118 '17.\ r, 
I ~ :;:~ 2 ~ ! ~ I " 2 " I ~ I ~ ~ 2 ~ I r; I : z ~ 3 .~ : I ~;.. .. - - I" r.. .. '"' I :0:11 2 " 3 "" ' ~ I ~l~ 27'2.71' ~ i 07 
: :: I :::~ 00 o' "" i " 300.00' 2 .30000' 2 ., .300.DO' \,: .300.00' "' ;.. "' "' "' ;:; ;:" ~ I;:: ,~ ;:t>j!!; ~ ~\!:; 20'-.."' }a:>' "' ~I "' • "'k ;, ' 

"' ,.· 3 ·0 , _ _ · - _ ,
1

. - U'1!17' zOQ.oo' llooo' • h'. 2 N- .3 ~ 4 ·:: 5 "' • :-- 23aoo'-1--2otJoo' 170.00' ~- -1* 4 ·"'I 
, ~ ~ ~ ll ~ ~ k ~ ~: · ~ ~· i:, 319 97' "' !IOO oo• <:, "'· - ,. ,... :... ;,,. ~;, _ '." - '-'DO.DI?' -. .• · .300 oo' - ~ ll ~'~ -~ I ~ " "' ~ "' .!! Iii 4 Iii ~ le\ 3 "'! · ~ 1<1 <:> <:> <:> <:> ~ "' 8 ~ iC: ~ ·~ 1 ~ ~ "' 

3 

"'i' 212 n· '~' 
~~ 3 ~i~ · ~ ~:! • N""~'o'20·£ ~ ~~ ·Na"·~~-20·£ ~ r-~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~~ 7

• ~ 1~ =~ • ~-~~ 
4 

;: ~ B~ · ~. "' .~ 
~ • • • • , ~ • < • ~. s ; I • • ~ = ,,, ro• ~ • " ,,,.ro· ~.,,. ~ @ ~ . < ~ 6 =--· . . I ! • I ·~! ~ 7 '( •• : ·~ • ': : ": •• ,,,.~ +" : : • . m.# 

.

1

. s .. • 8 • 7 IJ • 7 J I IJ _ • ;;::: ~ ~ %.. ..~ ~ r ~ ~r.. ~ 1 . 

' . . . I L_._1 ~~ " )! . " • ~ ~ // ~~,,, . 15 • If. 17 ~~ IZ lri ' ~ " ~ ~~ " ~ ' • 2'71.85' 

tt"J." I· -.;;r ~ . :- . --.. ": . -~ : . --- ,~~ . _-- H 
, 10 • ~ ll> JO • !l' _I JO ' • ~ lil ~ ~ /& ~ r ~- tO ~ l~;i . II a ' ' • • . IO ' . I:, _ ..., ~ l . 10 - "' II t: t:S /J ~ ~ ~ 1!1::S ~ ,t.}.~ ~ . !i 

• • r ~ • • • ~-~n5:~_' • 115.~~ 1t;,a.11'i':f: :::~; ~ ~ ;10000'_,._! 00,3~0._oo~ • . 211.!77' = 

H~ 
~oNw I U""' · '~ ..... ~.. • 

,z 
12 

,
3 

• ,,,. . .,,.J." .... oo· , 116.00' 1~ .300.112'."' ~ !!JOI.OZ'~. '."j;.(J(J' • 1·r.r.;;:oo· , •• 011m • 
/1 

•• 12 • ~ 
.:\ ~ ""' • /". - - ' - ~ 5 "' !') I .. - •

1 
I - - • 54 1 • +f' • ~ :: :. ~ ~ ~ • ~ ' ~ , ~:: ;! ~ I "" ~ Z7!.2~" 

. I 14 l4- • 
15 

• ~ I t 2 t 3 ~ 4 ~ ~ ;,, • ~ " ~ ~ 2 ~ , 3 £ ~ ~ s ~I 
hi • 1 : • • • • • .'kl"'' 1r.5.oo' • 1r.5.oo' ~ .J;_oz' ~ ~ 3oi.o2 ' ~~is~~I~~ t;,,..,, "'"·""' ' lt nu11' 

'll..I '" IS J '' Iii> NIJ'}<•IY-ZO 'E t..4&..0'' • NlJ9•-J0<09•£ '-1 C, ~ r.r.J 041 NIJ,._10'·09"E - 15 • .; ~ ~ 

~ 
r L~L ~ '" • 11 • 1... - :;,. 7 <> 7 ~ ~ 1... 

1 ,__ -J = 1· ~ , i · ~ . · . ~ ~ ~~ .iJD().1)8' ~ 1100.'JI' lt • ·.;. '" • .m 
' · • r7 • !!'.! '" 17 -l tl!J • ~ ~ ~ ~ ,;, ~ c:;.. ~ n • ~ 

27

~n' ~ 

~ 
. . • I • ~. • 16 • " • ~ ~ ~ "® . . "~ ' :! ~ • . IU 

I"" , • • ~ , .:Joo.i4' 300.7.'9 ,... N, • 18 • g111 

tb /9 ' • 20 • . • I~ J r: 20 < ~·. ~ ~ ~ ~ . 
34 ~ . ~ ~- t.' • ,.._ 'Z?O.#'. I . Ill ': . . l . j ~ • I; ': :zo • a1 • , il :) • " • '!' , j ~I ~ Iii . • l{:j~ 

O• ~ ' ~19.911 " "" 1( ~ .30020
1 300

·'-
7 ~ ~ ~ -. 211 Ir If ::J 

1~1 • '21 . 22 • • 21 ~ Ill 22 ~ ~ ~ ~. i ~ •Q ~ ~ • 10 l ~ ~ ' ~' "'' ' no.1":1]' :t ~ I lrl 22 ~· '23 Ir\ '1"' JO -- f ~ "' ~ • f--= \) 
N----~--'·'--~ • • ~ ;:? 31"'.'18'. :! 300.00' :! i?f-5.7'1 1 .589'-JOC/S"IV ~ !!100.71>' ~~ p;o.ss' • ~ ... - 'll: ~ ' I... 

·i ~ ~ ~ ~ k ~ 1 I % . NB?~oo·-~·E V-54.JU' j 22105' ii '8SOd'·l '"soo'0I~ ''s.~· ,..,..,..,,~ b ~~Iii "' ~ i< ~ n R~ 2z .., ~ 
. . . ! ·~ ~ ~ ": ~ q :· , .i ·: ~ j ~ • • ~u •\ ii ;,., ~·~ ~ ~ P . ~fD-21#'9_81

1

~ 
~ . i' ~!·I~ 23 ~ "! 25 ~ z;;. ~ ~ z= ~ I ~'- , . Q: ~ ~ I~ II ~ 12 • l.iJ • /4- • JG ~ ~ 12 ~ ~ ~ ~ J ~ zs ~~ :14 ~ 
1IQ. ~lei It\ ~ I.I\ • tr\ t"i 7 ~ I ·- '6 .9 ..... , ~ 'It) ~ i..... o "" If'\~ "' r-'Z4 "-!:) 300.00' :!! ~ 300.001 !:!! !J/JD.00 1 ::! "' 300«1' ~ ~OIJ.00' ~ ~ ~ ~ :Z2IOS' 1SStJO' • 185()()

1 
155.0b' .~ Sqaa.3' ~ Cl o IQ t! 30000' ~ . ;u,,,64' -

_wD/ '-A' --~ -m:i' - • •~ ·~ _ ~ ~,- ... I!; ,___ _ _ -~• "~' ' •= ~ , LJ .~ ~:-~-~. __ 

J 
01• '"sOQ' • • • • -. - • ~ ,,M.5.0()' 1•s.•s' ~ . ti ~ 1.Js.00' 1-.s.tJO' • • • 1.r.s.""' '"'0f..i'.; 11.'J.21· ,.,s.i;o' 1•5M' ''5""''1 

~~. . . ·i~~ °':._~ if ~ - Q ~~ I~ . ,I ~ . . I ~ .,.. ... ... %· C> ~<5 ~ ~"' 
I ~ ~ 2 • .3 < 4- • S '!! .J:.i~',16tE~~E:EN~ ~ ,oo ~~II ~-~ ::; ~ ·a f • 'Z ' 3 • 4 ~ 5 • w • 7 ! B g~ ~ I • 2 ;s 3 ,. 4- ~ /¥ llD . 

~ ~j . -~:J. .J.to. ~ ~ ."?:. . ~ "' . P/<Allo~~E EA E-MENTi . '-1 f. , ffsAJM ~r-- ~ 
n2.1-I-!-- 1,;,5.f»'." • • • · /.~ ~ ~ L.£__ 1_,,_..-~, N~,·-10~2o·E h.!J.5.7Z1 lt4s.oo'· 1osoo!- • •-) -L- • '\!! 'n.oo!.... '"'*'·'/.!J "'"a.5.5' 5~'•10-2o''w l.-ir.s.!;}1,.11.soo' 1r.s.rm:J '35. ' - I ......,,.... , . ,5-iiif I . - ,__ (ii:>' CANAL IZ/W ·--t----A;M"-/OCZO'E. . --.. 15.00";J ----i i I . ~'<" UN' 5E£ _.., ,, I i I ""'" =--· =·,~~ ~NAL , 1 i 

3/.JEET w OF". lfi 



j 
' 

·~ 
~ ~ IQ 

! ~ 
I ~ " 
; l ~ 

), .. ,-;~ ... 
~ ~ 
~ i 

~ ~ 
~ 

' 'ii 
~ t 

~ 
.111'.ir/.C 

,&i'.11~ l: :i ~~ .~#,Ol.Otr 

·''"'7~ ~I 
~ 

... 
::c . , 
I-
a::: 
0 

l z . , 

' 
Q<. I ill:i a .~ 

~ );-+-;;•"'"• .,,,,,,...,,,.,.,,,,,~1~ 

1-----o-----+---.-: 1f--r: ~~~~~~ 
. ' 

<:( 

::z: 
0 
I-
>-
<::( 

Cl 



I 
;f 
I 
~ 
~ 

~ 
_E_ N(Jf,"-57'-z$•E,--·-- --~/'/!i(){)' 

----·--r . .uo.ll:t' 
!J;!!J.71' :J' no.= ~ ~ ,,, 

Z ~ .; I 

2"11'ttl!J' "' I t .s2~50· 

~li ~ .3 !l · 
~. I ~- 3284-0' ~ 

~ 
c ~ ~I .5 

>\ !J2HO' 
I Q'. 

'610.56' 

r~ ::. j_!:--=-:.::;--::;::--;;_· --i 

: 3 ~·~ 
I -~ <:>---''-----! 

l;;. :~:,i:R: ; . l' 
'~ ~ . -1 't 
~ ~ 2:67' ~l· /~ - 375.09' - i"' 

12 I m~/J· ·1~ 
U!.&i.' 

MAP /JOO~ _fQ_ ~~E __/!,_ 

N 

DAYTONA NORTH 
§ 
:.. 

... 
I~ ~ .., 

I~ 

0 /CO NJO - 440 -N•- M 
~CAI.£ IN --

10 

// - !; 
21J5.l!!J' 'ia 

13 

IZ 

2/J5"NJ' ~; !:! 

• l.:i 
26t..t.7' I ~ 

~ 
287.4-5' 

~ 

~HEEr a oft 1!1 



,j 
AIU #OO/C!E...f'#llE_!L 

DAYTONA NORTH 

N 

! 

.. fa · · · l'I 111 . · .. · EB 11 L 
~·1J~- 1.l ~- 11 •AA& 111-,N·~.~-~· . -- ·~-~-i •. -~~ .· 

. . . ........------- G ~ ••OD/' l ..,,.,,,._,,$ I 
----, ~ 277.l'O, .. ./&S.00' 1.1.S.Oa /.SSOCJ 1.-:s.·00·1 /~.S:OO 13.S:.00 1.:1.soo /,».S.OO /~$'.00 1.1.S.ttt I u /t:.S:.(7Q' 'l;S.00' /.l.S:OO /3 l.SS:Ot::J /~S:OO '.s;ocr J3S..OO /. 'S .t'WS00:-111/#S.C/r::.' /J".S.Ot:' "''='-"" ;<,s.oo· ,,...,.~- -1.- I r 

Ill I c b b I . ~ b g I ! ~ . \) - ' . : ! I .() ! ' c bl 
I ~ ~ g Z'I • ~ ~ ~ I ' r ., .5 • 4 ~ ~ I • z ' 3 \ 4 () I) 1 ' z L I 3 •I 4 ~ ' ~ I ' z ' 3 ' 4 ~ 8 I ' z • .3 ' 4 ~ I ~ I >. z ~1 '1 _, • 4 ; I a I ' 2 ~ _, • -4 g ~1 

~ ! ~... g ~ g ~ ~ ~ r I ~ I ~ g . ... g g ; i ~ : g ~ ~"' 
: g '9. "'soo· ;.fist:it' :JS<"O ;...S.0<7' '<iS<'a' /:!S.:u>t> 1.sscm ~s.aa· 1&:;00' 1,soo :Jsoo 1<.500~ },s.a,,· 1.ss0<>' I :.l.S:()O "soo' 1,s.00· ;.Js.tX,. I '.IS.oO 1~s.oc·v~.s.oo' "~s 1J.S.ot' ,,,19.s.e'-JO' 1&.s.00· J.JS.at> j ,1.s.s:oo ./&soo 1•.s:oo· 11;:. .31· !'! 
; ~ 2 ~ R !JOO.co· g I:: 30000· 30<>.oo· I:, • b ::Jnooo· :!Soooo• ~ ~ 30000 • ~ I 30000• b , • .30000• ~ 30000' I:, ' ;,oooo• 30000• '& , b !}00 oo· 

1 

30000• b , ~ :Joooo· ~ '% !JU, 31 % 
... Z7~ n> • ~ ;; za ... ~ s • .5z ~ I ~ ~ , .n "' ~ s ~ 1 .5t ~ 

1

... s ., 32 ~ s • 3z "' I ~ s • I 3z ~ ~ s '<i "1 .u ..., 
I ~ .. ~ ~ • • ~ I ~ • , ~ ~ , ~ I .., ~ ~ ... !:! • ~ ~ ,M ,,,. ~ ~ ,, ' I " ~ ~ , ~ ~ • .U15~' ~ 
! , .3 • UL!1".U'/li"£ NL!t•;li'I-' * 'i · Nlf~li /<'"£ N4f"#!; 'li"E · .V.!Jt•,u' 'li'E l'. J/4f•4,; •,£ . N.!19•-'i~-'-£ /./"'~ 'lit 

__J Z11i.,;z' • Z7 • 6> • .!JI \ • lb • .51 • I> • l I !JI • t; • !SI •· • ~ ' !>I • • 6 'I .5/ • • t; • • J2 . " 

{ ~~ z: • • : • !S•o •. l· ~ : • 5~ • 1 ' • • ·1 · ~ ' 3~ -~ • : • 3~ ' • • : l [: : , • ; _. Je:e8 • 
~ ~ 1 • 1 • 1 • 

1 
" 

1 1 
~~, 

1 
' 

1 
JU.Zli' 

~ I 1· • JO • lo .5 • • ZS • /J • Z'f • • IJ , Z'f , , 15 ' 2'1 ' l!1 , Z'f' , tl • e , JM ~' 
~ . Z75.U>' I • • • • • • • I ... 11 • .. . ,, . 
~ " 11 • ~ • 
.;:: • ~ ,. u • 9 • l!IJ , . 'f • z" , • ' 'f • ze • 'f' , t:e , , ., , ~e.a.e.:1' 
~ Z7HZ' • ~ • • . • • :: • . . M • i • . I I • ~- • • M ~ 

... 
~ 
4> 

. ~ 
7 

~· • • <'; .·' • ~ • • • • cl • • ~ ~ Z75J5 'fS ;, ... '!ii ;, I l!\ ~ • n , ') 
~~~ zz • II ~@ Z<; • ' ' ' ~ 0 Zt#c • • Zfi • II ~ ~1) Zfi> • ' II ~ ~~ .:ru.eo· ~ 

I!> ::t• • • • • ~ • • • • ~I.:" ,, ::i.. t!5 ,·;:; 

~ Z?.f. 

71

!!>' ZI , /Z • z::s • • /Z , Z5 , ! II! • • t!.5 • IZ l 1~ ~ • /Z. • .:re.a./o!l' ~ 
~ ~i[~ .,. • I ' " I ,, ,, ,, I ,, I ,, w i: I~ ~ • \ /!1 \ ~ 
t f ,__z.,_., __ ,,_z'_' z.o • •· ' ' • 1!4 • '' • z4 • ~ '' n • t4 , JS , z4 , 13 l J~ z4 • • ~ ,i---'-e_B._l7_'--; 
., ,. • • • • • • • • • • r 1~ • ,, N •. 

r1~:. \ 11 • • u • Z3 • "" , z;, , 1> ,,,_ 14 , t.J , , 14 • L~ • 1-1 l f~ r' , • 14 , .!JM.1
5

' I 

. . I . • " • ,.. ,, ,, ·1 , . . . ,, I I~ • " P.1 • L 
-----. II • . . I I • Joe". /.!J' 0 /00 """ """' 4"" """ 

273."'I!>' llJ • 1.5 • zz • 15 • zz. ' /5 ' l:J • 22 ' /5 ' zz • 15 • t!.Z ' I I> /$ ' r I'! o I"'"'"'"'! 
~ ,, • " , " ,, # ... , ,, ., 

1 
.. !'·I ,, "" ~z \ , su,£ 1111 Pt:Er 

It. ~ Nll,".U /6'/f • • N8,".(' ' 'F • ·. ' . Nlf'" /6t • • Nll'".('6 'Ii" • 1 ~ NM"#r.; ,. '£ • a NM~ /,;'£ .:t.!'6./e' 

~ 
t 7!J !JZ, ·~ /1 -.. ' It; \ · t:I ·1 · /(; t I!! ~ •1 ~ lid ll ll ~ 'I ~ Iii , . 21 . ~ ! /~ • ZI ~ ~ '" ! l Z/ ~ ~ /(; ~ ~ · ~I ~ 

i-===- .. • .. ~· Ult>.OO' 30000' ~ ~ soo.oo' !JOaoo' ~ i :10o.oo· :wo.oo' ~ ~ JJoo.oo' .wo.oo' ~ ~ .:10000· 11 JJOO.oo' ~ , !JDO.oo' it~ , ~ 
.. ~ -;.c 8 ~ 1o1n"'" ~ "£ • v.soo-·~/.:soo· /.:.s.oo· /&s:<>o ~'15.oo ,.~oo· ;,;s.oo· 1J.s.oa ~ 745.oo' ,t,;s-.oo- 1o1.s. s. ~oo' //0500' t.ss J.:15.&JO lli.5.oo ~oo' J.Js.oc; 1».t>0' 1,;soo _,,,,~,-,:, " 

: ; 13 i~. lid "' I!! /7 • zo. ~ . ' - ·~ li \. ~ ; .i. .!'.\ "- .. I LI .... ' .. ... -... /6/.t~:il/~?.-:· 
't7z -Y5

1 ~ 30000' ~ ' ~aao.o' ,DODO' ~ "l 3' .., ~ ... t\. · 'llt J ~ ..- ~ ~ ~ 0) ~ t;;) j ~ ~ e ~ ... ~ ""' ~ 
· "''"."'"' ,..£. j · _ _ . ~. t7 J: .'6 o t'I ~ to:: .. ' ~ 11 ~ 16 ~ t'f' "> to~ · · /1 %'" g /1 ~ zo 6 /'F "> 11, ... '., ~ zo ..- ~ 11 ~ '" ..... ~,, ~ zo " 
~ 14 ~ . /5· ~ ;:; ll!J :; /? ~ ~ "I w; ~ "l ~ .., ... ") " ") ., ~ T I "I ~ .. ~ ~Fl: :; ::: 

c~~ ~ ...... ~r~ M~·~~;.~-~·- =~ ~ - ,.i~·-~~,, 
~I 

5HE£T .!J. fF IS 



f. 

l 

i 

l 
'i 

I 

,41,/,0 .80011-!.!L PAGE _ffL 

o·A YT ON·A NORTH 

J~ ·.. .·qi ,,,.:::::-· )~. I l(""'::"....,.t I~__ t\I -~ ljl ""::;::____ 1\1 -...,.,-~IL 
~lf~oo~J J;o;- , ~coo~ ~ J:~,~ ~-Nu.,,o,..,n ~5.:1.0•' ~./e~(1~ ~oo'i :~o/~!1 ~0/~1 e:ee~J ~~O/~tl ~ ~1:s) f:"/'~j1 ~ ~1 :1~ f~~~ "';&~ ':§" 

-s / ~ ~ · e .% -! t· e1 ;i ~ ee ~ "" , .. ~ ~ ~ ~ I · "" "' "' "' ~ "" '" " " S .., '" " ..., I:< "" "' "" ~ 
~ "<:, ~ J,_,,. "' "!:. "> , .:1ou; • () I, 30000•, 21 rt:>O.oo' c"rJOOO' "M.e/' , .!t:>Oi;>o' , eocu.>t:>' i!'O{.'.oo' • ~«>' ~ tn::>a>' .!t>aOO' /8/.81;' 

/!JJ.JO' ")800'"! c_· -'~ )k,00' ~N6$";eoo. ~ t---, '~. r;;, & t; ~ ~ - .:100.00'' .J!~e/' - . "& .S00.00' g Joo.oo· ~ ~ .JOo.oo' '& .J«'.tX>'" ~ I g. J00.00' a eS/M' ~ 
' & ,,5$ . .JO' '?a ! ~0.00' "\:) ~ , ~ , .~.J?J ~ ~ ~ ~ ,5 & l'l' ~ Orj :J ¥j p; "> .. .!J "> e& ") "> ,3 "i t!'$ ~ I ~ '"" I ~ ! eo 0 "" "

0
"'· 77' ~ ~ ~ a a ~ .. ,, .. ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ , ~ ~ I' !:! " ~ I ~ " ~ esus: ' 

l !o! ,,5-1.U' ~.~ NBs·.~.!"00'£ ~ ' J .~ ~~J~ .,f. ~~N,,!J..f.2'00~, ;,~·1eoo·1: /,/8!}'./.2"00'£ N4'',,cOC>'c llB!J"~loo·E 
fl: ' l!1 ~ "l "> "> '° .5 ~ , ., 4 ' ZI ., ._ ,/ ' t!'5 ' .. 4 " ~ .. "' 4 ' _2~ ' 

5 L ~ I 19 , .w.u~ ~ ! ~ , ii: . , . ,, eso.&9' -. 

I 1----"~_._o.;_·~~J._,.; .~ .,f. , \ i.toT A ·rutrr or- T111s PtAr·.., ~ . .:1
7

' /,;aoo~--.:fCJOIX' ' I ~ ~ 
! ~i ' b ~,,~, l.. ~ /~so·. ;,;o.oo' JOO.or:>'(:, j .• .5 • .20 " • .5 ' l',/ ' "' 5 ' i'~ • " 5 • l'J ' t ~ 
. , Ii ~· ~ 18 , ::' · " • j ~ .;, , , , N eso.°"' ;,, >:i 

:; -157.#' ~j ~ ' 5 } .5 ~ ~ ~. , ~ ,! ~ I~ ~ t"' 
~I ~ ~ ~ t. , b ~ ::i % ~ g i " i; " m ' .. i; • e" .. ... i; • e" • • " ' "'e • ~ ~ 
~·I b 17 • .JO.~ ~ ":>~;;; :)( ;.11-~· J • , , e11~-1a' 111 

~ I #M.4e' ~ ~ • <: , ..,.. " b ~ ~ ts ~ . ~-
~ ~ qi !_ , ~ rl_ j "- .. ~ 7 ' /8 ' ... ~ 7 • l!2' ' ... ~ 1 • IZ ' .. ~ 7 ' i'/ ... ~ ::i: 
":i , • • ti M'> k ~ ' • Jt1C.H I 1 ~ '· ~ ~ $!! Iii en.?.?>' !~ 'l..i 

.., ~ ..fUJ.eo' I 1 Nt!l!J·1e'oo-£ ~ . Jt;5.~' 1i>0.C/P' j i!O • ~ H!l5 • · !II % ;. · !J? "' 5' ~ ~ 
~ ~ a ~ I • ~ ' 

7 ~ ~ 1
1 . • _ loi .. ~ /J l7 " ~ •~ 8 • ZI ' .. ~ /J • i'I • •~ /J ., t!O ., i'.LJ 

... ~ ., s ISr~ 15 l:i .JOO_,,,,.... ~ ~ ·a ti "' • ~ ~ i ~ 
~ ~ 't ~,:/.5lfl' ~ ~- ~0.00' ~ ~ .5t!l!J'//'.!/'JI/ y,5,5.IJO' • ~~ "i i!/ oj ~ I I I 

1 
• 

1 

~ C"Ol.58'~:1 IBO.OO' '-ITT I "' /t!I0.00' ' • 8 ~ /t.5.00' , H5.~ A;Q8~ ;;i /. ~ /§~;;ii~. • . ~ 
~· ~ -~ ~ ~I I ' ,(/B!J",/l"(l(J'E ~ ~ ~ :iii t ~I ~ lS~lffi!'l'U'OO'f 
~ os . tt7 ~ ~ " /2 I 1.1 " 1~ ~ ~ .Joo.oo' ~ It JO ~ /1 ::: 1e \0 J.J Iii ~ I ~ ~ 

al \:."' . I· ""q s ..;"" "' !11_" . ~l~ ez ~ 
eo.J.sr'~. 180.00' N I I , //J0.00' ~ 40().00' ~ lti5.00' • l&.5.00' ~O.Be' ~5.8e' ~oi:>j r JOO.OD' 

IM4./6: --~~ -A:~/.~ -~ 

s l'O :J s l!O 19 /Iii 
elfZtil>' 

19 /!I /0 J6 15 /0 

'"'-~' 
'.~ .... .,,_"", ~ /(Hi.00' . • 1 • _ . • • , r.:.·.e 00:£ • • • ~..co.5-~ ~ JOO.OQ· ~ ~ 

/1 
a u- · ~ 

1

. 11 • 1e .. 

1

... 11 • '" •

1

. II .. , /7 

~ I ~;,. ~ ~ I 8 ~ ~ ~ .15 ~ ~ ~ :2 -v11~·1e oo'E , pM•#e OO"E p49•.ufro'E 

l;_.:~;~-;.~3 ~ ~~I 5 (l fi • 7 IJ -' . JO• II te l.J ·~# g - ..._ /ol6'"k'OC'E • -:- a 8 ~ a b 8 a 8 l'..':IJ&.»'. 

~ z -~ "i "S _:; ~- ~ (:, f ! ~ t ~ II! t 13 ~ ~ IZ ..; 17 ..; . .; M ~ /7 "> ..; /e 0) I& ~ 
~ ' ' ; ---' ~.5r' l~.5.00' .tr ,,, , "!' _, , ,# =<:~~ ~ .wo.oo· !.! ~ ~· JQO.OO' ~ ""5.ZI' ~ 1 -~ ,300.00' ~ .!J()0.00' ~ ~ J00.00' ~ ..soo.oo· ' ~ ..J(J0.00' ~ . US.'7/' :!I 
". /:!:~.;,,~·"° ~~;":'), ~. \:, . t" . i ,W.ts·.,re·oo·~:j "'1111;,·~·05•£ ,;so.el' ~.'.5.ro' ,1;5oo· ~.~.oc' _';J.S.oo · '35-00' ;,;.5.0C' ~5.oo' IJJ.5.a::>'. _ i'OO.OO'. zro.oo· tll.5.7/~.I 

• -. ~ ~!fl ~ ~ a ~ /7 l(j • - - ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ a 8 a :: . , 
, 

~ ~~ ;: M o ~ n er; .s e-1 .. eJ ~e • e1 eo /3 ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ g /3 • "' ~ ~ /5 ~ ~ ~ l.'I /-1 s; ~ ~ ' ~ ~ 2 ,,, • N ~ /5 ~ 
~ ~~ ~ ~ b ") ~ m ~ ~ ~ "' ""~ ., "" il ~ .., ~ ~ "' 
,. ~" 158""' ~00 ,. • , , , , • /i;5.c) ~ 300.00' ~ ,. " U&>P' ,i;s.oo' lli5.00'. 1ss.oo .a.5.«>' 1r.s.oc' 1t0s.C'O' IJSOO' eoo.oo' ,!(JO.co' .ttu."1' 

~ 'Nor A PART{¥' TH/S ff.AT'~ , .• 7. . t #or A PAtfr OF TH/.5 °PUT 1 ~ ~- UO.OP! - "'°· 00' - ~,.,,,.... 
, ~ ~~ J l'e4.6fi" ~~ , , , , , , • lif5.00 ~ eJcu:xr:~1 :" i:i I. nl'.70' ~~~.ro , , ~I 'i" , ,, , ;,;500' ~ ~R:>· 
~ ~H ~ ~ p~·#e otYE ~ (I 8 il ~ ~ ~ a ~ =i r: ~ ~ : 
0 ~~ ;:; I :.i ~ e " • ~ • 5 ~ & 7 ~ " • !I /0 ~ ~ /I "' • () (:, ~ I g ~. e " ,,, 7 l 5 ~ Ii 7 " !J '° ~ ~ II "'~ 
> ~ I'<'' • b . ,J,~..,, ~ I ~ -·~· ' h I I''< " " ~ ' 

.589'.,e'oo'.H' &""-5!J' 1' '-C".!!0.&/1!._~Mtt:>::--«-... -'-~"'l ~~-=-~~...'.._o--•-1.. ~5.a>:l<-""'Jo.a>": H' st11S·-1e'oo'JY "'"·&o' - t:n,,,_,,7..'........~.tt:.5.oo~·--'-~ ~".'.'..._ =.~~....::J~,-~,_.;r..f:oa..:..~~""~ .__ . T ==r .-- t:iOr-c:iNA' lf/W ~ --~~. ~:?t 
11 I~ J 4T U' oo•w I I ~11rc11 UNUFG .5HEeT JI :/11 l 
~ CdV 

N 

~ 

~­
~ .., 

D Jf:-OMOJOQ-

~ 

SNllT IO Ct"' IS 



:c ..._ 
a:: 
0 
z 

_________ ...;.;. ____________ ,,~--------·------------------------.....:....-.----------..J 



~-

i 
j 
I 
'i 

J 
;~ 

i.j 

) 
~ 
:~ 
~1 
·.~ 

~i 
~: 
l 
1 
l 

... 
::: 
~ 

~ 

~ 

N 4lr ~·-~·Ii r~,u.~' ... 

CAN,/fl. 

, ~ ~ .JOo.oa• ~ --$0o.oo• ~ 

~. ~ ' ~ • ~NM"~'.I,} ,vu-1.v} 
'IO ~NM"M'Jl"E\; ~ ~ % ~ 

I ~,.,~;.~. ~~ ~ ta ~ e: ~ I ~ ~ ~ JI ~ 
: ~ ?:J.::(i.~ ~ ~ 5 '" • j , J ' .JO 

.. ~ ~ ~ ~ , ,. 
~ J e;jb,v",r.W'J/"£~ , I 

,.~~-~~ ~: ~ -~"~~· ~ r7 • 1 · • . 

. ~ ' 
~ ' • ' & ' I" 5 .!8 

- - l----"e5~- It • 'I '; 
N 

43 

11.· 

"~ 8 
~ 

~ 

25 

~ l~~~-,,,,~:"';:,,.5 T~ ' -"~ 1 r: · .. r-~1,~ ~ I ~ I 
~ ZI ... 1 IO. .!4 

... I I' J 
15 , I·· J.:1<1.tiO' 

J ' 4 

~Ii 
J35.e-'' # '1 

" 

-I'' 
II • $ 

J.l:5.t'U!I-' 
13 

' tG 
, 

1~ 1r 
I 

.!4 II NJ 

I 

·t-;--jil-: 
·r1 

N 

/£' 14 /!I 

DAYTONA NORTH 

. fB 
SlllT /MANOI Dt'i'A,fAlll&E CANAl 

...----.-.---~---.oo-·~-•I N&!!'§O'/:J'E ti~t.-'e' ,;,. • -- •.•••. •Q-----r---~ 

.M ~ 
~ 

J .JO 

.!:I 

.5 .!8 

~- n 

.Fi# 

10 e.!1 

II n 

IZ r1 

l!O 

~ 19 

~ _, 
J.55.'M' 

~ 

33e.s-• 

• .J5 

'- ---- I . 

~ 

/.!I ' .. i!Z • 
~-'N' 

u .. 
-4-

t!'Q • 

UAP fJOO/f-1ILl'.4GE _!L 

N 

~ 

... 
~ 
~ 

;oo·of{>O~Jl;ld~ 

}!J M 

.51-/EET Ii' tF 15 



::::c: 
1-· 
a:: 
0 
2: 

<( 

z 
0 
I-­
>­
<( 

Cl 

7/ 
// 

-·~, 

•II 

-------------;.,.;...._;.._ _____ ,_. ____ .. __ , _______ ~--------------.. ---------·-·----------J-



i 

I DAYTONA NORTH 

MAP BC>OK. _f9__PA6l:~ 

N 

~ 
~ 

~ 
'<( 

IJ 
V) 

_jL . . . ·~21 ·_· .... · .· : - .- , ~E aa'~1w 
- ~L~ ~.· 5"_~~1~~ ., ~w M.~L~m~E:5~E~E~5;U:ll~~:';3~,~~·;N~~~-~M~-I=~~-~-~~~,~-~~~~~~~~~~~~ -- -~:1---.------,···_-~, - " - -. --.---- -=-----. 24'-8.?2' 

17 

//, 

1

. ~ :?~123· '!:!. zoo.oo: 200.00~ ! 'zoo:oo~ • ~. 20000·~ 
1 

~ !Joo.""' r.1 30().()(J' to '. ~20000~1 ~ ~ zoo.oo:. ! oo.0#' 15005'. • • • · - • • 

' .. I ;; 2 ~ .3 ~ I ' I ~ 2 ,.: s ., ¢ ~ ..a 1'~ 2 ~ I ::: I ;;;. 2 :;:;i E5 I ' ' - -

0 /(){) 2fl() 3/}() 400 ~/10 

M·~ ~ 
$;CALE. IN FEET 

I ... ..1 ~ "' 1 ~ "' ~ ~ ;:; 200.00·.. ~ .. ~ ;. , ~ " ~ a. -::t ~ : .: 
I 230.~IY 200.00' 200.0/J' II( 2.0000' 20000' ~ f • 300.00' • <> ~ .,. :1 5 "' " ., 7 l:i /3 ~ 9 ,s IZ ~ /iiJ o:i. l-1- ~ 

~~ ~ 33 . ~ ' ~ .300 00' ~ ~ ~ 300. 00' ~ 300 00' % ~ ~ .., ~ 5 

2 ~ 3 ~ ~ ~ ~ :: @> ~ ~ ~ ~ "' 
~'. lri .,. " 5 lri: 1ri lri "" I "" 4 n ~I 
... ~ ~ 3j022' ~ ,,. ~ ~ ~ ~ ' ~ f---"-----+-___;__-~ 
~;~ N"9•11'5'--E ,.,_

1 
.j "" , 7 • 1$0 .. 00' 14913' 

~~ ~ ~ 7 ' ~. 32'1'.154' • • I · 
~1· ~ ~ ~ 9 8 : '~ 9 

~ ... 52,, .f.7' ~ • • ;. 2 3 ·I ,, .1 ~ 

~1 ! m ~ " ~ m ~ ' " • ! " 
"' ~ i!/2~1•.' l:! 300.00' ~ 00.00' l:! "' • ·1 

:(: I (l 

~I ·#277~ 1"5.00: • Jr.~C'{): ~ • I~ , <!: tf} 

\J, ~ .. ~ ~ ~-~ 4 ~ I ~ I ~ 2 ~ 3 £ 4- ~ ~ !S 21 .I ?'> J -u. I . 

:i: 
f{-209' 1..s.a7 Jf.~oP' 
N"'r-19<2o•E, ,;;s2.~· 5 1,. 

~1: . ~ 7 • ' llJ • 19 • <:. 

2 

~ ~ 800 . .33' ~ • • 3 4 JJ ~ ,,,. .!> 4 

-~ ~ ~ ., • ~ 2Q • 2/ • • • • 1-'0---· --4----44 

z· i !I=-' , :.. . . . 5 (;. s • - • 
~ // • ~ 22 • 2'3 • • • • l!i31----'---:-l'lli\lf}..'=-'<%..{ 

~ !JD().71' 'Ii • • s 

~ 2 ~ ~ 2 
~ Ill ~ 3~'H>' ~ ~ 2~ ~ ~5' /""1.W~ 
~ ~ ~ "" ~ /0 . // ~ 
~ ,:_ ~ 30f' &#-. ~ l!IDOO<;I 

'<( ... 

~ b!-,,,,,7-1-..,-,7'!""',...-lf•.,..~DO.:._.,..' ;_-..,..a.~~~-.....:..:- " t~DO' 
~ 11. 

~ // 

:=:::=:::::::=.::==::==:-==::-::::?:::~5:::::==::==:==:=::~:i::::::~::.-:::==:J>:.~~~~~;:::::::;:.;t;:::~~~~~!2.!!+~~~~~~~~~~~~~~§§~~~~~~~§:::·~~ ~5.00' 

lil ~ 
s.uEET I~ ()f: 1!5 



l 
I DAYTONA NORTH 

__J . ~1 , I rt a 

· ~4.~"//'S4"£ ,NArt:# L/NE J'EE .P{£Er ,,_, ill - - . I 
--------------:----~~~Z-R/'iY --i.-:--- ---------- ------------------------- ----

-az,a· ~~00 ~· ~-- ·- --- 1 • DB-'/"""~ Us.;if""cn--L-J" ~~00 ~5.Dt. • r1'/.ZZ' ~ .Al"'/"// 54"E V'/7 7'1' ,_. 

C~ ~ /.5' ~ '~ ~ I ~ J .c ~ r , ~ z • J • -1 • .:t • ,:; • 7 • " :so; T • "~ • ,,, • n .. ,., • , 4 • :i::,.:t • ,~ ~ ~ z11.:z· " I 
~~ ~ ~ ,Al<'l!'"/I' "£ ~ ~.-, N ,Al"!!"l~'S#-G• ! 
I ~uo·_,~~u~--·--"'- ·------;Q"J.~~-~-~;~~1J:s.OQ' z1203' 

ZH·§" ztm.OZJ ~Zt?OOO' ~ JOll.t' ;;, ;-r-;;;;: .. o· , .. §00 , • • 1 · . . /•S."10' ;'S§.00' ' ~ 
I • • \i .¢ ~1 ~['."' 
i t r ~ ~ :: ., ~ ~ ,0112 , ~ R ~ ~ i ~ .:::: ~ ;:; f'.!/tlt:t-'•i;·~"'E.. ~ ~ / " z " J 1r ,,,_ , .$ It u , 7 .::; a ~ ? , /O 1 

.:!.r'5"1'7~tzoooo•~zao.oo'"~ .5 %.~~ ~ ~ 
1 • NJJ'l.14'J7"E '1:.50.,7' ,01.04 ~ ~e 1 1~1 .ao' 1~5.ao" • ,., "' .. ~ • • "~~ .. J"..J'.:1°.oo'~t trzlJJ' 

ti IF :1 . ~ • ~ ~ i;I~ ~, ,r, • ( ~ - ra § 
"ii': . • I I:> 1:1 '!~· ~ ,01.<U' ~ II • IZ • /.S • /If. • IS • It> • ~17 .. /.6 • " • LOR : Z'/~.Z'' 

I . ' 7 ?-:, ,._"\ NB!!·11·~·e '\ 
___a ~· ANJT /I Pl/KT~ TlllJ Pt.AT,. ~ fto:')_,,,.,~ ~ 151.aO' ''§dD" ., ,, ,. . " ,,, " /65.e¥1' /H.Olt:" 

-,~ ·~ . -~ --~~---

-i :; ~ ~ /S/. .. O' /i>~o<>' - • 

~ A' 6 ~· • • 
.. ':t \) S00.1¥' ::i:. I ~ \) ·1 Lf40J'{.;). 
~ 'lit ·~1·z .. .s~~.s~~.7 .. CJ,.,.,.,.,~ --v::;r 
' _,S::.""';,f::'- &50.Sl~oo· • .,. ' • • . ~ ~ ~i i.t 8 ,l.'li 
'ii · :10000' 1§1,,80' /H.txJ' • • ~ • /.:'.:\ • , • MS.00' /.1§.00' ~I '>••44_,.. ]~ 

~ R , ~ ~ "' :1 ~ .J=: r , ~· • ~ 10 ~ • • , ~ '1 • i) 
:::, ~ '-/$ °i:I ' 14 • IJ ' "''" ~ I) I:. \) ' '> 
i... ~ '>l o; l:!; ;:( . ., II! ~' • " g II • IL • .tJ • I# • ~ /5 ' /.r; • /7 • /11 • /, • z,o \) ::i:.Lu.a.s: 

~~a . ~ ~ ~ :: a (d!!;r.Ht"~ ~ ,1m•1, j4<t''G. ~ ' 10 

:: N nf'IJIO' IM.OO' "" 16!1..00' ~ JOO.OC' ~ 1§/JJ(J' /6$.QC' ,,,, " K 1·· I "" - /1116.0D' /~.DO' 
;.:>---:~- '· .Nz:a tU-Ot!IO' ""'*a"'°; ~~~----·- Z'YSJ.$ 

! ~ """"'. ~ .100.00' ~ I ~ .JOOOO' ~ .100.00·· ~ s ::WO.<:>O' ~ ~~=· ' IS -v.~ ~ ~""" ~I II 

~ ~ ~- :1r1.:,,. ~ : ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~. ~ ~ · ~ : ~ ~ ~I z~u· 
~ 1E ~.- z ~ 1 ~ ~ ~ r ~ 7 it% I~ z ~ 1 ~ h z ~ 

~~ 
~ 

.~ 
~ .. ~ 

• AIOT A P"1"7'QF THl.S Pt.RT -

~ 

~~~ ... !~ :!-.. 
~· 
I~ 

~ 

ft I! 
' ~ 

I 

-"600K _fg__PA61 _ffi__ 

N 

~ 
( 
( 
~ 
~ 
~ 

·~ .. ~ ~ ~ \II I\ ~ ~ ~ If\ 1r\ I ~ le{ 

!IC' ·"'0-::a!!•l~~·e:· "li"'' ' ~ · ~ ~ ' ~ · ,1nr1~.s.re• ~~ ' · • ~ 
II .1Z040' @ . ~ \ H ~ • ~ .J. . ~ , ~. :. ~· J 

! . ..,., 41 Afl{) "IO() soo .:JO 

~~,., IZ I 
~~ ~ 2'6.0.. 

~ ·~f ------i .1 6 ~ •' 11::' .s .IJ~ , 

11;. - ~- ~;. • • iarlli . ~-(;! i... -

U 
I~ 4 ~ ~ :" ~ ~, ~ " ~ ' ~· • 4 % f • ~ ~ -1 ~ 
") "' . 1:1"' ..... "' . "' .. \)"' "' "' 

I 
~ .1roaz' ~ :Ioo.oo• :> ~ .~~ ,,oo.oo' ~ .wo.oc• ~ ~ ,, ~ , ~ ~ ~ • ~· 

I~ ~ PB!l"ll' W'E ,,.,,,,.,,,.,~-E 

II : J ~ 10 ~Ir~~ !J ~ io ~ .. .5 ? l'7 ~ S! s ~-
' ~ 5 ~ ~ : ·~ s ~ ~ s ! I -'~·""' zn • .,· .. t1'."' z.1,.,,. :!00.00' .Joooo' sm.oo• 

.. ,,,,,, -TRN~·A:,r~ #o:'7n &1.,.,.1. 

10 

~~-. J6t•z!'41J"W Z":SP,.:t?' 

~ 

~~-. 14 
"' ~ t ' zr&.6# 4 

~-.: 

\)1· ~ 1~· fl ~- : 
.. Z."'7.4-1' 

~ 

':: 
~ 

iWMlll M 

.s,a,·z.r41J~w: T:t'1'Z.U' I 
..fn'•zz·-uJ·w 

'U 
-;; 

SN££T 15~15 







 AT&T Florida 
400 SW 2nd Ave 
Gainesville, FL 32609 

T: 352-371-5250  
F: 352-264-7740 
dm6695@att.com 
www.att.com 
 

June 12, 2015 
 
 
 
Paul Marcinko, EIT 
Jade Consulting, LLC 
208 Greeno Road North, Suite C 
P.O. Box 1929 
Fairhope, FL 36533 
 
 
 
Re:  Vacation of Plats – Lots 36, 37, and 38, Block 128, Daytona North, Map Book 10, 
Page 1-15, Flagler County, FL. 
 
Dear Mr. Marcinko, 
 
 
I hereby certify that AT&T Florida (aka, Bellsouth Communiciations, LLC) has no 
objections to the release of easements / or right of ways within the lots 36, 37, and 38, Block 
128, Daytona North, Map Book 10, Page 1-15, Flagler County, FL, as shown on the attached 
documents.  
 
This letter also relinquishes all rights to easements of the aforesaid parcels all inclusive. 
 
Please feel free to call me at (352) 371-5250 if you have any questions or concerns. 
  
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Daniel McGarity 
Mgr OSP Plng & Engr 
AT&T Florida 

mailto:dm6695@att.com�
http://www.att.com/�
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City of Bunnell, Florida 

Agenda Item No. H-1 
 

Document Date:   6/17/2015 Amount: $  

Department: Community Development - Mick 

Cuthbertson 

Account #:  

Subject: Monthly Report on the June 16, 2015 Planning and Zoning Board Meeting 

Attachments: 
Please number items as 

they will appear on the 

agenda. 

1. Location Map for Stor-It Self Storage. 

2. Proposed façade elevations for Stor-It Self Storage. 

3. Location Map for Dollar General. 

4. Example of a completed project- Dollar General. 

5. Location Map for Vacation of a portion of Canakaris St. 

Agenda Section: H. New Business 

Summary/Highlights: 

In order to allow staff a better opportunity to provide the Commission with development updates, staff 

is presenting a report and information about the Planning, Zoning and Appeals Board meeting. 
  

Background:  

The following item was on the agenda of the June 16, 2015 Planning and Zoning Board Meeting: 

 Request for Site Plan approval for Stor-It Self Storage to be located at 3700 E. Moody Blvd. 

 Request for Site Plan approval for Dollar General to be located at 1100 County Rd 305. 

 Ordinance 2015-XX Vacating a 13 foot long portion of Canakaris Street located between 

Hospital Dr. and Dr. Carter Blvd.           

 

Request for Site Plan approval for Stor-It Self Storage to be located at 3700 E. Moody Blvd.:  Site Plan 

approvals do not require any advertising.  Newkirk Engineering, representing the applicant, requested 

site plan approval for Stor-It Self Storage.  The proposed project includes five one story buildings 

totaling 96,263 square feet of indoor storage and a paved parking area with 55 covered spaces for boat 

and vehicle storage.  The site plan meets the standards established in the City of Bunnell Land 

Development Code Chapter 22 Site Plan Review and Approval and all City comments have been 

addressed.  The applicant is in the process of obtaining their Florida Department of Transportation 

connection permit, St. Johns River Water Management District permit, and Florida Department of 

Environmental Protection permit.  They will need to provide copies of all required State and local 

permits when they have been obtained.  The Planning Board unanimously voted to approve the site 

plan contingent on copies of all required State permits being provided to the City. 

 

Request for Site Plan approval for Dollar General to be located at 1100 County Rd 305: Site Plan 

approvals do not require any advertising.  Jade Consulting, representing the applicant, request site plan 

approval for Dollar General.  The proposed project is a 9,100 square foot retail store.  The site plan 

meets the standards established in the City of Bunnell Land Development Code Chapter 22 Site Plan 

Review and Approval and all City comments have been addressed.  The applicant is in the process of 

obtaining their Flagler County access permit and Florida Department of Environmental Protection 

permit.  They are in the process of finalizing their St. Johns River Water Management District 

(SJWMD) permit.  They have completed the self-certification process and SJWMD staff comments 

have already been addressed.  They will need to provide copies of all required State and local permits 
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when they have been obtained.  The Planning Board unanimously voted to approve the site plan 

contingent on copies of all required State and local permits being provided to the City. 

 

Ordinance 2015-XX Vacating a 13 foot long portion of Canakaris Street located between Hospital 

Drive and Dr. Carter Boulevard:   This item was advertised in the June 6, 2015 edition of the News 

Tribune.  City of Bunnell staff and Sheriff Manfre have been in discussions regarding this item.  The 

Flagler County Sheriff is in the process of moving into the building addressed as 901 E. Moody Blvd. 

(the old hospital).  In order to make the facility more secure for the Sheriff’s new office, the City is 

requesting a 13 foot long portion of its 50 foot right-of-way known as Canakaris St. be vacated and 

abandoned by the City.  The vacated portion of this right-of-way will become a landscape buffer to 

limit access to the new Sheriff’s office grounds from the direction of Dr. Carter Blvd.  This action will 

not affect the ability of other property owners between Hospital Dr. and Dr. Carter Blvd. to access their 

property from the portion of Canakaris St. adjacent to their properties that will remain open if using 

Dr. Carter Blvd. to get to Canakaris St.   There are utilities located in this right-of-way.  The Sheriff’s 

Office will grant the City easements so that it can continue to have access to any utilities located in the 

portion of the right-of-way being vacated.  The Ordinance vacating the right-of-way and the easements 

are all items that would come before the Commission for approval.  The Planning Board expressed a 

number of concerns about this request and proposed plan for Canakaris St. 

The Planning Board unanimously denied the ordinance without prejudice in the event that the 

Commission wants the Planning Board to look at this matter again 

 

Approver Name: Approval Status: Date: 

 

Sandra Bolser, CMC, City Clerk Approved for the 2015 07 13 Agenda 7/1/2015 
 

Staff Recommendation:    

None.  This is a report. 



Stor-It Self Storage Site Plan Approval-
Location Map

Subject 
Property

N



Stor-It Self Storage Site Plan Approval-
Color Elevations



Subject 
Property

Dollar General Site Plan Review-
Location Map

N

CR 302

CR 305



Dollar General Site Plan Approval-
Color Elevation Example



Vacating a Portion of Canakaris St.-
Location Map

N

Subject 
Property

New 
Sheriff 
Office
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City of Bunnell, Florida 

Agenda Item No. H-2. 
 

Document Date:   7/01/2015 Amount: $13,207.21 

Department: Engineering Department Account #: 401-0533-533.6300 

Subject: Change Order to TLC Diversified, Inc. Construction Contract for the Bunnell 

Water Treatment Facility Ion Exchange Project for Extended Time and Cost 

Attachments: 
Please number items as 

they will appear on the 

agenda. 

1. Contract Change Order Form 

2. Contractor’s Request for Extension Claims 

3. Engineer’s Review of  Extension Claims 

Agenda Section: H. New Business 

Summary/Highlights:  

This is a request to increase the project duration by 75 Days and the project cost by $13,207.21. 
 

Background:  

The original contract with TLC Diversified, Inc., called for 330 days (June 2nd) for Substantial 

Completion and 360 Days (July 2nd) for Final Completion at a cost of $4,828,000. During the course of 

the project unforeseen delays occurred such as a northern winter storm closing of the roof panel 

factory, rain out delays, control panel surge suppressor component replacement and lost time 

attributable to submittal review of  a contractor driven alternative disinfectant tank design. The 

requested time will result in Substantial Completion by August 16th and Final Completion by 

September 15th.  

Increased costs, regarded as very minimal given the value and complexity of the project, resulted from 

two sources: addition of a floor drain and the control panel surge suppression upgrade. Although 

details have yet to be finalized, the funding of this change order is expected to come through a 

contingency allocation by USDA Rural Development, the primary project funding source. TLC 

Diversified, Inc., has voluntarily paid for the construction modular office from the middle of May and 

has overall performed in a manner very much to the satisfaction of the Engineering and Utilities staff. 
 

Finance Department Review/Recommendation:  To be funded from the USDA grant final approval must be 

obtained from USDA.  Recommend approval contingent upon final USDA approval. 

 
 

Approver Name: Approval Status: Date: 

 

Finance Director  Approved 7/2/2015 

Sandra Bolser, CMC, City Clerk Approved for the 2015 07 13 agenda 7/2/2015 
 

Staff Recommendation:    

Approval of the Contract Change Order No. 1 with TLC Diversified, Inc. contingent upon final 

approval by USDA. 

City Attorney Review: Reviewed and approved. 

 

 

 















 
 

TLC Diversified, Inc. 
Keeping Water Moving 

Environmental Construction 
Professionals Serving the Water 
& Wastewater Industry 

CG C041816 
CU C053963 

June 25, 2015 

 

Mr. Fernand “Tib” Tiblier Jr., PE 
City of Bunnell – Utilities Department 
PO Box 756 
Bunnell, FL 32110 
 
 
Re: Water Treatment Plant Ion Exchange  
 
Subject: Request for additional contract time 
 
Mr. Tiblier, 
 
As you are aware, the original Substantial Completion date for the project was June 2, 2015.  We 
were not able to achieve that milestone due to several factors which include the following: 

• Cementitious Roof Panels – These panels were manufactured in Newark, OH.  The 
manufacturer shut down production at their facility between February 7th and February 22nd 
due to the extreme weather this past winter.  Panel delivery was delayed from the original date 
of February 23rd to March 17th.  It was not practical to source this product elsewhere as the 
project specifications did not permit any substitutions.  The net result was a 22 calendar day 
delay and we believe that a non-compensable time extension is justified. 
 

• PLC I/O cards – During review of the control panels, seven discrete inputs were added to the 
scope of work.  This necessitated the addition of an extra discrete input card in PLC-1.  The 
panel supplier was able to eliminate an analog input card that they anticipated supplying but 
proved to not be required.  They used the cost savings from this card to offset that of the 
additional discrete input card so the change order for additional compensation was withdrawn.  
However, approval of the panels was delayed by approximately 30 days and we believe that a 
non-compensable time extension is warranted. 
 

• NaOCl metering skids – our supplier suggested combing the NaOCl metering skids into a 
single Triplex skid.  He felt that this approach provided a more flexible system and ensured the 
standardization of parts which will make future maintenance easier for the City.  No additional 
compensation was requested for this change but the approval of the skid submittals was 
delayed by approximately 30 days while we worked out the particulars.  This change also 
affected related scopes such as PLC programming by the Ion System Supplier and the I&C  

Page 1 







 
 

TLC Diversified, Inc. 
Keeping Water Moving. 

Environmental Construction 
Professionals Serving the Water 
& Wastewater Industry 

CG C041816 
CU C053963 

Main Office 
2719 17th Street East 
Palmetto, FL. 34221 

Central Office 
378 Center Pointe Circle - Suite 1272 #4  
Altamonte Springs, FL. 32701 

East Coast Office 
7233 Southern Blvd, Suite B-1 
West Palm Beach, FL. 33413 

  941-722-0621 
  941-722-1382 
  www.tlcdiversified.com 

 
December 15, 2014 

Diane Achinelli  
Senior Administrative Assistant 
1365 Hamlet Avenue 
Clearwater, FL 33756 

Re:  City of Bunnell WTP Ion Exchange Project   
Change Order Request Subject: (COR)-02, RFI-007, Drain Piping Modifications 

Ms. Achinelli  
 
We are requesting a Change Order in the amount of $2,243.23 be issued to cover all cost associated with the 
drain piping modifications as outlined in RFI -007 per the attached detailed breakdown as follows. 
  
Be advised that this work was already in progress upon receipt of the RFI and to minimize the schedule impact 
we have proceeded with the change. Additionally this change will have a negative impact in completing the 
under-slab piping in the treatment structure of (7) calendar days and will adversely impact the substantial 
completion date for the project and therefore wish to reserve our righty to a time extension accordingly. 

 
 
Sincerely, 

David J Blanchard 
David J Blanchard 
Project Manager 
Florida Central Office 

 



 TLC Diversified, Inc. Estimate Summary
RFI-007, Floor Drain Modifications

Bunnell WTP, Ion Exchange Project

Item Description Labor Labor Equipment Material Subcontract Subtotal
 Hours Dollars Dollars Dollars Dollars
 
1 RFI‐007, Drain Piping Mods 13                  825.00$          290.21$          893.95$            -$                  2,009.16$         

TOTAL 13                  825.00$          290.21$          893.95$            -$                  2,009.16$         

Subtotal 2,009.16$         

Profit & Overhead 10% 200.92$            

 
Subtotal 2,210.08$         

 
Bond 1.5% 33.15$              

Total CO Amount 2,243.23$         

Page 1



TLC Diversified, Inc. Detailed Estimate
RFI-007, Floor Drain Modifications

Bunnell WTP, Ion Exchange Project

Material Material Labor Labor Labor Equip Equip Subcontract Subcontract
Item Quantity Unit Description Unit Price Total Cost Unit M-Hr Ttl M-Hrs Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

 RFI‐007, Drain Piping Mods -$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

Materials -$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

1 EA 12" SCH 80 PVC COUPLING 225.00$              225.00$                1.5 1.5 99.00$                  -$                      -$                      

1 EA 6" SX 4" CH 80 PVC WYE 117.78$              117.78$                1 1 66.00$                  -$                      -$                      

1 EA 4" SCH 80 PVC 90 13.56$                13.56$                  0.5 0.5 33.00$                  -$                      -$                      

20 LF 4" SCH 80 PVC PIPE 4.64$                  92.80$                  0.1 2 132.00$                -$                      -$                      

20 LF 6" SCH 80 PVC PIPE 8.95$                  179.00$                0.1 2 132.00$                -$                      -$                      

1 EA 4" PVC FLOOR DRAIN 180.00$              180.00$                1 1 66.00$                  -$                      -$                      

0.25 CY ENCASEMENT 125.00$              31.25$                  0.5 33.00$                  -$                      -$                      

 -$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

 Equipment -$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

0.5 DAY Back Hoe -$                      0 -$                      340 170.00$                -$                      

0.5 DAY Compaction Equipment -$                      0 -$                      125 62.50$                  -$                      

10 Ga Fuel -$                      0 -$                      4 40.00$                  -$                      

-$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

 Labor Excavation & Encasement -$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

1 EA Operator -$                      4 4 264.00$                -$                      -$                      

 -$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

 -$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

 -$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

 -$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

 -$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

1 LS TAX 6% 54.56$                54.56$                  0 -$                      17.71$            17.71$                  -$                      

 -$                      0 -$                      -$                      -$                      

Total 893.95$                12.5 825.00$                290.21$                -$                      

 



SALES ORDER

Sales Rep Name

Payment Terms

B/W-PPA

PO Number

1414-416428

Ship To: 

Voice: (813) 740-1144

Fax: (813) 627-9387

Sales Order Number: 39457

Sales Order Date: Nov 21, 2014

Page:

To:

TLC DIVERSIFIED INC
2719  17TH STREET EAST
PALMETTO, FL  34221

TLC DIVERSIFIED INC
WTP ION EXCHANGE
100 UTILITY DRIVE
BUNNELL, FL 32110

Customer ID

Customer Contact Shipping Method

TLC DIVERSIFIED INC

1

HOWARD C. POWELL

Net 30 Days

Quantity Item Description Unit Price Amount

1.00 12" PVC SCH 80 COUPLING 225.00 225.00

1.00 6" X 4" SCH80 PVC LATERAL WYE SXSXS 117.78 117.78

1.00 4" PVC SQUARE FLOOR SINK (FLOOR DRAIN) 180.00 180.00

SIOUX CHIEF 861 SERIES

1.00 PVCF809004 04" SCH80 PVC 90, SXS 13.56 13.56

20.00 PVCPIPE8004 04" SCH80 PVC  PIPE 4.64 92.80

20.00 PVCPIPE8006 06" SCH80 PVC  PIPE 8.95 179.00

Sales Tax 

808.14

Freight 0.00

860.67TOTAL ORDER AMOUNT

52.53

Subtotal 

Ship By: Nov 21, 2014

MCDADE WATERWORKS INC
PO BOX 16039
TAMPA, FL  33687-6039



 

 
 

SECTION 00852 

CONTRACTOR’S REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 

TO: THE CITY OF BUNNELL 

 

FROM:  TLC DIVERSIFIED, INC.   DATE: November 4, 2014  

 

CONTRACTOR REQUEST FOR INFORMATION NO.: 007 

 

PROJECT NAME: WATER TREATMENT PLANT ION EXCHANGE PROJECT 

 

PURCHASE ORDER NO.: ENGINEER’S PROJECT NO. 059730010 

 
 

 

QUESTION:  Please find the attached questions regarding the proposed drain locations for the contactor 

and waste resin tanks.  

 

  
 

  
 

  

BY: Mark Selph  DATE: November 4, 2014  

 

 

REPLY:   

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

BY:  DATE:   

 

 

END OF SECTION 

 

  
CONTRACTOR’S REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 00852-1 

WATER TREATMENT PLANT 

ION EXCHANGE PROJECT 

plocke
Text Box
See attached responses along with supplemental information provided by TLC.



Contactor Underground Drain Connections:  
The drawings shown three (3) connections:  

• Tank overflow  
• Tank drains  
• And for sample sink? 

 
With the tank overflow and drain floor stub-ups in fixed site positions, it could be difficult to have 
associated tank nozzle in the required perfect position / orientations, that they will be aligned.  The 
accuracy at which nozzles can be orientated on a vessel is about ±0.5-0.75 degrees for most fabricators. 
Assuming the floor stub ups are about 8.0ft from the center of the vessel, this results in ± 0.8-1.3in 
variation along an 8ft radius arc (plus how accurate site underground piping can be positioned factors in 
as well).  
 
Another alternative - and allows more site piping flexibility, would be to have one common floor stub up 
for both the overflow and drain (located more central).  Neither of these lines are used that often, and 
never together. I think this would work fine. Maybe suggest to engineer.  See mark-up.  
 
The third drain I assume is for the sample sink. The sink is used for sampling resin concentrations from 
the contactor vessel. What's drained into the sink, wants to be returned to the contactor (and not wasted 
down the drain). The sink doesn't really need a waste/drain connection. In the submittal comments letter I 
sent out several weeks back, one item was about the sample sink.  An eductor is used to return what's 
drain in the sink back to the contactor. It requires:  
- 1" potable / service water line  
- 1-1/2" line from sink around to resin return pipe.  
 
The sink would likely be set just off the tank pad (currently illustrated half on / half off).    
 
 

plocke
Text Box
1)  We take no exception to combining the Contactor tank drain and overflow lines into a common drain as illustrated on this RFI. 
2)  Eliminate the drain from the sample sink.  Provide 2" Tee and 2"x1" reducer, connect 1" PVC PW line to 2" PW line where it branches off to the Resin Regeneration Skid.  Run 1" PW line to 1-1/2" sink drain; furnish and install 1"x1-1/2" eductor; furnish and install 1-1/2" PVC resin return line from eductor back to Contactor (confirm location with Orica).
Provide 4" floor drain from storage room with compressor and connect to 6" drain as shown on the attached.
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Waste Brine Tank Underground Drain Connections: 
 
The plan sheet indicate both a floor drain and an additional drain line from the waste brine tank. Is the 
intent to make a separate connection for the waste brine tank or is the floor drain itself sufficient? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

plocke
Text Box
The intent is to have two separate connections.  Move floor drain as shown (approximate location shown) to allow for the larger brine waste tank.  We understand that the flow into the brine waste tank will be approximately 40-50 gpm.  Additionally, a 3-inch automatic valve will be provided and will be operated based on tank level.  The 3-inch manual valve will be used for throttling the flow to avoid surcharge in the floor drain.  Provide 2" BFV to be installed directly downstream of 3"x2" reducer to provide for additional manual flow control as shown on the attached.
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TLC Diversified, Inc. 
Keeping Water Moving. 

Environmental Construction 
Professionals Serving the Water 
& Wastewater Industry 

CG C041816 
CU C053963 

Main Office 

2719 17th Street East 
Palmetto, FL. 34221 

Central Office 

378 Center Pointe Circle - Suite 1272 #4  
Altamonte Springs, FL. 32701 

East Coast Office 

7233 Southern Blvd, Suite B-1 
West Palm Beach, FL. 33413 

  941-722-0621 
  941-722-1382 
  www.tlcdiversified.com 

 
April 6, 2015 
 

Diane Achinelli  
Senior Administrative Assistant 
1365 Hamlet Avenue 
Clearwater, FL 33756 

Re:  City of Bunnell WTP Ion Exchange Project   
Change Order Request-04, Control Panel(s) Surge Suppression Devices  
 

Ms. Achinelli  
 
We are requesting a Change Order in the amount of $10,963.98 be issued to cover all cost associated with changing out the 
specified surge suppression devices in the control panels to ones that carry a UL rating per RFI-013. For your review we 
have provided a detailed breakdown of cost from our Systems Integrator, Commerce Controls Inc., (CCI) and the following 
summary.  

  

 

 

 

Contingent upon receipt of a Change Order or Work Directive a time extension may not be required and will be addresses 

addressed under separate cover. The estimated time to complete this work is five weeks. 

 

Sincerely, 

David J Blanchard 

 

 

Project Manager 

Florida Central Office 

 

Attach.: CCI Prposal 

  
Materials, Services and Taxes $9,393.00 

Profit & Overhead (15%) $1,408.95 
Subtotal                             $10,801.95 
Bond (1.5. %)               $162.03 
Total Change Order Request $10,963.98 

           David J Blanchard





 

 
 

SECTION 00852 

CONTRACTOR’S REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 

TO: THE CITY OF BUNNELL 
 

FROM:  TLC DIVERSIFIED, INC.   DATE:   
 

CONTRACTOR REQUEST FOR INFORMATION NO.: _______ 
 

PROJECT NAME: WATER TREATMENT PLANT ION EXCHANGE PROJECT 
 

PURCHASE ORDER NO.: ENGINEER’S PROJECT NO. 059730010 
  
 

QUESTION:    
 
  
 
  
 
  

BY:  DATE:   
 
 

REPLY:   
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

BY:  DATE:   
 
 

END OF SECTION 
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Water Treatment Plant 

City of Bunnell, Florida 

 

Commerce Controls Inc. 

41069 Vincenti Court Novi, MI 48375 

248.476.1442 | Fax 248.476.6122 

 
 

REQUEST FOR IN

Contractor Commerce Controls

Date Transmitted 2/12/15 

Date Response Requested As Soon As Possible

Subject The DEHN Surge Equipment 

Specification Section and Paragraph: 

13130-2.02.I.4,5,6,7,9 / 13130-2.01.P,Q

Drawing References: 

NA 

 

INFORMATION REQUESTED

Background: 

During the UL inspection of the control cabinets, there

identified as not UL Approved

The item which does not have

Suppression Units identified in the specifications

these units from Ryan Fitzgerald, our Regional Account Director for DEHN.  He was 

unable to produce this documentation for all but one device. The 952 201 (specifications 

have a misprint calling out 210) module has an a

listed.  

Options: 

1) 13130-2.02.I calls out each of

be DEHN. DEHN has devices they have recommended that will meet the UL 

requirement. This would involve purchasing n

equipment from the completed panel, installing the new equipment, 

modifications as necessary, 

need to do now anyway). This will cause an unforeseen additional cost for

production of this panel and effect the completion of the panels. 

2) We can replace the DEHN equipment with another brand with a proven record of UL 

listing, which would again involve all the 

3) 13130-201.P Stated that:

 P. Materials and equipment used shall be U.L. approved wherever such approved 

equipment and materials are available.

CCI can produce the panel as specified with no additional cost, if the UL certification 

requirement for these panels is lifted, because of thes

equipment and installation techniques will meet the UL standards. The panels were 

Page 1 of 2  
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ION Exchange

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 

Commerce Controls Inc. RFI No. 

 Date Received  

As Soon As Possible Date Response Transmitted  

The DEHN Surge Equipment - UL Listing  

2.01.P,Q 

REQUESTED 

During the UL inspection of the control cabinets, there were certain devices which were 

identified as not UL Approved (ULA).  

ve identification marked on them is the DEHN Surge 

identified in the specifications. I asked for the UL documentation for 

these units from Ryan Fitzgerald, our Regional Account Director for DEHN.  He was 

unable to produce this documentation for all but one device. The 952 201 (specifications 

have a misprint calling out 210) module has an approval. All other surge units are not 

each of the devices and specifically .9 says the devices will 

be DEHN. DEHN has devices they have recommended that will meet the UL 

requirement. This would involve purchasing new equipment, removing the 

equipment from the completed panel, installing the new equipment, wiring 

modifications as necessary, and going through another UL inspection (which we will 

need to do now anyway). This will cause an unforeseen additional cost for

production of this panel and effect the completion of the panels.  

We can replace the DEHN equipment with another brand with a proven record of UL 

which would again involve all the steps outlines in option one.  

201.P Stated that: 

aterials and equipment used shall be U.L. approved wherever such approved 

and materials are available. 

CCI can produce the panel as specified with no additional cost, if the UL certification 

requirement for these panels is lifted, because of these surge devices. All other 

and installation techniques will meet the UL standards. The panels were 
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were certain devices which were 

on them is the DEHN Surge 

I asked for the UL documentation for 

these units from Ryan Fitzgerald, our Regional Account Director for DEHN.  He was 

unable to produce this documentation for all but one device. The 952 201 (specifications 

pproval. All other surge units are not 

the devices and specifically .9 says the devices will 

be DEHN. DEHN has devices they have recommended that will meet the UL 

ew equipment, removing the 

wiring 

and going through another UL inspection (which we will 

need to do now anyway). This will cause an unforeseen additional cost for the 

We can replace the DEHN equipment with another brand with a proven record of UL 

aterials and equipment used shall be U.L. approved wherever such approved 

CCI can produce the panel as specified with no additional cost, if the UL certification 

devices. All other 

and installation techniques will meet the UL standards. The panels were 
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Commerce Controls Inc. 
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being tested, and therefore have already been fabricated to meet th

 

These are the options as we recognize them. We respectfully reque

how to proceed to best serve the customer, and the project. 

 

 

 

 

Thank you 

Signature Mark Boyer 
 

ENGINEER’S RESPONSE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Signature  
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being tested, and therefore have already been fabricated to meet that standard. 

These are the options as we recognize them. We respectfully request direction on 

how to proceed to best serve the customer, and the project.  

 Date 2.12.1

Date  
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City of Bunnell, Florida 

Agenda Item No. H-3. 
 

Document Date:   6/29/2015 Amount:  N/A 

Department: Finance Department Account #:  

Subject: Salvation Army Agreement 

Attachments: 
Please number items as 

they will appear on the 

agenda. 

1.  Salvation Army Community Agency Agreement 

2. Exhibit A-Agency guarantee of payment form 

Agenda Section: H. New Business 

Summary/Highlights:  A request to enter into an agreement with the Salvation Army to provide Utility 

Service payment aid to City of Bunnell qualified customers. 

 

Background:  The Salvation Army receives various Federal and State funding along with donations to provide 

aid to qualified individuals to assist with payment of utility deposits and service bills.  The Community Agency 

agreement will authorize the City to accept a commitment for payment from the Salvation Army to establish 

utility accounts and to prevent disconnection of services. 

 

 

Finance Department Review/Recommendation:  The agreement has no impact on the City’s budget. 
 

Approver Name: Approval Status: Date: 

 

Stella Gurnee, Finance Director  Approved 7/2/2015 

Sandra Bolser, CMC, City Clerk Approved for 2015 07 13 Agenda 7/2/2015 
 

Staff Recommendation:     Staff recommends approval of the Community Agency Agreement with the 

Salvation Army. 

City Attorney Review: Reviewed and Approved. 
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COMMUNITY AGENCY AGREEMENT 

 

 This Community Agency Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the “Agreement”) is 

entered into as of July 13, 2015 (the “Effective Date”), by and between the City of Bunnell 

(hereinafter referred to as the “City”) and The Salvation Army (hereinafter referred to as the 

“Agency”) 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, The City of Bunnell is a public municipal government organized under the 

laws of the state of Florida and is engaged in the business of providing Water, Sewer and Solid 

Waste utility services to residential, industrial and commercial customers in the City of Bunnell, 

Florida; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Agency is an organization authorized by various state and federal agencies 

and other charitable organizations to provide assistance to certain members of the public living in 

the community located within the service area of The City of Bunnell with the payment of their 

utility service bill; and 

 

 WHEREAS, The City and Agency believe that an efficient means of administering funds 

to assist qualifying members in paying for their utility bill is an important joint community effort 

that provides a higher standard of living for the City of Bunnell's customers; and 

 

 WHEREAS, The City and Agency believe that establishing a means by which state and 

federal grants, charitable and other funds may be utilized to cover the costs of utility service for 

qualifying members of the community is in their mutual interest and in the interest of the 

communities that they serve; and 

 

 WHEREAS, The City and Agency are desirous of entering into this Agreement whereby 

such funds may be handled and administered efficiently in carrying out their respective    

obligations, 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as 

follows: 

 

1. TERM 

 

This Agreement shall be effective on the date set forth above and shall continue in full 

force unless terminated in accordance with the provisions set forth herein. 

 

2. AGENCY DESIGNATION 

 

(a) The Agency shall provide to the City, on a form substantially similar to the form attached 

to this Agreement as Exhibit A such information designating those customers of the City that are 

eligible to receive financial assistance by or through the Agency (hereinafter referred to as the 
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"Qualified Customer") and the amount of financial assistance that the Qualified Customer is 

eligible to receive from Agency.  The Agency shall be responsible to confirm the identity of the 

customer. 

 

(b) The City is entitled to rely upon Agency's determination of qualification. If it is later 

determined by Agency or others that the Qualified Customer was not eligible for assistance, City 

shall not be required to return to the Agency any monies received from the Agency. 

 

3. APPLICATION FOR SERVICE 

 

(a) Qualified Customers that are applying for utility service with the City shall be instructed 

to do so in their own name. Falsely making application in the name of an individual that does not 

reside at the address is in violation of Florida law, §817.034, Florida Statute. The statute applies 

to both the person making the fraudulent request as well as anyone else that "cause(s) another" to 

transmit false information. 

 

(b) In the event that it is determined that the Agency or any of its representatives, provide 

counsel to customers in contravention of §817.034, Florida Statutes,  The City, may at its option, 

terminate this Agreement upon five (5) days' written notice to the Agency and may refuse to 

receive further designations from the Agency for payment on behalf of Qualified Customers.  

Nothing in this provision shall preclude the City from taking any other action that may be 

appropriate under the circumstances. 

 

4. UTILITY SERVICE PAYMENT 

 

 (a) The Agency shall pay to the City on behalf of the Qualified Customer such 

amount due for utility service as indicated on Exhibit A. The Parties acknowledge that the 

foregoing amount may not be the entire amount of the Qualified Customer's monthly service 

statement. 

 

(b) The City and the Agency agree that all payments by the Agency on behalf of 

Qualified Customers shall be remitted to the City no later than ten (10) days of the date of 

notification of the amount due for a Qualified Customer's utility service (the "Agency Pay 

Period").   The City shall not, during any such Agency Pay Period, seek to terminate the utility 

service of the Qualified Customer so long as such Qualified Customer is designated as an 

eligible recipient of assistance by or through Agency.  The City shall not seek to collect such 

monies that may be due for utility service from such Qualified Customer during the Agency Pay 

Period.  The City will assess any late fees or charges on the Qualified Customer that are 

authorized under the City’s applicable laws. 

 

(c) In the event that the Agency fails to make payment within ten (10) days of its 

receipt of notice of the amount due for utility service of the Qualified Customer, The City shall 

be entitled to take whatever action is appropriate under the terms of its approved service rules 

and regulations.   Nothing in this provision shall be deemed to be a waiver of the City’s rights 

under State and local laws or to preclude, the City from changing, modifying or otherwise 

amending its utility service rates or laws. Further, nothing herein shall be construed to mean that 
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The City forfeits or surrenders its right to any unpaid portion of the monthly statement. The 

Qualified Customer shall remain liable for any unpaid portion of the monthly statement. 

 

(d) The Agency may make all payments for Qualified Customers in one payment so 

long as Agency provides the City sufficient information concerning the allocation of the amount 

paid so that the City can properly record the receipt of such payment against the amounts due 

from each of the Qualified Customers. 

 

(e) ALL OF THE AFORESAID PAYMENTS BY THE AGENCY SHOULD BE 

MAILED DIRECTLY TO: THE CITY OF BUNNELL, P.O. BOX 756, BUNNELL, FL 32110.  

 

5. INDEMNIFICATION 

 

The Agency shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City and their respective 

officers, directors, employees, and agents, from any and all claims, liabilities, obligations, 

damages, demands, losses, causes of action, costs or expenses of whatsoever kind or nature, 

including reasonable attorney's fees (i) to the extent resulting from any errors, omissions or any 

negligent, reckless, fraudulent, willful, wanton, or intentional  acts of the Agency or any of its 

employees, agents, or anyone else directly or indirectly employed by or through them, or anyone 

for whose acts they may be responsible; (ii) for any violation or alleged violation of any 

applicable  federal  or  state  orders,  rules  or regulations  of  any government  entity or agency 

by, through or as a result of the Agency or any employee, agent, or anyone else directly or 

indirectly employed by or through  them,  or  either  of them,  or anyone  for  whose  acts  they 

may be  liable; (iii) for the determination of the eligibility of a Qualified Customer; and (iv) for 

any wrongful termination of any Qualified Customer.  The City shall have the right to participate 

in any defense provided by the Agency, including, but not limited to, the selection of legal 

counsel. 

 

6. CONFIDENTIALITY 

 

(a) The Agency shall maintain the confidentiality of all information pertaining to The 

City’s customers (hereinafter referred to as "Confidential Information") that may be disclosed to 

the Agency in order to facilitate the payment of funds on behalf of Qualifying Customers. The 

Agency shall not directly or indirectly disclose, divulge, reveal, report, or publish any 

Confidential Information without the prior written consent of the City.  The tern "Confidential 

Information" whether written, electronically encoded or orally expressed, shall include) but not 

be limited to:  business records, financial records, accounting records, operating data, costs, lists 

of customers.  It is the Agency's responsibility to confirm the identity of the customer prior to, 

the City releasing any account information pertaining to the Qualified Customer. Further, the 

Agency acknowledges and agrees that no information will be provided by the City to the Agency 

without the prior consent of the Qualified Customer. 

 

(b) Confidential Information shall not include information which (i) is or becomes 

generally available to the public in accordance with law other than as a result of a disclosure by 

the Agency; (ii) is available to the Agency on a non-confidential basis prior to its disclosure by 

the Agency;  (iii) lawfully becomes available to the Agency on a non-confidential basis and in 
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accordance with law from a third person who is not otherwise bound by a confidentiality  

agreement with the City or (iv) is independently and lawfully developed by the Agency without 

the use of Confidential information disclosed by the City. 

 

 (c) In the event the Agency shall be requested or required (by law or regulation, oral 

questions, interrogatories, request for information or documents, subpoena, civil investigative 

demand or similar process) to disclose any Confidential Information, The Agency shall provide 

the City with immediate notice to enable the City to seek an appropriate protective order and/or 

waive compliance with this confidentiality provision. 

 

(d) Without limiting other obligations of The Agency under this Agreement, Agency 

shall comply with all laws, rules, regulations, individual rights, and generally accepted standards, 

guidelines and practices for the privacy and security of personally identifiable information 

("PII") it receives from the City regarding any Qualified Customer and Agency shall also 

safeguard and protect such PII to at least the same level that the Agency affords to its most 

sensitive information.  The Agency will immediately report to the City any suspected or actual 

security incident involving any systems containing PII and any use, disclosure, compromise, or 

loss of PII not authorized under this Agreement. 

 

(e) The undertakings of the confidentiality obligations by the Agency hereunder shall 

survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

 

7. TERMINATION OF THE AGREEMENT 

 

(a) The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience upon 

giving thirty (30) days, prior written notice to the Agency. 

 

(b) The City may immediately terminate the Agreement upon Agency's failure to cure 

a breach of the Agreement after having been given notice of such breach by the City. 

 

8. DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVES 

 

The designated representative for Agency set forth below shall administer this Agreement and 

the payments hereto.   The Agency may change such designated representatives by providing to 

the City the name, business address, title, telephone number, and facsimile number of the new 

designated representative in writing prior to such change. 

 

The designated representatives are as follows: 

Agency Name: The Salvation Army East Volusia and Flagler Counties 

Agency Address:  389 Palm Coast Parkway #4 

Agency City, ZIP:  Palm Coast, FL  32137 

Agency County:  Volusia and Flagler County 

Agency Telephone Number: (386)437-0029 

Agency Fax Number:  1-888-533-4883 

 

9. GOVERNING LAW & VENUE 
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This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the Parties to this Agreement shall be 

governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida without giving 

effect to any principles of conflicts of laws where the giving of effect to any such principles 

would result in the laws of any other state or jurisdiction being applied to this Agreement. 

 

10. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

 

This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the Parties with respect to the 

subject matter hereof and supersedes any prior or contemporaneous agreement or understanding 

between the Parties. The Parties shall not be bound by or be liable for any statement, 

representation, promise, inducement or understanding of any kind or nature not set forth  or 

provided for herein, No prior course of dealing, usage of trade or course of performance shall be 

used to supplement or explain any term, condition or instruction used in this Agreement. 

 

11. SEVERABILITY 

 

In the event any provision, or any part or portion of any provision of this Agreement shall 

be deemed or defined by any law, regulation, ordinance, or order of any court of any 

governmental agency, or regulatory body having jurisdiction over either party, or held or 

declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unlawful, invalid, void or otherwise 

unenforceable, the rights and obligations of the Parties shall be reduced or abated only to the 

extent required to remove or cure such illegal or unenforceable portion, so long as the Agreement 

is not affected in a manner or to the extent which would render it economically, technically, or 

materially infeasible to either  Party. 

 

12. WAIVER 

 

The failure of the City to terminate the Agreement for the breach of any condition or 

covenant herein by Agency shall not affect the City’s right to terminate for subsequent breaches 

of the same or other conditions or covenants. The failure of either party to enforce at any time or 

for any period of time any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver 

of such provisions or of the right of the party thereafter to enforce each and every such provision. 

 

13. MODIFICATION 

 

No statements or agreements, oral or written, made prior to the date hereof, shall vary or 

modify the written terms set forth herein, and neither Party shall claim any amendment, 

modification or release from any provision hereof by reason of a course of action or mutual 

agreement unless such agreement is in writing, signed by both Parties and specifically states it is 

an amendment to this Agreement. 

 

14. HEADINGS 

 

The descriptive headings used throughout this Agreement are formulated and used for 

reference purposes only and are in no way to be construed as a limitation of the scope of the 
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particular section to which they refer.  In case of a conflict between a heading and the content of 

a section, the content shall control the meaning. 

 

15. ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 

Both Parties acknowledge that they have had the opportunity to have this Agreement 

reviewed by legal counsel of their choice and that they understand the terms and conditions 

herein including the attachments hereto.  In the event there is ambiguity in the language set forth 

herein, such ambiguity shall not be construed against the drafter of the Agreement. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the 

day and year first above written. 

 

CITY OF BUNNELL   THE SALVATION ARMY EAST VOLUSIA &  

      FLAGLER COUNTIES 

 

 

                                                                                                                                             

Signature     Signature 

 

Printed name: Catherine D. Robinson Printed name:                                                

 

Title:  Mayor                                             Title:                                                                 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

                                                                  

Signature 

 

Printed name: Sandra Bolser              

Title: City Clerk                                         

 

(SEAL) 

 

 

Approved as to form and legality for use 

and reliance by the City of Bunnell, Florida  

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Wade C. Vose, City Attorney 

 



EXHIBIT A 

 

 

AGENCY GUARANTEE OF PAYMENT FORM 

FAX TO: (386)437-7503 

Please print or Type: 

 

Agency Name:  The Salvation Army East Volusia and Flagler Counties 

 

Agency Contact:_________________________________________ 

Phone (       )______________________ 

 

This Agency is guaranteeing payment on the City of Bunnell utility account # _______________ 

 

At the following service address:___________________________________________________ 

 

         ___________________________________________________ 

 

         ___________________________________________________ 

 

In the amount of $______________for the following qualified client:______________________ 

 

Agency representative signature:______________________________ Date:________________ 
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